Appendix IV: Parental Awareness Scoring Manual

Table of Contents

Parental Awareness Scoring Manual

Α.	Proce	dures for Assigning and Computing Scores $_1$.63
В.	Globa	l Definitions and Guidelines for Parental Awareness Levels $_1$.72
С.	Overv	iew of Issues and Aspects	.77
D.	Issue	-by-Level Analysis	189
	I.	Influences on Development and Behavior	.90
	II.	Subjectivity: Thinking and Feeling 2	205
	III.	Personality	223
	IV.	Communication and Trust	245
	٧.	Resolving Conflict	260
	VI.	Discipline and Authority	274
	VII.	Meeting Needs	303
	VIII.	Learning and Evaluating Parenting	122
Ε.	Sample	e Interviews and Scoring Sheets	47

A. Procedures for Assigning and Computing Scores

A. Procedures for Assigning and Computing Scores for the Parental Awareness
Interview. Adapted from <u>The Development of Interpersonal Awareness</u>
manual (Selman and Jaquette, 1977).

Introduction and Overview

The following rules and clarifications should be used to score parents' responses to the Parental Awareness Interview. The scorer should be familiar with the accompanying interview form before scoring. An overview of the scoring instructions is given below:

- 1. Read interview to evaluate subject's overall level of thinking.
- 2. Reread interview to assign Issues to scoreable issue-concepts.
- 3. Assign level scores to scoreable issue-concepts used.
- 4. Scoring clarifications are discussed here.
- Transfer issue-concept scores to appropriate issue on scoring sheet.
- 6. Compute a pure or major/minor level score for each issue.
- 7. Issue scoring clarifications are discussed here.
- 8. Compute an Average Issue Score for all issues with pure or major/minor score.
- 9. Compute a global level score (a pure or major/minor score) from Issue score.
- 10. Compute performance function score.
- 11. Record summary data for each subject.

Examples of the scoring procedures and scoring sheets are included following the instructions. These interviews serve as examples of different levels of conceptions and as interviewing and scoring demonstrations.

Instructions

- 1. Read through the entire protocol to gain an overall impression of the subject's level of awareness. The level guidelines should be used to evaluate the subject's overall level of parental awareness. These guidelines are meant to illustrate the general organization of thinking at each level about the child as a person, the parent-child relationship, and the parental role, and to illustrate to the scorer the kinds of thinking (s)he should be looking for in the responses (issue-concepts). As the awareness of lower level concepts does not mean that higher level concepts are not available, the interviewer must probe for the highest level available in an issue-concept, and similarly, the scorer must search each issue-concept for its highest level of reasoning in order to gain an impression of each interview's best reasoning.
- 2. Assign to each scoreable response one of the following Parental Issue Roman numerals.

Domains and Issues of Parental Awareness

Issues Related to Conceptions of the Child

- I. Developmental influences
- II. Subjectivity
- III.Personality

Issues Related to Conceptions of the Parent-Child Relationship

IV. Communication and Trust

V. Resolving Conflict

Issues Related to the Parental Role

VI. Discipline and Authority VII. Meeting Needs VIII.Learning and Evaluation

To do this the scorer must distinguish between two levels of analysis, parental awareness issues and issue-concepts which are the responses scored for each of the issues.

A. Definitions

- (1) <u>Issue-</u>An issue is a crucial component or process which characterizes an important quality in parental awareness of the child as a person, of the parent-child relationship, and of the parental role. But issues, while the most important category system are too abstract for the subject, and must be translated into more manageable bits. These bits are issue-concepts.
- (2) <u>Issue-Concepts</u>—To evaluate the subject's level of thinking about these interpersonal issues, we ask him or her a series of structured-questions and follow-up probes aimed at uncovering his reasoning about concepts related to those more general issues. We call each structured question, its follow-up probes and the subject's responses an <u>issue-concept</u>. Issue concepts are the smallest bits of interpersonal awareness distinguished in the interview. They represent ideas, which when put together, give the scorer the quantitative information needed for grasping the subject's thinking about a particular issue. For example, the questions concerning "mixed feelings," and why Jimmy told the truth in the dilemmas, all elicit issue-concepts concerning the child's subjective experience. Sometimes one question will elicit two or more issue-concepts. If they are both quality concepts, they may be scored. Individual issue-concepts are scored and averaged into an issue score which is in turn averaged with other issue scores to arrive at an overall parental awareness score.

B. The Issuing Procedure

In the left hand margin of the interview bracket all the issue-concepts with potentially scoreable characteristics, and assign the Roman numeral which corresponds to the issue being discussed. The experienced interviewer who also understands the scoring system based on issue concepts will bracket few issue-concepts which will not lead to level scores, while the newcomer may bracket and assign an issue, but later find the information insufficient to meet the corresponding level description. In those cases, simply place a question mark (?) next to the issue numbers.

- 3. Read the protocol again, this time assigning a single level score, I through 4, to each of the issue-concepts which has been bracketed, placing question marks next to those which are not scoreable. Use the manual as the guide for scoring. The manual is organized by issues, and under each issue responses at Levels I through 4 are described for various aspects of each issue. These aspects characterize certain level related properties of thought about a given issue. For example, reasoning at level I about the issue of Communication and Trust is characterized by the following aspects:
 - In order to know what to believe.
 - 2. Trust meaning permissiveness and license.
 - 3. Communication to achieve desired benefits.
 - 4. One-way conception of communication and trust.

These aspects are outlined in brief descriptive statements at the beginning of each level analysis for each issue in order to direct the scorer to the appropriate aspect for analysing each issue-concept. Find the characterization which most closely fits the response by the subject, then turn to that aspect or aspects as they are characterized in the manual itself. Each aspect contains a descriptive summary of its properties and where appropriate, how it is distinguished from reasoning at other levels. One or two examples are also provided. Read the summary to see what characteristics of the examples are being scored, then compare your protocol with the examples. If they are similar or if the account of that aspect fits, mark the issue-concept with that particular level of response. For instance, in response to the question, WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?, if the parent responds as in this example, "Society and them at the same time. My mother and father can put me in my room and beat me, they can take away my allowance, but I am an individual and I have my own mind and my own fears and likes and dislikes," the response would be assigned the Issue Influences on development and behavior and scored level 3 under aspect 1: The child contributes to his or her own development and behavior. This procedure is continued until all bracketed issue-concepts are either given a question mark(?) for no score or some form of level score. Some responses will not fall under a particular aspect. If the response clearly fulfills level criteria as outlined in the level guidelines, then a level may be assigned.

4. Scoring Problems and Clarifications

- a. Assign only one level to a given issue-concept. Mixed level scores are not given since the manual does not define transitional levels. Normally, transitional cases will be reflected by a nearly equal distribution of issue-concepts between two adjacent levels.
- b. Within a given issue-concept, score the subject's highest reliable comments. Often subjects of higher levels will begin with responses characteristic of lower levels. However, the properly probed interview will normally allow the subject to complete his/her thoughts at a higher level. For example, parents frequently respond to the question, HOW DOES ONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT? with a comment such as "Because other people tell you how well-behaved they are," which is characteristic of Level 1 reasoning about evaluating parenting. If with probing, the parent adds, "... and if they're happy, and enjoy what they do," the response would be scored for the higher utterance, in this case level 2. If, with probing, the parent did not go beyond a concern with observable behavior, the score would remain Level 1.

- c. Often, while a response may be scoreable, it is of such an ambiguous quality as to present a scoring reliability question. For example, the scorer may be unsure whether further probing of a given concept may have resulted in what appeared to be a level 2 response becoming more clearly a level 1 conception or a level 3 conception. In cases of ambiguity, but where there is sufficient data to give a score, record that level which best characterizes the level of conception, followed by a question mark (?), then the suspected level in parentheses (). For example, if the subject gives what appears to be a vague level 3 response ("I try to talk with them, get to the root of their problem. That's more successful than hitting," that with further probing might have been level 2, the appropriate score should be 3?(2). The number in parentheses is not calculated at all, but those scores which receive such a questionable reliability receive only half credit in the final calculations.
- d. If within a given issue there are an equal number of reliably scored issue-concepts at two levels, the scorer should review those responses and find those scores which represent a better "quality response." A "quality response" is well probed, is well articulated by the subject, and comes closest to the description and examples set up in the manual. Place a plus mark (+) next to the level score which corresponds to that issue-concept. Where there are equal numbers of issue-concepts at two levels, the level receiving the most quality rating(s) will be given a major score while the other level will be the minor score (see Computations).
- e. Occasionally a subject will respond to questions aimed at one issue-concept with ideas related to another. In these cases the scorer should assign that issue Roman numeral which best fits the response not the question. Because parents frequently provide long and detailed responses which explore several issues, each interview should be searched for issue-concepts, and scores assigned even though an issue-concept is spontaneously brought up in the context of a different issue.
- f. Certain issues sometimes overlap. For example, a parent's discussion of a child's need for rules and structure might be concerned with discipline and authority as well as with meeting needs. In these cases assign the Roman numeral which best provides a level characterization of that response. Look to both issues in the manual to find the description which discusses the subject's response most directly and assign that issue.
- 5. At this time each scoreable issue-concept should be bracketed, given a Roman numeral referring to the issue to which it applies, and one of the following evaluations: (1) insufficient data denoted by a question mark (?) and no score, (2) a questionable score, shown by a question mark followed by the possible alternative level (e.g., 2?(1), (3) a reliable score (e.g., 2), or (4) a quality response (e.g., 2+) in case of equal number of two levels within a given issue. Transfer all level scores (evaluations 2,3 & 4) to the scoring data sheet under their appropriate issue (see example). For example, all Meeting Needs scores should be recorded in the space provided for that Issue. Continue this procedure until all scores have been recorded on the data sheet.

6. Compute a pure or major/minor level score for each issue in which there are reliable level scores. Issues for which there is no level score receive no issue score and are not considered in further calculations. Issues in which there is only one questionable score receive no issue score and are not considered in further calculations. Questionable scores receive only one-half the value of reliable scores so that two questionable scores at a given level in the same issue would receive one full credit. For the remaining issues a pure stage or a major and a minor stage are computed on the following basis:

Pure Issue Scores: When 75% or more of an issue's issue-concept scores are at a particular level. For example, an issue with 2, 2, 1 would have 75% at level 2 and would be scored as a pure level 2 issue.

Major/minor Scores: A major level is given to the level with the greatest frequency, but less than 75%. The minor level is given to the level with fewer scores than the major level, but greater than or equal to 25%. For example, an issue with 2, 2, 2, 1, 1, would be 60% level 2, 40% level 1 and would be scored a major level 2 and a minor level 1. The major/minor issue level is shown in the following manner, 2(1).

7. Issue Scoring Clarifications

- A. Questionable scores receive one-half value when there are more than one or when there are other reliable scores. For example, an issue with two issue concepts, 3?(2), 3?(2) would be scored pure level 3 (one full level 3 concept). An issue with 3?(2), 2 would be scored 2(3) (67%) level 3, 33% level 3). An issue with 2, 2, 3?(2) would be scored pure level 2 (80% level 2, 20% level 3). To make arithmetic easier for issue computation involving questionable scores, it is often helpful to simply double the value of reliable scores and count questionable scores as equal to one.
- B. Equal frequency scoring—When equal number of issue—concepts are scored at two levels within a given issue, the scorer (1) returns to the data and gives a quality rating (+) next to the issue—concept which most clearly represents the subject's best thinking, and (2) doubles the value of that particular concept in computing the issue score. The result is that the level with the quality rating becomes the major level while the other level becomes the minor level. For example, an issue with the following issue—concept scores, 3, 3, 4, 4+, would be scored as 40% level 3 and 60% level 4 (the second 4 being doubled), resulting in an issue score of 4(3).
- C. Issue scoring with spread scores—In some cases there may be one major level but two equally represented minor levels. In these cases, a quality rating is given to one of the two possible minor levels with the quality level being given double the value only over the other minor level possibility. For instance, an issue with scores of 2, 2, 1, 3+ would be scored as a 2(3), while a 2, 2, 2, 1, 3+ would be scored a pure level 2 because the 3+ only represents 20% of the total frequency.

- D. Subissues--Three of the issues, Personality, Discipline and Authority, and Parental Learning and Evaluation, have subissues. For example, Personality has two subissues: A. Characteristics, and B. Ideal. These subissues are only to make the finding of the corresponding aspect in the manual easier. They are not considered separately in computing the issue score. The scorer simply adds up all the issue-concept scores for subissues A. and B. in order to arrive at the issue score for Personality. For example, if the following scores were obtained: A. 2, 2, 1; B. 1, 1, they would be computed together as two 2's and three 1's. The resulting personality score would be 1(2), major 1 and minor 2.
- Compute an Average Issue Score for all Issues with pure or major/minor levels. Pure level scores have a value of 1, a major level has a value of 2/3rds and a minor level has a value of 1/3. These values are simply multiplied by the actual number of the level (e.g., by 3 if level 3) and divided by the total number of issues scored. To compute this without fractions multiply pure issue levels by 3, major levels by 2 and minor levels by 1, add them together, then divide this total by the number of issues times 3.

(Each Pure Level Issue x 3)+(Each Major Level Issue x 2)+(Each Minor Level (number of Issues scored) x 3

For example, with the following issue scores:

3(2) I. Developmental Influences

3 V. Resolving Conflict

2(3) II. Subjectivity

2 VI. Discipline and Authority

2 III. Personality

2(3) VII.Meeting Needs

IV. Communication and Trust <u>2</u> VIII.Learning and Evaluating Parenting

the Average Issue Score would be computed as:

$$\frac{(2x3 + 3x3 + 2x3 + 2x3) + (3x2 + 2x2 + 2x2) + (2x1 + 3x1 + 3x1)}{6 \times 3} = \frac{49}{18} = 2.7222$$

Round Average Issue Scores to the nearest nundreths of a level. For example, in this case, 2.388 would be an average Issue score of 2.39. If major/minor Issue scores do not involve level skipping, such as a 3(1), the following numerical equivalents can be used for adding up Issue scores.

$$4 = 12$$
 $2(3) = 7$ $0(1) = 1$
 $4(3) = 11$ $2 = 6$ $0 = 0$
 $3(4) = 10$ $2(1) = 5$
 $3 = 9$ $1 = 3$
 $3(2) = 8$ $1(0) = 2$

Continuing with this example, one would simply add up the numerical equivalents of the scored Issues and again divide that total by 6×3 .

$$\frac{8+7+6+9+6+7+6}{6\times3} = \frac{49}{18} = 2.7222 = 2.72$$

9. Compute the Global Level Score which is either a pure or a major/minor Stage based on the subject's Average Issue Score. Basically, a subject receives credit for having a minor global level if the major level (n) is exceeded by .25 to .49 of a level. From .50 to .75 the major level is the higher of the two in question (n + 1) with the minor level (n) being the lower. A pure level is given for scores from (n) .76 to (n + 1) .24. The following table and examples will clarify the ranges of average Issue scores used to cpmpute global scores.

Pure Global Level

Level n.75 to level (n + 1).24 = Global Level (n + 1)-Range: .75 to (1).24

Example: Level 1.75 to Level 2.24 = Global level 2.

Major/Minor Global Level

- A. Level n.50 to level n.74 = Major level (n + 1) (Minor level n)

 Range: .50 to .74

 Example: Level 2.50 to level 2.74 = level 3(2)
- B. Level n.25 to level n.49 = Major level n(Minor level (n = 1))

 Example: Level 2.25 to level 2.49 = level 2(3)
- 10. Record the following summary data: 1) The highest single issue-concept, 2) the Average Issue Score, 3) the Global Level Score, 4) the range of issue-concepts, and 5) the performance function, based on the following equation:

Performance function (pf) = Average Issue Score
Highest Issue Concept Score

The performance function is used to evaluate how well a subject performed up to his highest "social-conceptual" capacities.

In selecting which level score to use for analysis a few suggestions should be kept in mind. Global level scores may be preferable when using the measure to predict a specific type of social behavior. However, the Global score, because it involves categorization of the Average Issue Score, may result in artificial level differences. For example, Average Issue Scores of 2.75 and 2.74, when translated into a Global score, reflect a level variation (i.e., 3 versus 3(2)) while the same size difference between 2.75 and 2.76 shows no Global level difference (i.e., both level 3). Thus small Average Issue discrepancies can produce relatively significant Global level score differences. Because of this categorization problem an Average Issue score may be more appropriate for most purposes.

PARENTAL AWARENESS SCORING SHEET

SES:

Subject Mumber:

0.00			Race: No. of Children: Age of Oldest Child:
Issue		Individual Issue Concept Scores	Issue Score
I.	Influences		***************************************
II.	Subjectivity		
III.	Personality		
IV.	Communication and Trust		
٧.	Resolving Conflict		
VI.	Discipline and Authority		
VII.	Meeting Needs		***
VIII.	Parental Role		
Summar	y data		
Highes	st Reliable Score		
Averaç	ge Issue Score		
Range			
Global	Score		

B. Global definitions and Guidelines for Parental Awareness Levels

Level 1: Egoistic Conceptions

- (a) Conceptions of the Child as a Person: The child's development is understood as either a product of the child's passive reaction to environmental forces, or developmental outcome is biologically predetermined, with no coordination between the two. The child is understood to be a separate person from the parent, but feelings and intentions cannot be inferred except as projections of parental experience. The child is "known" by his actions. Acts are not differentiated from intentions, but are considered to directly express parentally attributed intentions ("He's crying so he doesn't love me."). The parent does not have a unified conception of the child's personality. The parent focuses on physical characteristics and concrete actions. How the child effects the parent is who the child is. The ideal child is and does as the parent desires.
- (b) The parent-child relationship: The relationship is conceived in terms of what each does for the other in order for each to get what he or she wants. The actions of parent and child in relation to each other define the relationship, and parent and child are understood as operating on each other in uncoordinated, one-way sequences, i.e., "What I do for Johnny" and "What Johnny does for me." Reciprocity is equal exchange--if I do this for you, you owe me that. Communication is instrumental--we communicate in order to get what we want. Conflict in the relationship is resolved in favor of parental comfort, either through the child's conforming to parental demands, or by the parent's "giving up."
- (c) The parental role: Parenting is conceived as acts, not feelings or relationships. The parental role is to provide the influences and controls to keep the child from going wrong and to promote parental satisfaction. There may not be a unified conception of the parental role beyond situation-specific responses which are dependent upon how the parent feels at the moment. The tasks of the parental role are in terms of concrete caretaking supplies, and are carried out in order to reduce the demands of the child on the parent. What works to promote desired behavior and to stop undesired behavior is what is considered best. The success of child rearing is measured by what the children do to bring satisfaction to the parent.

Level 2: Concentional Conceptions

(a) <u>Conceptions of the child as a person:</u> Biology and environment are both understood to influence each individual's development, but they are not coordinated. The child is understood to have internal mental structures which serve as filters to select or reject and to interpret experience, but the effect is one-way. The child is not understood as influencing the environment, the environment is understood to influence the child. Manifest actions are differentiated from intentions, but the conception of intent is global and tied to particular acts ("Bobby didn't mean to drop the dish, so I didn't punish him, even though I loved that dish."). The parent's understanding of the child's intentions and of how to respond to them comes from what the parent's culture or tradition says are the feelings and motives of children, and appropriate responses. These conceptions for understanding and for action are not modified to "fit" an individual child; rather, the individual child "fits" the classifications and prescriptions of the conventional psychology. The parent does have a unified awareness of the child's personality, which is

described in terms of the character type his or her behavior most closely fits. Expressed thoughts and feelings as well as physical characteristics and manifest actions are identified as part of personality. "Bad" or "good" and "normal" are differentiated. Behavior which is considered "normal" by traditional or cultural standards is acceptable, even if it discomforts the parent.

- (b) The parent-child relationship: The roles of parent and child are differentiated from the actions of each on the other. The relationship is understood as a two-way exchange of roles and the fulfilling of externally defined role responsibilities ("I do as a parent what my tradition says is right for you as a child, and you do as a child what my tradition expects of children for their parents."). The concept of sharing emerges at level 2, but sharing is concretely, not emotionally defined. Communication, for example, is verbal rather than emotional exchange. Even though thoughts and feelings are exchanged, the content defines communication, rather than the sharing experience. In order to resolve conflict in the relationship, parental comfort becomes secondary to parental responsibility, and conflict is resolved in favor of what the conventional wisdom says "ought to be."
- (c) The parental role: The parent has a unified, rather than a situation-specific, conception of the parental role, which is derived from the standards and prescriptions of "correct" parenting offered by the tradition (s)he embraces. The parent has a responsibility to know and to use correct practices in order to shape the child and to interpret correctly the child's behavior. Correct practices are distinguished from "what works." The parent realizes that what is instrumental is not always what is best. The success of child rearing is not just having a child who does what the parent wants, but who has internalized standards of the culture or tradition, and who is happy or satisfied.

A successful parent has children who are "normal," who do and think what is considered right for children their age, and who grow up to be the kind of person the parental culture values.

<u>Level 3: Subjective-Individualistic Conceptions</u>

(a) Conceptions of the child as a person: The development of the child is understood as the product of a two-way interaction between an active child and his or her environment, in contrast to the more static notions at level 2 of a receptive child filtering experience. Parents at level 3 reason that the child influences as well as is influenced by experience. Although the conception of interaction is mutual, it is tied to each agent's actions. (The behavior of A influences the behavior of B, and the resultant behavior of B influences A, etc.). The child is understood to have a "psychological" layer which underlies action and direct intentions. Each child has his or her own unique subjective experience and perspective, which can be understood adequately only through a mutual emotional relationship where feelings are shared. With introspection, subjective experience is reasoned to be accessible to the child, and when shared, to the parent. How this particular child thinks, feels and relates is differentiated from what is "normal" and universal for children. Personality is less what "type" the child fits, and more the ways in which the child is distinguished from other children, and does not fit the character types conventionally offered. How the child relates to others is

an important aspect of personality, as well as thoughts, feelings, actions and physical characteristics. The ideal child is able to understand and to share his or her underlying feelings, thoughts and intentions, and to have motives and feelings which consider others motives and feelings.

- (b) The parent-child relationship: The feelings parent and child have about each other are differentiated from their roles and from their actions. The parent-child relationship is conceptualized as an emotional exchange, and actions and roles are part, but not all, of what defines the relationship. Actions, roles and feelings are integrated into a conception of the relationship whose foundation is the mutual exchange of feelings which underlie action and the expression of roles. Shared experiences are thought to nurture rather than to define the relationship. The emotional quality of the experiences is considered more important than what the experiences are, or how much time the parent gives. Parent and child each has his or her own experiences, perspectives, and feelings, and conflict is negotiated through communication and compromise.
- (c) The parental role: Parental practices which are developed in response to a particular child's personhood and the personal relationship between parent and child are distinguished from practices promulgated by the parent's tradition or culture. The parent understands his or her role as coming to understand the motives and feelings which underlie his or her child's actions, so that parental nurturance and socialization can operate on causes (motives and feelings) rather than on symptoms (manifest action) of the child's functioning.

"Responding to this child" is distinguished from "correct practices" and from "what works." The parent realizes that conventional approaches may serve as a guide, but that they can be modified to fit the child, and that different people may have or need different practices or standards for child rearing. Success is evaluated by psychological or emotional criteria, for example by having a child who is able to identify and to act on his or her own and other's feelings, and is able to achieve emotionally satisfying relationships with others, including the parent.

Level 4: Analytic Conceptions

(a) Conceptions of the child as a person: Developmental outcome is understood as the product of mutual interaction between the child and his/her environment, but the actions of the agents in relation to each other are understood to be behavioral expressions of interaction systems, each with its own characteristics and developmental processes. The child participates in many interaction systems. The content of development is differentiated from the process of development. The child not only increases his/her repetoire of affective and behavioral possibilities, he/she develops capacities for continued developmental growth and change.

The child is understood as a psychological self-system, where deeper levels of psychological experience are differentiated from more accessible levels, and motivation and behavior are conceptualized as part of a complex system of sometimes conflicting forces and processes. Introspection cannot always reveal deeper processes, and there are parts of a person's experience over which he or she does not have control. Part of the internal experience

of the developing child is the development of the capacity for analysing the internal experiences of oneself and the interrelationship of separate self-systems. Personality is not just an aggregate of different parts of the self, i.e., conscious and unconscious feelings, relating to others, thoughts, actions, and physical characteristics, which can be identified and described at any point in the developmental continuum. It is more importantly how these aspects of personal identity and functioning are coordinated into a functional system with its own developmental process of learning, growth and change. The ideal child is in continual process with others, and with him or herself. He or she learns from experience deeper understanding of self and others, and of the interrelatedness of oneself and others.

- (b) The parent-child relationship: The interaction process is differentiated from the content of the parent-child relationship; i.e., their mutual actions, roles and feelings. Actions, roles, and feelings are integrated into a mutual and reciprocal relationship system, with its own characteristics and developmental processes. The quality of the relationship has a stable identity of its own, which transcends transitory ups and downs in how parents and children feel about each other or behave toward each other. The relationship involves not only shared experiences and shared feelings, but also shared awareness of the complex selfhood of self and other. Conflict is not always resolved, as points of view and disagreement can be maintained and respected, while how parent and child act in the relationship to deal with the conflict can be negotiated. In other words, negotiating how one behaves to settle or reduce conflict is differentiated from how one thinks or feels. Feelings can be maintained while action is modified for the best interests of the relationship.
- (c) The parental role: The parental role is not seen as being separable from the parent-child relationship, but is expressed by and through the relationship. The process of learning and growing as a parent and as a person is discriminated from parenting practices. The parent as a parent (actions, role obligations, feelings in relation to one's child, and the parent-child relationship process) is not an identity separate from that of the parent as a person. The parent's role is to be a person who, through relationships, continually grows in his or her capacity to reflect on, understand, and accept, his or her and the other's complex personhood, with its fallabilities, conflicts contradictions, and strengths. Parenting, then, is understood as a process of personal growth, which enables similar growth in the child, which enables growth in the parent. Through mutually working with and accepting the limitations and possibilities of each other, the child develops the tools to continue that process in other relationships. The parent reasons that he or she and the child are two autonomous but interdependent members of a relationship system that requires negotiation, compromise and change in order for the relationship to remain one in which both members can continue to experience satisfaction and personal growth.

C. Overview of Issues and Aspects

I. Influences on Development and Behavior*

Level 1-- Unilateral and Concrete

- 1. Either/or: the child either passively repeats or is impervious to external influences.
- 2. Influences are concrete and observable

Level 2--Uncoordinated bilateral

- 1. The child processes experience.
- 2. Influences effect values.
- 3. Influences and outcomes can be emotional

Level 3--Interactional

- 1. The child contributes to his or her own development and behavior
- 2. The interaction of the child and the environment influences development and behavior.
- 3. Individual children are variously sensitive to external influences

Level 4: Systems

- 1. Influences are part of systems in continuing process
- 2. Influences operate at different levels of the self-system

*Elements in the child, the environment, and in their interaction that effect the child's behavior and development.

II. Subjectivity: Thinking and feeling*

Level 1: Concrete

- 1. Subjective experience is undifferentiated from observed behavior
- 2. Subjective experience is a projection of parental experience or parental wishes.
- 3. Thoughts and feelings are in response to specific events

Level 2: Conventional

- 1. Intentions are separated from actions
- 2. Defined by stage, age, or type of child
- Parental omniscience
- 4. Conflicting feelings are sequential
- 5. Children's perspectives acknowledged

Level 3: Individualistic

- 1. Individual psychology
- 2. Influence of relationships
- "Mixed" feelings possible
- 4. The child's perspective is idiosyncratic

Level 4: Self-system

- 1. Subjectivity involves a complex system of awareness and emotion
- 2. Psychological self-analysis is acknowledged

^{*}The nature of the subjective experience of the child, and how it is identified.

III. Personality*

Level 1: Concrete and physicalistic

A. Characteristics

- 1. Physical characteristics and concrete actions
- 2. What effects the parent

B. Ideal

- 1. Is what the parent wants
- 2. Appreciates what is given
- 3. Does good things

Level 2: Conventional definitions

A. Characteristics

- 1. The child fits a type
- 2. Normalcy of characteristics
- 3. Covert as well as observable characteristics

B. Ideal

- 1. Is normal
- 2. Follows accepted standards or values
- 3. Tries hard and achieves what parent values

Level 3: Personal individuality

A. Characteristics

- Emotional individuality
- 2. Interpersonal functioning
- 3. Stable distinguished from surface characteristics

B. Ideal

- 1. Shapes and achieves personal standards
- 2. The child accepts him or herself as well as others
- 3. Maintains personal autonomy
- 4. Maintains good social relationships

*Qualities or characteristics which define personality, and the ideal child.

Level 4: Psychological self-system

A. Characteristics

- 1. Coordinated into a psychological self-system
- 2. Self-awareness
- 3. Not always seen or known

B. Ideal

- 1. Capacity for self analysis
- 2. Understands human vulnerability

IV. Communication and Trust*

- Level 1: One-way instrumental
 - 1. In order to know what to believe
 - 2. Trust meaning permissiveness and license
 - 3. Communication to achieve desired actions
 - 4. One-way conception of communication and trust
- Level 2: Two-way mutual
 - 1. Trust and communication as equal exchange
 - 2. Trust as fulfilling familial role obligations
 - 3. Communication mutual verbal sharing
- Level 3: Reciprocal understanding
 - 1. The reciprocity of trust
 - 2. Communication and trust as embedded in relationships
 - 3. Communication as understanding
- Level 4: Growth and discovery
 - 1. Communication as discovery of self and other
 - 2. Communicating and trusting as developmental processes
 - Trust and communication as accepting and revealing human fallibility
- * Closeness, reciprocity and sharing.

V. Resolving conflict*

- Level 1: Uncertainty and power
 - 1. Lack of mechanisms
 - 2. Single perspective
- Level 2: Fairness and obligation
 - 1. Equal distribution--fairness
 - 2. Fulfilling role responsibilities
 - 3. Deciding right and wrong
- Level 3: Communication and compromise
 - 1. Maintaining individuality through compromise
 - 2. Recognizing effects on relationships of individual feelings
 - 3. Identifying and communicating feelings
- Level 4: Analysis and integration
 - 1. Differentiating external and internal conflict
 - 2. Through understanding of self and other

^{*}Identifying and addressing conflict between parent and child and between child and child.

VI. Discipline and Authority*

Level 1: Instrumental

A. Reasons

- 1. Reducing parental discomfort
- 2. Controlling natural anarchy of child
- 3. Authority as a given

B. Methods

- 1. What works
- 2. Giving up
- 3. Discipline for the deed

Level 2: Conventional value-orientation

A. Reasons

- 1. Preparation for the outside world
- 2. Teaching standards and instilling values

B. Methods

- 1. Fitting age or type of child
- 2. Explanation and internalization
- 3. Considering intentions

Level 3: Personal value-oriented growth

A. Reasons

- 1. Developing personal awareness and values
- 2. Developing social awareness

B. Methods

- Addressing causes
- 2. The relationship as a method
- 3. Discriminating punishment and correction

^{*}The reasons and methods for the socialization of children.

Level 4: Systems-oriented development

A. Reasons

1. Responding to needs for flexible structure to allow for growth

B. Methods

- 1. Considering a hierarchy of factors
- 2. Negotiation

VII.Meeting Needs*

- Level 1: Parental needs of the child
 - 1. To ensure desirable outcome
 - 2. Meeting needs as what the parent does
 - 3. Needing control
- Level 2: Conventional needs
 - 1. Emotional needs for their own sake
 - 2. Different needs for different ages and types of children
 - 3. Needing to have needs met
- Level 3: Individual needs
 - 1. Learned through child
 - 2. Need for personal instrumentality
 - 3. Relationship needs
 - 4. Need to be understood
- Level 4: Psychological need systems
 - 1. Needs as processes
 - 2. Need for awareness and acceptance of oneself and others

*Defining and addressing needs

VIII. Learning and Evaluating Parenting*

Level 1: Egoistic

A. Learning parenting

- 1. Avoiding repeating negative childhood experiences
- 2. Taking things as they come

B. A good parent

- 1. Has good children
- 2. Acts better than other parents
- 3. Makes an effort

Level 2: Conventional

A. Learning parenting

- 1. Outside sources teach the right way
- 2. By evaluating parenting models
- 3. By observing children

B. A good parent

- 1. Raises children the right way
- 2. Does the best (s)he can.
- 3. Has happy children
- 4. Teaches right from wrong

*How parenting is learned. Evaluating parental performance.

Level 3: Subjective

- A. Learning parenting
 - 1. Through the child
 - 2. By experiencing love
- B. A good parent
 - 1. Has a good relationship with the child
 - 2. Facilitates the child's capacity to cope with problems
 - 3. Is defined differently for different people
 - 4. Understands the child
- Level 4: Analytic
- A. Learning parenting
 - 1. By experiencing the relationship
 - 2. Through self awareness and growth
- B. A good parent
 - 1. Shares a reciprocal relationship
 - 2. Maintains autonomy of identities with interdependence.

D. Issue-by-Level Analysis

- I. Influences on Development and Behavior
 - Level 1 Concrete and Unilateral
- 1. Either/or: The child either passively repeats or is impervious to external influences
 - 2. Influences are concrete and observable
- 1. <u>Either/or: Passive or impervious child</u>—The parent sees the child's behavior as <u>either</u> a direct reflection <u>recipient</u> of whatever experience he or she is exposed to <u>or</u> that the child will turn out the same regardless of the influences around him or her. The child does not <u>process</u> experience or modify it as it becomes expressed in his or her own behavior. Experience is either absorbed and copied or does not influence behavior.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

The way you conduct yourself around them. If you be drinking all the time and not able to take care of your kids and always sad, then I think your kids will come up that way.

YOU THINK THAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE? THE WAY THEY TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

Yah, children want to copy their parents, they end up copying their parents.

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I don't know, they say lower class people have more difficulties. I think a kid, no matter where he comes from, if he is going to get in trouble, he is going to get in trouble.

These responses do not consider any interaction between the child and his or her experiences. What the <u>parent</u> does is what matters. Parent Two suggests volition ("children want to...") but there is no indication that the child has internal structures which process or modify what he or she is exposed to. Influences other than parental may also be suggested and scored at Level One, for example, teachers or friends. The unifying characteristics are the absence of a conception of structures within the child which contribute to the child's development or behavior, and the unilateral conception of influence. It is either all environment or all child.

2. <u>Influences are concrete and observable</u>—What influences the child are visible acts and events rather than the values, thoughts or feelings that at higher levels are reasoned to underlie the concrete events. Parents at Level One are concerned about what the children <u>see</u> them do, and do not consider the values which may be implicitly communicated by being a person who commits that act, whether or not the child witnesses it.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

What they see in the home.

WHY DO YOU THINK THAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT?

If they hear you swear they are going to repeat it and they reflect on their parents, they are a reflection on you.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON CHILDREN AS THEY GROW AND HOW THEY TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I think what you do yourself, what they see you are.

If they see you in a store clipping something, why shouldn't they do the same thing.

SO YOU FEEL YOUR EXAMPLE IS THE MOST IMPORTANT THING, WHY IS THAT?

What they see, they figure if you can do it, why can't they.

The kinds of influences parents are concerned about at Level One are those that lead to behavior that either makes the parent look bad ("it reflects on you") or that creates trouble for the parent and child. The possibility that children might have standards or values which influence whether or not they behave in given ways is not considered, rather it is thought that they will get away with what they can, given the stimulating influence.

Level 2:

- 1. The child processes experience
- 2. Influences effect values
- 3. Influences and outcomes can be emotional
- 1. The child processes experience—The child is not thought to be an uncritical recipient of experience, nor a "fixed" being impervious to experience. Children are acknowledged to have individual differences and to be influenced by different factors. Children are thought to be capable of accepting or rejecting experiences which are presented, and as requiring experience to shape his or her development. The basis for the child's contribution is related to a general conception of children "that age" or of a particular type (a child with a mind of his own).

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I think their friends, their parents, people in general, the people they come in contact with.

WHY IS THAT?

Some kids I find, if they have a bad influence, a bad gang of children, like they go through this adolescent stage, I am big and tough and all this, and what do they do, they just look for trouble and if a parent does not show interest in a child, the child feels neglected, it feels that it wasn't wanted, it feels that it wasn't loved, so what does this child try to do, he tries to rebel against the parent, and he turns around and he gets himself into trouble and if he finds that his parents do care for him, or his parents do love him, he will be a decent child and respect his parents and he won't give them any trouble.

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I would say their home environment, how well they are treated and taken care of.

WHY IS THAT SO IMPORTANT?

I think it forms memories within their minds. They either decide whether they like a home or don't like a home. I think it probably depends too on their own attitudes, whether they want to do what they are told to do, or whether they have a mind of their own and just want to take off and do what they want to do by themselves.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY THAT CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

How the parents teach them. I used to be cold to her like my mother was to me because she was always a very cold hearted person and through experiences I had, I finally left home at $16\frac{1}{2}$, and I have been on my own since then; I am a lot different.

WHY DO YOU THINK IT WORKS THAT WAY? THAT CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS LIKE THEIR PARENTS DID.

Because we don't know any better. We figure I didn't like it, but maybe that is how all parents act, we just don't know how else to act. I suppose if I had not lived with her grandmother, I would not know how to bring her up, I would have probably brought her up the way my mother brought me up, but I didn't really know any better. I knew I didn't like the way my mother brought me up, but I didn't know any better, so I would have brought her up the same way and it would have kept going on and on.

There is a conception of factors which <u>underlie</u> behavior at Level Two. These factors are not psychological, in that they are not explanations of individual internal processes but are parental, universal requirements (experience, parental interest) or developmental inevitabilities (adolescence).

2. <u>Influences effect values</u>—Parents who give Level Two reasoning who feel that parental example is the primary influence on a child, focus less on discreet actions which are directly copied by the child, and more on example as a way of living whose <u>values</u> are transmitted to the child.

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT?

The home life and I think that has the most bearing on a child, because this is where they spend most of their time, most of their years, and what is in the home is very important. And I think that is how a child is molded. Through the way that they live at home, that is the most important.

WHAT KINDS OF THINGS IN THE HOME ARE THE MOST IMPORTANT?

Like the parents themselves, if they live decently, then the children, the children know, they know what you are, no matter what anybody on the outside thinks, or may think, your children are right there in your home living with you day by day and they know what you are, and what their home life is, and how they have been brought up and I think that is the answer.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL ARE THE MOST IMPORTANT?

How in the world can I expect him to be a saint if I am a devil? You can't plant corn and get soybeans. And if I do things I hope he won't do, I really hope he'll come to me and say, "Daddy, that's bad." And I'll look at him and say, "You are right" and I'll stop it.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

Because I want him to know what's right and wrong. So maybe he'll do better than me.

The specific parental acts are considered less significant to the child's development than that patterns of "decency" or right and wrong are communicated by the example of the parents (or other influencing agents) over time. Lapses and transgressions are permitted at Level Two because influences can be cumulative.

3. <u>Influences and outcomes can be emotional</u>——At Level Two, people are conceptualized as having feelings and intentions which underlie action. The good feelings and intentions, which are reasoned to lead to good developmental and behavioral outcomes, are thought to require emotional supplies.

WHAT DO YOU THINK SAM OUGHT TO BE ABLE TO GET FROM HIS MOTHER?

...if you show him enough love it is bound to rub off each way.

WHY IS THIS IMPORTANT?

If you show love to the older one, the older one is going to show love to the younger one. It is going to rub off. It is just a chain reaction I think. That is my belief. If I show love to her and the other ones, hopefully she will show love to the other ones, if I show love to her also, if you know.

MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON HOW CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

There is so many. One of my feelings that is the most important thing in raising a child, you can't say, you can do things good and everything just right and when he gets out there, he might just turn the other way. You know how some people say she was such a good mother and she did everything for her child, gave her child everything, why did he turn out to be the type of person that he did. Some people give too much love, some not enough love. It is hard for a person to say the most important thing. The most important thing I think is giving a child enough love, enough respect, so he will

I. Influences on Development and Behavior

learn to love somebody else and to respect somebody else. I think those are important. The love and giving him the respect. If you give a person respect and you give a person love, not too much and just enough, then maybe when that child becomes an adult, he will be so used to that love and respect that he will learn to love and respect other people.

Level 3 - Interactional

- 1. The child contributes to his or her own development and behavior
- 2. The interaction of the child and the environment influences development and behavior
- 3. <u>Individual children are variously sensitive to</u> external influences
- 1. The child contributes to his or her own development and behavior--At Level Three, the child is understood as participating actively in his or her own development, as an individual who brings his or her own unique qualities to experience.

YOU WERE TALKING ABOUT WAYS THAT CHILDREN TURN OUT IN WAYS THAT ARE NOT COMPLETELY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE KIND OF PARENTING THEY GET. WHAT DO YOU FEEL ARE THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCES ON THE WAYS THAT CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

Well, I think there certainly are genetic, biological factors that are conceivable in the way that kids turn out. I can see that in my own children, where I have completely different kids. It almost looks like they came out of two different unions, if they didn't look so much alike, but from the moment they were born, they were two different children. Appearance, the way that they behave, just from the moment they were born. So that's really an important factor. I think the job one does as parents is obviously the second/or equally important. I think you can overcome if you will a lot of genetic predispositions a child has or ruin whatever potential or genetic potential the child has. And I really believe those are the two things.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

Society and them at the same time. My mother and father, they can put me in my room, they can beat me, they can take

away my allowance, but I am an individual and I have my own mind and my own fears and likes and dislikes.

The participation of the child may be characterized as predetermined, as in the first example, or as a quality of spirit and determination in response to harsh parenting, as in the second example. The essential characteristic of Level Three reasoning about influences is that the child is understood to be a unique individual with his or her own particular qualities and characteristics which are themselves implicated in the child's developmental and behavioral outcome.

2. The interaction of the child and the environment influences development and behavior--Influences on the child are not only concrete events and emotional supplies. The process of relating to others, of communicating and of understanding effects the development of the child. Influences are bilateral. Characteristics of the child influence how the parent responds (you get to know how your kids operate).

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON HOW CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

If they are in a happy home and there is love, and people talk to each other. I think communication is very important, and understanding each other.

WHAT ARE THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCES ON HOW CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

To some degree, parenting is a molding process for the child, but I don't see myself as a mold. I think you've got to be a dynamic mold, and be willing to change your own ideas about how things operate as you get to know how your kids operate.

At Level Two, influences are tied to the behavior of an influencer. At Level Three, influences are more qualitative; understanding each other, for example, is the qualitative aspect of talking to each other. The interaction between the child as a person and the parent's responses is recognized, although not as mutually reciprocal. How the child operates influences how the parent operates, and the subsequent parental behavior influences the child. This is a sequential, rather than a reciprocal conception.

influences—Parents at Level Three reason that the individual child may be more or less sensitive to the experience of various events and relationships in his or her life. The receptivity of the child may be a function of the quality of a relationship, the particular needs a child has, or personal qualities of the child.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I don't know, I think everything would and I don't think you can tell what is the most important thing. This is something that I think about all the time, what effect is this going to have on him, what effect is that going going to have on him. Since you have grown up, you try to look back and see what did this to me and what did that to me and try to think about what is this going to do to him, and you can't tell because there are things that happened in your own life and to other people, very small things, insignificant and they had a great response on your life. At that moment you might have been really depressed or sensitive and something that for anybody else would have had a small amount of feedback affected you a I don't think there is any way you can say parents, or the home or the environment or your friends or your school, I don't think you can tell. You have to wait and see and you have to watch everything and you can't control everything, the things that are happening. You just sort of have to watch everything that is being said, and anything that is said that is bad, you try to prevent that and try

to keep it out, but I think that anything can have an effect. It is something I have thought about.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

The family is home base, and it's mostly where children draw from for their strength. And children will draw from wherever they can fill their need, and if the family is not together, they will draw from somebody else.

The child is conceptualized psychologically, as having a unique internal reality into which experience is integrated.

Level 4: Systems

- 1. Influences are part of systems in continuing process
- 2. <u>Influences operate at different levels of the self-</u>system
- 1. Influences are part of systems in continuing process—
 The child is a system of psychological parts integrated into a dynamic whole, and influences are part of a mutually interacting relationship system between the child and the environment.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

To know and accept himself. To know the center of himself, and to see it in all things.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

Well, all of life I think has a center, a flower, a house, a bird, a watch, a dancer, a pianist, a carpenter, potter. There are some special efforts that motivate it, that gives it its energy and I think it's there in all aspects of life, individual activity, group activity, technical activity, emotional activity, there is the seed.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THE CHILD'S RECOGNIZING IT IN OTHERS?

I think any child can have this, it doesn't have anything to do with intelligence, or family background, or the amount of good nutrition, this is something everybody has a basic right to and I think this is what gives him the connection to all of life. This is the common denominator.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THE CONNECTION TO ALL OF LIFE?

The source, the source of everything, each individual has a source and everything else has a source and to feel it, to appreciate it, to be in touch with it. Continually refeeds your own, the individual's own process of life.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON HOW CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

How they manage the process of relating, of learning, of living.

YOU TALK ABOUT PART OF A PROCESS, WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THAT?

I think that people are always, in every stage, in the process of becoming something else, they are never finished and they are never there. It would be very comfortable to feel that we are here and could just stay put for a little while, but we never are and we are always responding to new situations and new stresses and new happinesses and new successes and new worries and whatever we are up to a point, we bring to cope with the next and there is never a time in life when things are steady. You are either up or down. It reminds me somewhat of standing on a balance beam, you are always shifting the weight very slightly, you never are at rest and that is what I think I mean by becoming, you are always going someplace else, not frantically, but it's a kind of inner growth, the way I think a snake keeps shedding its skin time after time as it grows, it gets smaller and you get richer inside and more experienced and then you go on because of what you are, you are not static and you grow.

As a continually growing, responding and developing being, all experience is part of the process of growth (we are always responding to new situations). Growth of self-understanding is part of how one comes to understand the world, and coming to understand the world is part of coming to understand oneself. Both the nature and the outcome of influences are defined as processes, and not as entities, such as the characteristics and qualities of lower level reasoning.

2. <u>Influences operate at different levels of the self-</u> system--Because the individual is understood to be a dynamic psychological self-system, (they bring a great deal to themselves), responses at Level Four may discriminate influences which operate at one level of the self-system from influences which operate at other levels. Influences are not always known or understood, because of the limitations of consciousness of the child of his or her own processes, and because of the limited accessibility of the child to others.

THE POLICE OFFICER SAID MR. F. WAS TO BLAME FOR J. GETTING INTO TROUBLE. HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT THAT?

No, I don't think so. I think when a child reaches adolescence the circle of influence is widened to the point, while other people might not influence his philosophy of life, they can influence behavior in specific situations. How the child comes to understand himself and how he functions with others is more significant to his future than the specific acts along the way.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY THAT CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I don't know, I would tend to say family because that has been the way that I have done it. They bring a great deal to themselves and I don't think that we or they really know how much they get from the outside world, their fears or their problems or their reactions to teachers or friends, and how much living goes on, because it is the learning that they first of all, cannot express and we cannot see because we are not there.

Parents imply that the identification of specific influences is less important than how influences are integrated into the personality structure of the child.

Level 1: Concrete

- 1. Subjective experience is undifferentiated from observed behavior
- 2. Subjective experience is a projection of parental experience or parental wishes
- 3. Thoughts and feelings are in response to specific events
- behavior--If a child behaves in a certain way, he or she is thought to feel in a certain way (If the baby cries, he doesn't love me). The parent uses the concrete behavioral cue as the only piece of data from which to infer thought or feeling. The behavior is all that is understood of the child.

WHAT ARE YOUR CHILDREN'S FEELINGS ABOUT YOU AS A PARENT?
They are little, I can't say.

DO YOU THINK THEY HAVE FEELINGS ABOUT YOU AS A PARENT?

I think so, because when I leave them somewhere, you see, they just cry a lot, especially my other little one.

WHAT DOES THAT TELL YOU?

I think they love me.

SO YOU HAVE A LIMITATION, YOU TELL YOUR CHILD HOW YOU FEEL AND WHY YOU FEEL THAT WAY. WHY DO YOU THINK J. WOULD HAVE TOLD HIS MOTHER? WOULDN'T IT HAVE BEEN EASIER TO CONTINUE TO LIE?

Because he is truthful with his mother, he decided to be truthful. First he lied to his mother and then he figured I might as well go and say yes, ma, I did it.

WHY DO YOU THINK HE DECIDED TO BE TRUTHFUL?

I don't know.

WHY WOULD A KID DECIDE HE WAS GOING TO TELL HIS MOTHER?

Because he wanted to, that is his own feelings, I can't say that, to each his own.

Parents at Level One reason in a circular fashion (He is truthful because he is truthful). Frequently, there is no conception of inner feelings underlying concrete acts, and what subjective experience is inferred is descriptive, rather than explanatory.

2. <u>Subjective experience is a projection of parental</u>

<u>experience or parental wishes</u>——At Level One, parents do not take

the perspective of the child, but either recall their own experience
and reason that this must be the child's experience, too, or attribute to the child thoughts or feelings that satisfy parental needs.

HOW DO YOU THINK JIMMY WOULD FEEL IF HE DID FIND OUT HIS FATHER READ HIS DIARY? DO YOU THINK IT MIGHT CHANGE HIS RELATIONSHIP TO HIS FATHER?

I don't know. If he thinks his father didn't believe him that he had to read his diary. I don't know, if my father read mine and I was 15 and I had one, I would be angry at him for the minute, but I would forgive him.

WHY WOULD YOU FORGIVE HIM?

I don't know. He was just easing his own mind I guess. I would forgive him. I would probably be angry at him for the moment, but after I forgot about it, I would forgive him.

WHY WOULD YOU FORGIVE HIM.

He would be looking out for me.

IF YOU WERE TO THINK ABOUT WHY IT IS IMPORTANT FOR CHILDREN TO FEEL LOVED AND WANTED, WHAT WOULD YOU SAY?

It is good that kids know you love them, it is important to them, because when they grow up they would say gee, I had a wonderful mother, she really loved me a lot and I can talk about my mother, she was the most wonderful mother to me.

The parents giving these responses do not separate their own from the child's subjective reality. A different perspective about the parent's reading the diary is not considered because the parent does not have a differentiated conception of personality or of experience. The second parent does not indicate that there are reasons why children need love beyond the parent's egocentric conception of his or her own importance to the child.

3. Thoughts and feelings are in response to specific events--Parents at Level 1 understand children's thoughts and feelings to concrete consequences of specific acts. Broader issues of privacy, trust, or personal values are not considered at this level.

HOW WOULD J. FEEL IF HE FOUND OUT THAT HIS FATHER READ HIS DIARY?

If he had nothing to hide, then I don't think he should be too upset about it and if he didn't want his father to find it, I don't think he would leave it in such a place. But then again if he had something to hide, then he would be upset, he could call him quite a few names under his breath, nosey and what not.

WHY DID HE TELL HIM HE DID IT? WOULDN'T IT HAVE BEEN EASIER TO LIE?

He had a guilty conscience. (EXPLAIN?) Probably he knew he was going to get caught one way or the other.

Both respondents can consider only the most concrete aspects of a child's situation, and therefore attribute to the child thoughts and feelings which are in response to those concrete events.

These responses conceptualize children as being instrumentally motivated. One is only upset, if one has something to hide, i.e., the parents's thinking is organized around the content of the diary

Level 1

II. Subjectivity: Thinking and Feeling

in Dilemma One, not around issues of privacy and trust, and the "guilty conscience" is fear of being caught, not remorse for having done something wrong.

Level 2 - Conventional

- 1. Intentions are separated from actions
- 2. Defined by stage, age or type of child
- 3. Parental omniscience
- 4. Conflicting feelings are sequential
- 5. Children's perspectives acknowledged
- 1. Intentions are separated from actions—Parents understand that different intentions may underlie similar actions, and that different actions may result from similar intentions. The child is aware of his or her intentions, and the actions directly express the child's intent (to get attention, to hurt, etc.).

HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN SAM KISSING THE BABY ONE MINUTE AND HITTING HIM THE NEXT?

He is only 3½ years old. Maybe if he was older. I don't think I could explain why he would be doing something like that. I definitely think I would expect it, because I have seen other children like that do that.

WHY DO YOU THINK THEY DO IT?

It goes into intent--is he doing it with the intent to hurt the baby or is he doing it playing around?

WHAT DO YOU THINK?

I would hope he was just doing it playing around. I don't see how he could get the intent-maybe he could get the intent to hurt him if he is jealous --he was used to being the only one for 3½ years. If there was jealousy there, if he was a little bit jealous, I could see it--the kid finds someone else is coming in and trying to hurt him that way so he is jealous.

DO YOU THINK KNOWING WHY PEOPLE DO THINGS MAKES A DIFFERENCE?

I think it does. Everybody does things for a reason, regardless of whether it is the class clown or someone who is stealing. There has to be a reason why anyone does anything.

Intentions are stereotyped. They are global descriptors of motivating feelings which limit the concept of underlying thoughts and feelings to an explanatory adjective.

2. Defined by stage, age or type of child--At Level Two, parents draw from the conventional understanding of thoughts and feelings of children of a given category to infer subjective experience for their child, whom they place in that category. The category can be global, such as "kids," or more specific, such as "shy teenagers."

THE POLICE OFFICER SAID MR. F. IS TO BLAME FOR J. GETTING INTO TROUBLE. HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT THAT?

No, it is not the parent's fault. It is not the child's fault. He wanted to probably be in with the crowd and stuff. And being popular and accepted is very important, especially if you are like teenagers. Adults it is not so--you don't have to prove you are in with the crowd when you are an adult. When you are a teenager you have to prove you are in and so it is very important to a teenager. He is a teenager kid. At that age--I know--I went through it--and at that stage, yeah, being accepted is very important.

IF SUSAN IS UNHAPPY, DO YOU FEEL IT IS MORE IMPORTANT THAT THE MOTHER BE HOME WITH HER THAN THAT THE MOTHER BE HAPPY?

Yes, I would say so.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT WAY?

Because the child being young, you wouldn't want to cause any mental block against the parent. Children can build up all sorts of things in their minds and maybe not want to speak to the parent very much and build up hostility. Say my mother doesn't really care about me and things like that, so if it is not really necessary and it would make the child happier to come home to you, that's good.

Children are understood to have subjective experience which may be different from past or present parental experience or parental needs. The child's experience, however, is not understood as being unique to him or her, but as conforming to a preconceived notion of what children think or feel.

3. <u>Parental omniscience</u>—The parent reasons that how the child thinks and feels is something the parent can predict if he or she knows the child well enough.

HOW CAN A PARENT KNOW IF A CHILD IS LYING?

Me, myself I can't tell you right now because my son is only 2 years old. But I just think bringing up my son and like I say, the parents play the biggest part in the son or daughter's upbringing—that you are just with them so much, you get to know his every moves and get to know more or less when he is lying and when he is telling the truth—that I just think—I think I would be almost positive I would be able to tell if he was telling the truth. I could be mistaken, but I still think I could tell.

IS IT BECAUSE YOU WOULD KNOW THE CHILD SO WELL BECAUSE YOU LIVED WITH HIM SO MANY YEARS?

Yes.

OR BECAUSE OF SOME QUALITY IN YOU, THAT WOULD MAKE HIM TELL THE TRUTH?

No, I just lived with that child so many years and

brought him up. Fifteen years is a lot of time, that I just think I would know my child very well and be able to tell if he was lying or not.

IF YOU WERE MR. FOX, WHAT WOULD YOU DO?

I think man or woman, you always know their child. I mean you know about what your child would do. No matter what someone tells you about them, you can tell--you know that much about the child--he would do this or no he wouldn't. In the first place, if he don't know that much about the child then the child could be into anything, doing anything, and you have to take another person's word for it. But I don't know what the person would do in this case because I think I would know that much about both my children. I don't think I know everything, but I think that I could say my child did this--I think I could say no, he wouldn't do that, he wouldn't dream about that. I think so. This is the way that I feel about both of mine.

Knowledge of the child is considered cumulative, the more time the parent spends the better he or she knows the child. If you have enough pieces, you can construct a whole.

4. Conflicting feelings are sequential—At Level Two, parents understand that feelings and intentions underlie behavior, but they cannot conceive of simultaneously conflicting feelings.

If a child shows erratic behavior, the behavior is thought to be a reflection of alternating feelings or intentions, or loss of behavioral control in spite of good intentions.

HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN S'S KISSING THE BABY ONE MINUTE AND HITTING THE NEXT?

I can't explain that. Maybe he really does love the baby, but then it comes to him that he is the cause of his mother not paying any attention to him, whatever, so he just goes to hit him or something.

COULD SAM BE TELLING THE TRUTH, THAT HE LOVES HIS BROTHER?

Sure, he could love that baby to pieces because it is

just something that he has not learned how to control—that love—how do you tunnel it to another person? An older person is easier because that person should have some control over the situation, but a baby has no control over the situation, basically, at 2 months old, so he is the bigger person and he has to learn how to love a smaller thing—a smaller person and understand that smaller person.

BUT THE HITTING IS NOT VERY LOVING.

Love taps can hurt. Sometimes they forget and you think for a minute you are really tickling the baby or something like that, and loving him to pieces, and actually it is not really tickling, it is hurting the baby. They don't realize the strength that they themselves have.

When conflict is conceived, the origins of conflict are understood as being external to the child; in these examples, the baby or the less attentive mother.

5. Children's perspectives acknowledged—Parents at Level two are able to conceptualize the child's thoughts and feelings and perceptions from the child's perspective, but the content of the child's perspective is not drawn from what a particular child is experiencing, but from the parent's preconceived global conception of children's perspectives.

HOW WOULD JIMMY FEEL IF HE FOUND OUT HIS FATHER READ HIS DIARY?

In Jimmy's case, some trust is gone. I put myself in Jimmy's shoes and I feel some trust is gone. You didn't trust me, you didn't know what was going on day by day, he should have asked me--putting myself in Jimmy's shoes.

SUPPOSE THAT J. DIDN'T THINK HIS FATHER COULD HAVE ANY WAY OF FINDING OUT IF HE DID IT OR NOT, WHY WOULD HE HAVE TOLD HIS MOTHER HE DID IT? WOULDN'T IT HAVE BEEN EASIER TO CONTINUE TO LIE?

No, because I think as a child it would probably start to get scary. Eventually it is going to come out. Maybe not by his father finding out from him, but by the police. A young child will tend to turn scared, and then the best thing for him to do was to speak to his mother. His father would tend to be a little easier, a fatherly love. He felt secure with his father—that is the point—he felt secure with his father, telling him.

SO IT IS NOT JUST THAT HE IS AFRAID THAT IT WILL COME OUT?

But the feeling of security with his father, knowing he was getting scared and knowing that it will be found out, the best thing for him, like when a child is hurt, first thing, they run to poppa, that is my protection, and this is what was Jimmy's protection.

Although parents at Level Two are able to recognize some aspects of the child's experience which are different from their own, their conception of the child's perspective does not consider the child's awareness of the other's awareness of the child.

Level 3: Individualistic

- 1. Individual psychology
- 2. Influence of relationships
- "Mixed" feelings possible
- 4. The child's perspective is idiosyncratic
- 1. <u>Individual psychology</u>—At Level Three, parents reason that individual emotional experience underlies the expressed intentions (maliciousness, guilt, jealousy) which at Level Two "explain" action. At this level, parents are not satisfied with the descriptive emotional level, but seek a reason for the proximal emotion in the experience and qualities of the child.

SUPPOSE MR: F. READ THE DIARY, FORGET THAT. HE DIDN'T READ IT, BUT SAT HIM DOWN AND SAID DID YOU REALLY DO IT, AND J. SAID YES. HOW WOULD HE FEEL?

That is where I am putting myself--in Mr . F.'s place. I think I would feel relieved that at last it came out into the open and it is not I did or didn't type of thing--it is open so I think I would probably feel relieved. After that, I would want to know why--was it because of the crowd or did you really know it is was something you shouldn't do, or did you just want to go along with the boys because they were doing it and it was the first time you did it.

WHY WOULD YOU WANT TO KNOW THESE ANSWERS?

Because kids are going to pull pranks and stuff. If he did it because the other kids were doing it then I would know what he really wanted to do. If he only did it because the other kids were doing it maybe they bullied him or so on, and if he did it and said he knew it was wrong, but he did it anyhow, I would have to delve into that a little bit more and if he knew it was wrong, why did you do it, did you really want the stuff you were stealing or I would want to know the reason why.

COULD YOUR SON SEE THE KIDS HE HANGS OUT WITH DIFFERENTLY THAN THE WAY YOU WOULD?

He doesn't see them as wild and I do. Sure. He would probably know them better or he would like to fit with that group. A lot of kids like to sit with the tough kids. The ones who are not sportsminded and who don't have parents who spend a lot of time with them find a lot of security in gangs and this becomes sort of a family and they are with a tough, obnoxious type of gang that nobody likes. We have one in our neighborhood and I imagine they have a lot of feeling in that. Could he see them differently? I am sure he could.

Parents a Level Three use conditional concepts to understand subjective experience. Rather than "Kids that age like to be with tough kids so they'll feel tough," a Level Three response would be "Kids who are not sportsminded and who don't have caring parents find security..." The qualifying conditions and the awareness of the emotional meaning of the experience for the child indicate an awareness of an individual psychological process underlying behavior. One understands subjective experience, not by "fitting" the child to an externally given category or formation, but by modifying one's formulation to fit the child.

2. <u>Influences of relationships</u>—How a child feels and acts is reasoned to derive from qualities of important relationships, such as trust, affection and understanding. By understanding the quality of the parent-child relationship, a parent at Level Three infers the thoughts and feelings of a child living within that relationship.

MR. F. DID NOT READ DIARY...SAT J. DOWN AND ASKED HIM... J. SAID YES...WHY WOULD J. TELL HIS FATHER? WOULDN'T IT BE EASIER TO CONTINUE TO LIE?

No, it wouldn't be easier to continue to lie. It depends on J. Some people can live with a lie and some can't. But I think he feels guilty about it, because evidently he has a great deal of respect for his father and perhaps they have a close relationship and he wanted to continue this relationship by telling the truth.

WHY WOULD J. HAVE TOLD HIS FATHER HE DID IT? WOULDN'T IT HAVE BEEN EASIER TO CONTINUE TO LIE?

There again, that goes back to the relationship. If they had a reasonably good relationship he eventually would come out with the lie and he would trust in his parents that they would understand and realize that he knew how wrong it was to do it. These are all assumptions.

The parent realizes that the child's perception of the other's response to and understanding of him or her contributes importantly to the child's assessment of a situation and to the child's behavioral outcome.

3. "Mixed" feelings possible -- At Level three, simultaneously conflicting feelings can be part of a person's experience.

IS WHAT SAM IS DOING SOMETHING A GOOD CHILD WOULD DO?

They have to learn, but one minute they love them and the next minute they hate them. I have seen a lot of kids do that. They are just jealous, whether or not it is I don't know.

WHEN SAM'S MOTHER TALKED TO HIM...HE SAID "I LOVE MY BABY BROTHER," COULD S. BE TELLING THE TRUTH, HE LOVES HIS BROTHER AND YET WANTS TO HURT HIM?

Yes. (EXPLAIN?) He does love him, but then maybe he doesn't, you know. He could have mixed feelings about him.

COULD HE LOVE THE BABY AND STILL WANT TO HURT HIM?

I don't know.

COULD HE LOVE HIM AND HATE HIM AT THE SAME TIME?

You could. You could love someone and like him and hate him, too. Don't you love someone or like someone but not love them? I think you can dislike someone and still love them or like them, I think you can. I know you can hate them and love them. I think you can.

HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN SAM'S KISSING THE BABY ONE MINUTE AND HITTING HIM THE NEXT?

Well, he feels very loving towards him, I am sure-all babies are so lovable. And on the other hand, he is taking attention and time away from his mother--time that the boy used to get--and he is not fully trusting of his mother's feelings for the baby yet. He is insecure about how much it is going to take away from him or the quality that it is going to take away from him and he needs time to experience that.

WHEN S'S MOTHER TRIED TO TALK TO SAM ABOUT WHY HE WANTS TO HURT THE BABY, HE SAID "I DON'T WANT TO HURT THE BABY, I LOVE MY BABY BROTHER." COULD HE BE TELLING THE TRUTH, THAT HE LOVES HIS BABY BROTHER?

Yes, it is just that he is so angry because the brother is so new and requires the boy to react to so many new things.

One can both like and dislike a person at the same time, and one can have a period of emotional disequilibrium in which one's feelings have not stabilized.

4. The child's perspective is idiosyncratic -- Parents at Level 3 a able to try and understand a child's experience from that child's perspective, and recognize that the child's understanding of other's understanding of him or her is important for understanding the child.

WHY DO YOU THINK JIMMY TOLD HIS FATHER THAT HE DID IT? WOULDN'T IT HAVE BEEN EASIER TO CONTINUE TO LIE?

I don't know. I give Jimmy a lot of respect for telling his father that he did do it. He must obviously love his parents enough to think they would realize why he did it. I respect him a lot for telling them. Putting myself in that situation, I probably wouldn't have. Thinking back then, thinking of the punishment that I would have got. But I hope that my son would have the courage to tell me.

WHY DO YOU FEEL PRIVACY IS IMPORTANT TO A CHILD?

Because for their reasons they don't want to tell you something and that is why you have to try to constantly stay in touch. Usually if a child does withdraw or close in they are going to change and they probably do it because they are unhappy and they don't feel good and you have to try to find out. And if you try to find out and he says no, I am fine, take the kid to a doctor, a psychiatrist, I am not going to talk to you, but I am going to talk to somebody.

In order to be able to understand the perspective of the child, the parent must be in communication with the child, and the child must share with the parents how he or she thinks and feels.

Level 4: Self-system

- 1. Subjectivity involves a complex system of awareness and emotion
- 2. Psychological self-analysis is acknowledged
- emotion--Parents at Level Four understand the child as being a psychological system with different levels and aspects of functioning in continual process. The child does not always have access to all levels of functioning, and subjective experience may be best understood in terms of how the system is operating to maintain stability and to fulfill needs.

/COULD SAM BE TELLING THE TRUTH?

Yes. You can love and you can want to hurt and you can not be aware that you want to hurt because it is so frightening a thought—that you had that kind of anger. It means that Sam has not accepted it yet—that his mother will help him understand that it is a legitimate feeling, it is not a legitimate action, where his kissing is a legitimate action, but that the mother's—the parent's role—I'll care.

Sometimes she will get into this frame of mind and into this rhythm in terms of an opinion, and if it happens in the car, and I have just brought her from an event in her life, I tend to ignore the whole thing because I think it is more related to something she has just experienced personally, than the issue being discussed, because at other times the same issue being discussed, and she doesn't have a strong, stubborn approach.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN SOMETHING SHE HAS JUST EXPERIENCED PERSONALLY?

In other words, it has to do with her need to take--to assert herself more than the issue and so it comes from a personal `life.

Child's expressed feelings may be related to or in conflict with experiences or deeper feelings of which the child is unaware (it is more related to something she has just experienced personally, than the issue being discussed).

2. <u>Psychological self-analysis is acknowledged</u>—At Level Four the parent recognizes that one dimension of subjective experience is how one knows and understands oneself. The development of psychological self-analysis is part of the process of personal growth. Self-analysis differs from a Level 3 conception of self-reflection in its focus on the <u>process</u> of coming to know and understand oneself, and the understanding of the process as penetrating more surface feelings in order to arrive at an understanding of deeper ones. At level 3, in contrast, the focus is on the <u>content</u> of reflection, without an indication of levels of self-awareness.

WHEN SAM'S MOTHER TRIED TO TALK TO SAM ABOUT WHY HE WANTED TO HURT THE BABY, SAM SAID, "I DON'T WANT TO HURT HIM, I LOVE MY BABY." WOULD SAM BE TELLING THE TRUTH?

Sure, he loves the baby and he perhaps isn't aware again. He would be telling the truth. How can a child at this age know, be in a position to analyze his own feelings? He would be telling the truth, but he wouldn't know the other part.

HOW COULD YOU EXPLAIN THAT, THE FEELINGS HE DIDN'T EVEN KNOW?

We were talking about this in kindergarten--feelings of jealousy and possessiveness--and even at age 5 children were not able to pinpoint their own feelings. In the sense of "that was a jealous feeling or that was a possessive feeling or a resentful feeling," and at 3½ they are just not capable of knowing their own feelings.

SUPPOSE JIMMY TELLS HIS FATHER HE DID IT. WHY DID HE TELL HIM? WOULDN'T IT HAVE BEEN EASIER TO CONTINUE TO LIE?

Sure it would have been easier in the short run to lie, but Jimmy then probably would have then had to deal with an uncomfortable conscience, and he is uncomfortable anyway. I think lying is an easy way out, but it is not a safe way. It just makes the bookkeeping so much harder in spite of you because you can't remember what it is you

have done and what it is that you haven't and whom you told what to, so that it makes you freer to tell the truth because then you know where you stand with yourself and I think it is just something for J's relationship with his father that on a one to one basis, even though J. is uncomfortable, he could trust his father enough to know that he may have to pay the price of having stolen, but he can still count on his father, to listen.

An aspect of self-awareness is self-honesty. People can be dishonest with themselves as well as with other people.

Level 1: Concrete and Physicalistic

A. Characteristics

- 1. Physical characteristics and concrete actions
- What effects the parent

B. Ideal

- 1. Is what the parent wants
- Appreciates what is given.
- 3. Does good things

A. Characteristics

1. <u>Physical characteristics and concrete actions</u> -- Level 1 responses do not consider emotional characteristics, but describe the child's physical appearance or concrete actions.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

Tony, I don't know why he likes to fight all the time. He keeps getting into problems at school And William, he just wants to play all the time.

IS THERE ANYTHING SPECIAL ABOUT THEM?

No.

WHAT DO YOU ENJOY MOST ABOUT YOUR CHILDREN?

I don't know.

CAN YOU THINK OF ANYTHING?

Sometimes they are company, but I don't know what I enjoy most about them.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

They are always fighting. You can see what they are like, first of all, they are noisy. I don't think that I could stand to have them around me too much all the time. And they are not very orderly, they have the worst room, I can't get them to clean it up.

THEY HAVE ONE ROOM BETWEEN THEM?

My daughters sleep together, they have two beds and they are well, they are not sickly children, they are generally pretty healthy. Sandra has brown hair. She's pretty stocky. Jane is thinner.

The parent does not attempt to pull together the various characteristics into a "personality." Each action or characteristic is simply added on in a string of discrete descriptions.

2. What effects the parent -- Children are described in terms of characteristics which effect parental needs, comfort or desires.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

You mean if they are boy or girl, what do you mean?

WHAT KIND OF PEOPLE THEY ARE?

I think that they are a little difficult. Once they grow from a baby until about 15, they are one problem, but after they reach 16, growing up, they are different, they start wanting to do things that you don't want them to do and then you start getting into a problem with them. But going through the early years, from baby to 15 years, I had no problem with him.

WHAT ARE YOUR CHILDREN LIKE?

They cry a lot, mostly Pam. I have a lot of problems with them. She always wants to be outside and I have to do my housework and I can't be chasing them outside, I have my mother in the store, so that makes it a little easier for me and I still send them over to my mother's house. So I can do my housework while I have the other two at my house.

In neither example is the child described as a personality. Rather, the parents seem to see the children through the lenses of their own needs, and not to notice aspects of the children which do not directly effect them.

B. Ideal

Is what the parent wants -- Parents at Level 1 hope for a child who
fulfills their own expectations. Characteristics or preferences of the child
are not considered.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I think to grow up into the image of what you wanted to be, or what you wanted them to be, what you wanted to be yourself.

WHAT IS THAT? THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

To see them grow up and finish school and maybe go on to college. Have a good job. Be smart. Do something.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

When I was single I said when I would have some kids it would make me happy one way, seeing kids running around the house. But now they are all over my house, no, it is hard. I had my first one when I was 19 and I had them all right away.

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OR OUTCOME OF BEING A PARENT, WHAT DO YOU WANT FOR YOUR CHILDREN?

I want them to learn and come up with something big and be that people know them when they grow up.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

When the kids grow up I would like other people to respect them, for what they are. I try to raise my first one so he learns, but this one is pretty smart, and she says everything the TV says. I put on shows and she learns right away and I wanted her to be a dancer, but I don't think that it will work with her feet. She's wearing braces.

The gratification of the parent is the primary consideration, what the child can do ("I wanted her to be a dancer, but . . . she's wearing braces") is secondary.

2. Appreciates what is given -- Because parents at Level 1 frequently look to their children for personal gratification, they want a return for any effort they make for the child. Appreciation for what they do is one way of being rewarded for parental effort.

WHAT DO YOU ENJOY MOST ABOUT YOUR CHILDREN?

I enjoyed them when they were small.

WHY WAS THAT THE BEST?

Because then you can do things for them, they cling to you more, they appreciate what you do more for them and they are more loving and everything. Now that they are grown, they are looking for their own way of life. So I think when they are smaller, they are the best.

WHY DO THEY APPRECIATE YOU WHEN THEY ARE SMALL?

In certain ways they show you because small kids hug you and Jackie was very affectionate and she would hold you and kiss you and if you went out and came back, she says I am glad you came back, things like that.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

Have them grow up to be decent human beings.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

Not grow up to be - I don't know how to word it. Just to grow up to appreciate things and learn that they have to earn what they get. Not just have it handed to them on a silver platter

At Level 1, an ideal child is required to give in return for what he or she takes.

3. <u>Does Good Things</u>—The child is evaluated because of what he or she <u>does</u>. The parent at Level 1 does not conceptualize motives or underlying standards or values, as at Level 2, but judges what he or she can observe, the child's actions.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

To grow up to be good, not a punk, to go to school and just be good.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN GOOD?

For him to grow up and go to school and be involved in schoolwork. Go to school, meet a nice girl, have his own family.

TELL ME ABOUT YOUR CHILDREN?

They are good children, I can't say that they are not, though sometimes they are fresh. But other than that, they are pretty good kids, I have no right to complain.

WHAT DO YOU THINK MAKES FOR A GOOD CHILD?

When they listen and when they behave themselves. When they do as they are told.

A good child obeys, does what he or she is told. Parents at Level 1 frequently do not see the child as having any internal mechanisms for making autonomous choices.

Level 2: Conventional Definitions

A. Characteristics

- The child fits a type
- 2. Normalcy of characteristics
- 3. Covert as well as observable characteristics

B. Ideal

- 1. Is normal
- 2. Follows accepted standards or values
- 3. Tries hard and achieves what parent values

A. Characteristics

1. The child fits a type -- At Level 2, parents tend to place their children into general personality categories, and to describe characteristics which "fit" and which justify the category placement.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

Paul is very studious, he is in college. Mary will do work if it pleases her, but other than that, it is a tug of war to try to get her to do something. Robert, I consider him to be kind of lazy. He used to have a paper route, and it was a real tug of war to get him to go. Bobby, go make your collections, or go collect your money, but he just didn't seem to care. Now Christopher who has a paper route now, is a little bit different. He is a little bit more ambitious. You might say he is greedy for money. We don't have half the problems with him trying to go out and collect, though at times, if he has been to one house two or three times, and he says they are never home. If you are missing anything around the house, David, do you know where this is, and he will come up with it.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

Well, my daughter is a little taller than myself and she really likes the baby. She's a pretty good natured girl. My son, 16, takes all kinds of athletics. He's very good in gymnastics etc., so he teaches the baby and they get along really well.

(continue next page)

AND WHAT ABOUT THE BABY?

He's a good baby other than when he's not feeling well - when he'll scream. But he is a good baby, not a cry baby. He'll play, he is learning to say mommy and to wave bye, different little things. He'll try to say he wants something. All in all he is a good baby. He is on the braces now at night, to straighten out his legs and he's good about it. I put them on when he goes to sleep and it doesn't bother him until the next morning. I think that's pretty good. He is about 30 pounds and he loves clothes, if you bring something home in a bag, he will rip it open to see what it is. All in all he is a good baby.

Parents at Level 2 tend to focus on one or another aspect of the child's functioning, which may be a particularly strong characteristic, and to describe the child in terms of that characteristic ("athletic," "studious"). At Level 3, the parent attempts to include many characteristics and to integrate them into a more general description of the child.

2. <u>Normalcy of characteristics</u> -- An important characteristic at Level 2 is the extent to which the child conforms to society's expectations for children.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

It is kind of hard to describe them. They are boys and they do normal things that other kids do. They don't usually get in much trouble. They enjoy eating, both of them, a lot. My oldest boy likes playing ball and that one likes eating and sleeping a lot. They have a normal life.

CAN YOU TELL ME WHAT YOUR CHILDREN ARE LIKE?

They are normal children, full of it. She is pretty good in school, normal, and he is picking up little by little now. He is in nursery school. He wasn't picking up at first because she would do all his talking for him and do everything for him, but now that he is in school on his own, he is picking up.

The parent focuses on how the child is <u>like</u> other children, rather than how the child differs as an individual from other children as in Level 3.

3. <u>Covert as well as observable characteristics</u> -- At Level 2, responses may include descriptions of emotional qualities in addition to the more concrete actions and characteristics identified at Level 1.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR SON FOR ME?

Tall, bright-eyed, very inquisitive, talks a lot, mischievous, a little and always will be I think, thin, very very active and very lovable.

WHAT DO YOU ENJOY MOST ABOUT HIM?

His inquisitiveness.

WHY DO YOU ENJOY THAT, WHAT DO YOU ENJOY ABOUT IT?

His interest in everything around him and he is interested and I am interested and so is everyone around him, so that would be the main thing that strikes people.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

I can describe my son, Edward. He is very active, he is a very smart boy and at times he is emotinal. High strung, I should say. He likes studying at times. He is good at home, he is well mannered, from my observation. How he is outside, I don't know, I know he is active, and I have no complaints yet. He loves animals and he intends to become a veteranarian one day, and I guess he is an ordinary average boy.

The parent is able to observe and appreciate qualities and characteristics of the child which are not of direct concern to the parent, unlike Level 1 descriptions which describe aspects of the child which affect the parent. At Level 2 the child's independent identity is acknowledged and appreciated.

B. Ideal

1. <u>Is normal</u>—Parents at Level 2 are able to accept behavior which is disagreeable or uncomfortable for the parent if it conforms to what the parent believes is normal behavior for children.

WHAT SHOULD PARENTS BE ABLE TO EXPECT FROM THEIR CHILDREN?

That is hard to answer. It depends on whether the parent brings the child up. What I expect of my children is to grow up and be a healthy child and just normal, be a normal child.

DO YOU FEEL WHAT SAM IS DOING IS SOMETHING THAT A GOOD CHILD WOULD DO?

It is what a normal child would do.

WHY IS IT NORMAL?

Because most all kids go through this stage, especially if they are the baby for a while and then a new baby comes up, they don't have no mother or father no more, they just have the new baby.

A "good" child is not simply defined by what he or she does, as in Level 1, but also by what can be expected.

2. Follows accepted standards or values—At Level 2 parents reason that a good child develops personal standards which guide action. Different parents may identify quite different standards or values, but their common characteristic at Level 2 is that they are standards given by the culture or tradition which the parent accepts.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING YOUR CHILDREN?

Bring them up to be decent, law-abiding citizens, and not so much that they have to be geniuses, you can't expect that, they are all at different levels. Just to bring them up to be honest as best you can. The way you were sort of brought up yourself. Times have changed.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I think you want to make them a good moral individual. I am very religious myself, as I say, a lot of the kids, it is very difficult when they get to a certain age, to get them to go to church and things like that, but I want them to have a good moral fear of god and I hope they get to heaven some day, I bring them up to someday get to heaven.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN, A GOOD MORAL INDIVIDUAL?

I mean somebody that wouldn't take anything that didn't belong to them, that wouldn't steal, wouldn't do anything - would help people. In other words, what you could do, go out of your way to help people, be nice to people, a nice person. Somebody who doesn't steal, lie, cheat, you know what I mean.

WHICH IS OF MORE CONCERN, THAT HE HAD STOLEN, OR THAT HE HAD LIED? WHICH WAS MORE IMPORTANT?

He was afraid, that's why he lied. The worst thing was the fact he had stolen.

WHY DO YOU THINK THAT WAS WORSE THAN THE LYING?

It is more serious. It is a crime, then there is a white lie and a black lie so to speak, but the fact he knew he had done it and figured he might get away with it by lying, so he tried.

Parents at this level do not expect all children to be exactly the same, because they acknowledge differences in abilities, but they do expect them to embrace the parent's values as their own. The third example illustrates the Level 2 parent's focus on what the meaning of a behavior is for society, rather than the meaning of the behavior for the child.

3. <u>Tries hard and achieves what parent values</u>——Although differences in ability are acknowledged, effort and achievement recognized and valued as desirable personality characteristics.

WHAT SHOULD PARENTS EXPECT FROM THEIR CHILDREN?

Respect, love and trying to do the things that their parents ask them to do when they ask them to do it, if it's right.

WHY DO YOU THINK THOSE ARE THINGS EVERY PARENT SHOULD EXPECT?

Because as you watch a child grow up, it just makes me feel proud if I say to my kids I want you to try hard in school and do the best you can, and they come home and they bring me A's and B's. I say to myself they are trying their best, and it makes me feel good because someday they are going to be somebody.

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

Academically, for example, some people want their children to be A students, we don't ask for that. If they achieve what we think in our minds is the best they can do, that is all we ask.

HOW DO YOU KNOW WHAT IS BEST?

I think a parent knows inside if a child is really trying and what he is capable andhot capable of doing, by talking to the teachers. I believe if a parent is interested enough, they will know what makes their child tick, and this is why I said earlier, I am really interested in what makes people tick as well as children. I think I know my children well enough.

Effort is valued because it brings about a socially desirable outcome ("They are going to be somebody," "succeeding"). The parent, not the child, determines what the child is capable of achieving.

Level 3: Personal individuality

A. Characteristics

- Emotional individuality
- 2. Interpersonal functioning
- 3. Stable distingiushed from surface characteristics

B. Ideal

- Shapes and achieves personal standards
- 2. The child accepts him or herself as well as others
- 3. Maintains personal autonomy
- 4 Maintains adequate social relationships

A. Characteristics

1. Emotional individuality — The important personality traits at Level 3 are personal characteristics which distinguish the child from other children. These characteristics include emotional qualities or traits which can only be identified by getting to know the individual child. They cannot be known from external sources, as with Level 2 descriptors. The parent may indicate that he or she sees the child as having an integrated personality, not as an aggregate of distinct traits, and that this personal style has always characterized the child.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

They are hard to describe because they are all individualists, there are no two children in the family that are alike.

WOULD YOU RUN DOWN THE LIST THEN?

Lynn is quite an active young lady and is in the seventh grade at this moment and she is participating in quite a few things. Billy is a boy of his own. He was emotionally disturbed at one time, and he goes back and forth into withdrawal at times and he is kind of a hard kid to get to know, but a pretty good kid if you talk to him on his own level. Andrew, he is quite a young man, too, thinks he is quite a big boy now. He is in the transitional first grade. Rhonda there is still not that much to tell about. She is still not talking and still not up to what a four year old should be. But then again, I don't go and measure my children by anything else, they are all individualists.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

Well, both my children are very different. My son, who is the older of the two children, I would describe as a bright, somewhat aggressive, yet sensitive child who sometimes has difficulty controlling his feelings, or articulating his feelings. And when that happens, he does what most kids his age do, strike out at what's around him. And I would say he is relatively inflexible, relative to our other child. And he can't tolerate change.

HAS THAT BEEN SINCE HE WAS BORN, OR SOMETHING NEW?

No, when you think about it Jay has been like this ever since he was born. This was demonstrated early on in patterns of sleep, eating, from the time he was very very young. However, I think we have been relatively successful in overcoming whatever problems are involved with that. Carol, on the other hand, is very easy going, can tolerate all different kinds of situations very well. In some respects, I wonder whether she is too passive and now that we socialize more with Jay I think she has developed more. She has developed a better ability to assert herself. She is also becoming increasingly somebody who is a person, in a way that wasn't clear to me when she was younger.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN A PERSON?

In the sense that she has an identifiable personality, that you can describe and she does things that are unique and I guess this is something that I experienced with Jay and I didn't really begin to sense him as a person until he got to be in the 4-5 month age range, which may be a function of how much contact I had with him. I went to work everyday, but until they began to interact a little, I didn't really have a sense of them as people.

2. <u>Interpersonal functioning</u> -- Personality characteristics described at Level 3 go beyond stable and objective personal labels to include qualities of interpersonal relating between the child and others.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR BABY?

He is very active, very small and very happy. He smiles a lot and he likes people. His father has a very good personality and I think he is like him. He is very responsive to people, when people smile at him and do cuddle with him, he cuddles back and smiles at everyone, he likes people, he is very good. He is teething now and becoming more difficult, but he is still very good.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE MARIA FOR ME?

She is a very open girl. Although shy at times, she gets to be a friend when she knows a person better. She has a very good sense of humor, she rarely gets upset easily, but she demands attention certain times. She is getting to be quite affectionate and loves to climb on me. With other children she is shy although she is aware of them when there are children playing. She is fairly at ease in the group situation. Sometimes she is shy at the beginning, as in any new situation. She was always shy even at birth.

The interpersonal qualities are understood to operate within interpersonal relationships, and to require certain conditions for them to emerge.

Personality characteristics then can be active and mobile processes, and not simply static descriptions.

3. Stable distinguished from surface characteristics—Parents at Level 3 may distinguish what they consider transient or superficial behavior or characteristics from those which are deeper and more enduring. How the child deals with and resolves conflicts between deeper values and qualities, and the ups and downs of his or her actions is considered more descriptive than particular actions.

WHICH IS MORE IMPORTANT, THAT JOHNNY DID THE STEALING OR THAT HE TOLD THE TRUTH ABOUT IT LATER?

That he told the truth about it later. Because I see that stealing in this scenario is an acute incident, which probably doesn't represent a chronic pattern of behavior. I see the values which are inherent and implicit in not lying as representing a pattern of behavior that's got to follow this kid for the rest of his life and which is much more important.

WHICH IS MORE IMPORTANT, THAT HE DID THE STEALING OR THAT HE TOLD THE TRUTH?

Told the truth. Stealing is really nothing. The most that is done wrong there is that he did something wrong; but if he held it in he might do something wrong again.

WHAT DOES THAT TELL YOU ABOUT THE CHILD?

الأرابية فتواريها أأريي ويتفقيه وبعد

That he is recognizing that he did something wrong. HE is honest with himself and he was looking to someone, his father, for help, for feeling. And I think his being honest is a lot more important than he did it.

The meaning of the child's behavior for him or herself is the basis for describing the child, not how others view the child and his or her behavior.

B. Ideal

1. Shapes and achieves personal standards—— At Level 3, goals tend to be conceived less as particular kinds of achievements, values, or characteristics, and more in terms of the child being able to achieve what (s)he wants for him or herself.

The concept of an ideal, then, is defined from the perspective of the child, and in reference to the child's sense of his or her own preferences and capabilities.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT IN RAISING A CHILD FOR THEM TO BE HAPPY?

Because if you're happy, it is easier. I like to be happy and I try to be happy and it seems like things are better when you are happy. My mother wanted us to be happy, but our happiness was what she thought our happiness should be, the things that she thought would make you happy in life, and obviously they didn't. And I want Eric to be happy in whatever it is that he is going to do; that he wants to do; what he wants out of life. What is going to satisfy him, if he is going to feel good about it, then that's good, whatever it is. I will try to go along with that. Unless it was something I felt was really harmful.

WHAT DO YOU HOPE FOR YOUR CHILDREN AS ADULTS, WHAT DO YOU WANT FOR THEM AS PEOPLE?

Just to love and be loved, and if they grow up and get married, after my daughter finishes high school, if they want to finish high school and get married, if that is what you want to do, you have all the luck and happiness from you. Whatever you do, be happy you have done it, that's it. If you want to go to college, you go. If you don't want to go, think about it, work, and whatever you do be good at it. I am not going to make them do something that they may be unable to live up to.

Level 3 reasoning focuses on how the child feels about his or her choices and accomplishments, rather than on the nature of the accomplishments as at Level 2.

2. The child accepts him or herself as well as others—The Level 3 conception of personal individuality is expressed in a conception of persons which can accept intra—and inter—individual variability and differences. The ideal child recognizes individual differences and variability and is tolerant and accepting of both him or herself and of others.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

For him I think the goal is a certain amount of success in life. Not so much in a job, but in being open, not be prejudiced or hateful, but just someone who is happy with themselves.

DO YOU HAVE ANY SENSE OF WHAT MAKES FOR A GOOD CHILD?

I think if they can be happy, if they can trust, if a child can trust an adult, to be happy with that adult, to feel easy and they don't feel like they are always competing against adults, they don't feel like they have to compete for life or place or to be something. They can just be happy being themself. If they feel what they are doing here, that is cool, just like that, and unless they are really bad, and you are not constantly trying to change them, saying you can be better or why don't you do this, so if you try to get them to be happy with themself and content with themself as a person, then a kid would feel pretty good about himself.

Being happy with oneself may be understood to be related to not only an acceptance of others, but also to an acceptance of each person's equal right to what life has to offer. Therefore, a child who can cooperate with others, have trusting relationships, and feel good about him or herself would be considered closer to the ideal at Level 3 than a child who is a successful competitor.

3. <u>Maintains Personal Autonomy</u>—Being able to make their own choices and to cope with whatever life may bring their way, is considered an important characteristic at Level 3.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

When he is of age, say 18, or when he decides that he wants to go out on his own, that he feels that he can handle the situation, that he can-he feels he is a man, he feels that we have done everything that we could to make him handle any situation he might be able to face, or at least go into the situation, say I think I can handle it anyways. Be a man, be a person, be strong, be able to cope, that is important.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

What you want for the child may not be what he wants when he grows up. He may want to be this or that. I don't know, I wouldn't say I had a particular goal for each of my teenage children. Being on their own and beingable to make up their own minds about what they would want to do without being dependent on anyone is good. The girl sings and if she continues which she talks about, and I think she will, this will be very good for both. I wouldn't be disappointed if she did not sing.

THE KIDS JIMMY RUNS AROUND WITH ARE TOUGH AND GET INTO TROUBLE, BUT JIMMY LIKES THEM A LOT. SHOULD MR. FOX INTERFERE, OR DOES JIMMY HAVE A RIGHT TO CHOOSE HIS OWN FRIENDS?

Jimmy has a right to choose his own friends. He has supposedly been brought up with a certain set of values and sometimes he is going to make friends with people who do not have the same values that he does. And he has to learn that he has to maintain his own values with people that have different values. Trying to break up the friendship wouldn't be a good thing to do. He will have to determine if he can maintain his own values in keeping the friendships, or if he is going to find other friends.

The child, rather than the parent or peers, ultimately sets his or her standards, and the parent's hope is that the child will have the skills and capabilities for achieving and maintaing standards.

4. <u>Maintains good social relationships</u>—People are understood as functioning within a social context, and the child's ability to get along with others is an important aspect of personality.

WHAT MAKES FOR A GOOD CHILD?

A good child is one who can handle himself in a group with other people, because we are essentially a social system. We try to teach our children how to get along with other people. Basically, children learn to become social I wouldn't say it was a bad child if he had difficulty getting along with other people, but getting along would be a primary goal.

Level 4: Psychological Self-system

A. Characteristics

- 1. Coordinated into a psychological self-system
- 2. Self-awareness
- 3. Not always seen or known

B. Ideal

- 1. Capacity for self-analysis.
- 2. Understands human vulnerability

A. Characteristics

1. Coordinated into a psychological self-system -- Characteristics are integrated into a broader picture of the child as a psychological self system. An attempt is made at level 4 to coordinate perceived experience and characteristics into a system where the parts are involved in a dynamic process which makes up a psychological whole.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

Give him a sense of being a person who has faith in himself so he can cope with life, giving him confidence in himself, a basic sense of trust in himself and the world.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY FAITH AND TRUST?

That the way he knows the world is the way the world is. That his perceptions are confirmed, so he knows that he can trust others, and trust himself.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

Because that is the core of them. That is the core of their being. I think.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THAT?

That is their center, that is the center of the individual, their integrity, their ability to relate, to know themselves in relation, at all times, to the rest of the world and that center must be carefully tended at all times.

WHY DO YOU FEEL GROWING UP NOT BEING BIGOTED AND HATEFUL IS SO IMPORTANT.

I don't see how anybody can be happy being hateful. Everybody at times goes through hateful moments with somebody, but a bigot doesn't put someone aside and wall them in, he actually puts himself aside, and walls himself in. He imprisons himself more than I think he imprisons someone else, he closes

himself up a little bit and it is getting to be a smaller world. And this makes him a smaller person in every way, not just about blacks, or Jews, or Chinese or whatever. It makes him a person who shuts things out, who doesn't say, "Hey, this is how I feel," but who doesn't let himself look at how he feels. He keeps part of the world out, and this will be a part of everything he does. It'll be part of his personality.

Responses at level 4 may reflect differing conceptions or different aspects of psychological process, as the two illustrations demonstrate, but they will attempt to interpret the meaning of observations for the psychological functioning of the child by interpreting them into a larger system.

2. <u>Self awareness</u> -- The conception of self observation emerges at level 4 as a collary to the level 4 conception of a complex self-system. The observing self may have greater or lesser knowledge of other levels or aspects of the self system, and the capacity of the self for self-analysis and self-knowledge is a central characteristic of individual personality.

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR DAUGHTER FOR ME?

R. is 11 1/2. She is a very steady, responsible child, she has had to pay the price for my growing with her, because much of my coming to terms with my becoming an adult has been through watching her develop and fighting my battles vicariously through what I see she is doing. And R. is very much in touch with her feelings, very intellectual, very introspective

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I think for me the goal is raising a child to be successful in the terms that the child sets for himself. If a child's goal is to have lots of friends, then the childhas to begin to understand why he needs lots of friends, is it really what he wants, or is it substituting for something else. I think it is kind of an inner eye that you are looking at yourself through.

3. Not always seen or known —— Parents at level 4 can recognize that there are aspects of personality which are not always accessible to the child or to other observers, and that what a parent knows of the child reflects in part what the child allows to be seen.

COULD SAM BE TELLING THE TRUTH, THAT HE LOVES HIS BABY BROTHER, EVEN THOUGH HE HITS HIM?

Of course. He's telling the truth as he knows it. Sometimes people can't be aware of how they feel, or they think they feel one way, when deep inside there's another feeling which may break through in what they do, but that the person may not realize is there. Even if Sam were 18, he could have the same experience that little Sam is. About something different, maybe, but not understanding why he's doing something because there are feelings he just doesn't understand.

CAN YOU TELL ME WHAT J. IS LIKE?

J. is spontaneous, imaginatively spontaneous, very creative, very reserved and very private. She will not let you see what she does not want you to see. And I have a feeling that there is three quarters of a child there that I don't know at all, that I can only touch when she allows me to touch her.

These responses are distinguished from level 3 because they acknowledge that there are aspects of personality that may be ultimately inaccessible, and which may be necessarily inaccessible because of the complexity of the individual, or because of the complexity of preserving the self in the intimacy of close relationships.

III. Personality Level 4

B. Ideal

1. <u>Capacity for self-analysis</u> --Coming to know and to understand oneself (and others) is reasoned to be the central processes and the basis for each individual's functioning. One sees the world and one's place in it through the lens with which one sees oneself, and coming to know and understand oneself is the basis for achieving personal satisfaction.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I would like to raise a child to work independently of me and be able to cope with the world and with his own feelings, and to be able to identify what he wants from life.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT IS SO IMPORTANT?

Because if a person can't cope with his own feelings, if he can't identify those feelings, they can't really work towards anything else. That is the starting point. I am hoping that Jennifer will learn from us a family set up how to express her feelings when she feels angry. There are constructive ways of expressing your feelings and that is how I feel, so that nobody is physically hurt. I want her to be able to get affection when she needs it. I feel if she can deal with that, if she can't cope with her own feelings, she is not going to be able to move anywhere. But if she can cope with herself and her feelings and can identify the kind of person she is and what she wants out of life, then she can move in a new direction, if she wants to.

WHAT DO YOU SEE AS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOALS FOR YOUR CHILDREN?

Again, the consciousness of process, giving the child the feeling that he can fulfill himself if he has a way of looking at his goals and his wants that are consistent with his abilities. I would like my child to later accept himself or herself at whatever stage he is in and to know what the next phase is too, so that he could reach a little bit. I think I would like my child to be stretched a little, so they know the feeling that comes from hard work at something. I don't think of goals as getting through college or riding a bike, but the child may see that as small goals along the way, to self fulfillment, I would like my children to be reasonably happy, because I think it is very necessary to have happiness in order to accept yourself and to accept other people.

The ideal for the child is an ability not only to understand oneself at a given moment, but also to recognize that one is in process, that one can accept oneself, even if one can't always accept one's behavior, if one recognizes one's capacity to learn and to grow, and that there are layers of thinking, feeling, and doing that build from each other, that the individual is a system.

2. <u>Understands human vulnerability</u> -- At level 4. the parent hopes the child will not only accept human differences, but will also understand that frailty is part of being human, and will respect his own and other's humanness. The idea acceptance, then, stems from an understanding of universals of the human experience; within which human differences can be understood and respected.

WHAT IS THE BASIS FOR PEOPLE'S KINDNESS TO OTHER PEOPLE?

The basis is a respect for the humanness, for the suffering, for the quality that makes another person human. And that capacity is very difficul It is a very difficult capacity to have, because one has to protect oneself too. If I can give my child the capacity to understand another human being, and to understand the vulnerability of another human being, I would do it for the other human being and for my child as well.

HOW WOULD YOU DESCRIBE A GOOD CHILD?

A child who was responsible, who had a good sense of what's right and what's wrong, not by everyone else's standards, but in their own, and someone, a child who was respectful and understands that even though the parent might be wrong, that they are the parent and just to have some patience.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY RESPECT AND HAVING PATIENCE WITH THE PARENT?

The parent has the offspring and they want to impose themselves on the child, which they can't stop themselves from doing a lot of the time. And the child has to understand that sometimes the parent has no control over themselves, and they want to protect the child and they want the child to do what's right, and sometimes they are imposing things that aren't always quite fair.

Level 1: One-way instrumental

- 1. In order to know what to believe
- 2. Trust meaning permissiveness and license
- 3. Communication to achieve desired actions
- 4. One-way conception of communication and trust

At level 1, parents' reasoning focuses on concrete aspects of truth, trust and communication, such as the acts of lying or confessing, and the person with whom one talks, rather than the openness or quality of the verbal exchange.

1. <u>In order to know what to believe</u> -- The importance of trust and truth is to be able to believe in the child's statements or claims, or for the child to be believed by others. Responses frequently appear very selfish; i.e., the parent is concerned that if he or she doesn't know the truth, he or she will look foolish in other people's eyes.

WHY DO YOU FEEL IT IS IMPORTANT FOR CHILDREN TO TELL THE TRUTH?

Because sometimes if you keep telling a lie, something will really happen and won't nobody believe you and you will be in a lot of problems.

WHAT KIND OF PROBLEMS?

Like my daughter told so many lies I didn't know when to believe her, so I just stopped believing everything that she said. And even now I have doubts, because I don't know when to believe her, so that is what can happen when you keep lying all the time, making people hate you for lying, and folks just hardly believe in you.

WHY DO YOU FEEL IT IS IMPORTANT FOR CHILDREN TO TELL THE TRUTH?

Because when kids tell the truth, if they do something wrong, let them come to you and tell you they have done it. And you know where you are situated at and how you are going to protect your side. I would rather hear if my children did anything from their own mouth before I heard a revised edition, from somebody else, I don't want to hear it, I want to hear it from my kids first and by telling the truth, that puts me in a better position to help them, because if I don't know what is going on, and somebody hits me with a story, I would stand there like a real dummy.

2. <u>Trust meaning permissiveness and license</u> -- Frequently parents reasoning at Level 1 interpret the child's understanding of trust as a removal of the parental controls which they feel keep a child from doing wrong. Children are expected to want to get away with what they can.

DO YOU FEEL IT IS MORE IMPORTANT TO KNOW WHETHER OR NOT HE DID IT, THAN TO SHOW TRUST IN HIM BY NOT READING IT?

If he doesn't look in the diary, then Jimmy will believe that his father trusts him and he will keep doing things he shouldn't do.

DO YOU FEEL SOMETIMES IF CHILDREN KNOW THEIR PARENTS TRUST THEM THAT THAT WILL HELP THEM TO DO THE RIGHT THING? OR IS IT USUALLY THEY THEN FEEL THEY CAN GET AWAY WITH IT?

They will think they can get away with it and they will think my mother trusts me, she won't say anything about me, that I am bad or nothing, she trusts me and then he will keep doing it, doing things he is not supposed to do. But if she talks to him a little stronger, maybe he won't do it. What he shouldn't do.

Parental reasoning does not recognize the possibility that the child may want to live up to parental trust and <u>not</u> transgress. The parent, therefore, cannot conceive of giving trust to the child.

3. <u>Communication to achieve desired actions</u> -- Reasons for communicating, as well as reasons for not communicating are contingent on the behavioral outcomes of the child which affect the parent or the child.

IF HE READS THE DIARY, SHOULD HE TELL JIMMY HE READ IT?

I don't think he should unless there is something that is very bad that he has to come forward with. But I don't think he should tell him, because then he would try to hide it someplace else where he would not find it the next time, because he would figure he had no right to read his diary. So he wouldn't find it there the next time he is looking for it, so I don't think he should tell him as long as there is no problem. He didn't do no harm, right?

WHY DO YOU FEEL THEY SHOULD BE ABLE TO CONFIDE IN PARENTS?

It is important to be truthful with them. I could always tell my mother or father. I really could. I don't remember doing that much bad. People say to me, didn't you do something like this, but I was very respectful. I didn't do anything that bad.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT THAT YOU COULD TELL THEM?

Who else is there, the most important ones to come to is your own mother and father. If you couldn't, you would have to go to the gang on the corner or something like that and you would get into more trouble.

IF SHE READ THE DIARY, SHOULD SHE TELL HIM THAT SHE READ IT?

It depends what Mr. Fox found out. If Jimmy wrote something, I would confront him with it, but otherwise, forget it.

4. One-way conception of communication and trust -- Communication and trust are conceived as one-way. The parent or child gives trust to the other, they do not exchange or share trust. Similarly, communication between parent and child is understood as the child being able to talk to the parent, not, as in level 2, parent and child being able to talk with each other.

WHY DO YOU FEEL IT IS IMPORTANT FOR PARENTS AND CHILDREN TO BE TRUTHFUL WITH EACH OTHER?

I want my children to be truthful with me because I don't want to feel how come you had to sneak and do it behind my back, why did you have to hurt me this way, when you know you can come and talk to me.

WHY DO YOU THINK IT IS IMPORTANT FOR A CHILD TO BE ABLE TO COME AND TALK TO A PARENT?

A father plays a big part, but as far as the child and the mother, I feel there is this closeness ever since they were in the womb of the mother, there is this close knit thing and I feel that a child should feel this is the only thing in my life that I can turn to is my mother.

In addition to a one-way conception, the second example also has an egocentric aspect which characterizes many level 1 responses. The parent wants something of the child (what it is may differ) only for him or herself, and does not conceive of other relationships where the child may give to someone else.

Level 2: Two-way mutual

Level 2 responses conceptualize communication and trust as involving a twoway exchange, rather than the giving of one to the other, or the taking of one from the other that is conceptualized in level 1 reasoning.

- 1. Trust and communication as equal exchange
- 2. Trust as fulfilling familial role obligations
- 3. Communication as mutual verbal sharing
- 1. Trust and communication as equal exchange -- At level 2, parents recognize that trust and communication involve two sets of actions and of expectations. Communication and trust are between people, with each party giving as well as receiving.

IF HE READS THE DIARY, SHOULD HE TELL JIMMY HE READ IT?

Yes. Just to be truthful. If you expect your children to be truthful, you have to be truthful with them.

EVEN THOUGH JIMMY WOULD NOT HAVE KNOWN HE HAD READ IT?

Yes. I would tell him. He would probably get mad about the whole thing and get over it.

THAT SEEMS LIKE A DIFFICULT THING, THAT YOU WOULD TELL HIM SOMETHING THAT HE WOULD NOT OTHERWISE KNOW AND RISK HIS BEING ANGRY WITH YOU. WHY IS THAT SO IMPORTANT?

Just telling the truth and not being sneaky, you don't want them to be sneaky.

WHY WOULD YOU TELL HIM?

I would want to be honest with my kid and that way they would be honest with me, I would hope. I know a diary is a personal thing and I had no business to look in it, but since I did, I think that I should let him know.

IS IT IMPORTANT FOR A CHILD TO TELL THE TRUTH?

Yes. It is just as impotant for the child or the adult to tell the truth also, so the child can learn and say look, mother or father told me the truth, so I am going to tell them the truth. They learn from what you do.

Parents may not necessarily expect a <u>direct</u> return (as might be expected with peer relations, for example), but a <u>developmental return</u>. In other words, what a parent gives as trust or sharing to the child will contribute to the development of the child's capacity to give or share, and is expected to be expressed in the development of that capacity and those qualities. The parent acknowledges a <u>responsibility</u> to give if he or she expects to receive in kind, as well as an expectation to receive, if he or she gives.

2. <u>Trust as fulfilling familial role obligations</u>—Although trust is recognized as being <u>between</u> parent and child, it is not conceptualized as developing from qualities of the relationship, as at level 3, but as being an obligation of the relationship roles. Parent's and children <u>should</u> trust each other because that is part of how relationships between parents and children are defined.

DO YOU FEEL THAT TRUST IS IMPORTANT IN A RELATIONSHIP, IS THAT WHAT IS SPECIAL ABOUT IT?

Yah, there is something there, you have to trust me and I trust you.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

Because trust should be important in anyone's family among one another. You got friends you don't want to trust, but your family should trust each other.

WHY IS TRUST IMPORTANT?

You have to trust and it is good to trust your parents. Because your parents brought you up and they are always there, I still can go home to my parents and it is good to have a good relationship with your parents. They know you. My mother knows me like a book, she knows what I am going to say before I say it.

3. <u>Communication as mutual verbal sharing</u> --Communication is conceptualized as two people sharing their thoughts or feelings with each other, rather than the one-way sharing expressed in level 1. Communication is presented as the act of a message, however, rather than how well the messages are understood, which is the focus at level 3.

IF THE READS THE DIARY, SHOULD HE TELL JIMMY THE READ IT?

Yes, I would. Because I think that everyone has a right to privacy but I think I would first explain why I read it, that I really wanted to know, I was hoping you were right and you didn't shoplift, and then I would say that I had read it. Then he could tell me how he feels. I think if we can communicate like that, things will be all right.

Level 3: Reciprocal understanding

- 1. The reciprocity of trust
- 2. Communication and trust as embedded in relationships
- 3. Communication as understanding
- 1. The reciprocity of trust Trust at level 3 is conceptualized as greater than an exchange of actions and expectations. It is a commitment to a relationship. In order to be trusted, a person has to be able to trust, and in order to trust, you have to be trusted in a relationship. Trust is a reciprocal process. Because they conceptualize trust as reciprocal, many parents at level 3 feel that trusting a child will promote trustworthy behavior. The child will protect the relation—ship by honoring the trust which is part of the relationship. The parent may be similarly constrained.

WHAT ABOUT THE DIARY, SHOULD HE LOOK IN THE DIARY?

No. Trust that child. (WHY?) Because he is going to keep on looking and looking, he is going to keep on having doubts, everytime something comes up, he's going to keep on having doubts and that is no trust.

WHY IS TRUST SO IMPORTANT?

It is important for a child to know that his parents trust him. (WHY?) Because this way he knows that my mother, my father, cares. My mother and father knows, I can't do it, I can't hurt them. I don't want to disappoint them. They trust me enough to let me go here, to let me do this, then I don't think I will destroy that trust that they have for me.

HOW WOULD JIMMY FEEL IF HE FOUND OUT HIS FATHER READ HIS DIARY?

And his father didn't tell him? Jimmy should be really mad.

HOW WOULD IT AFFECT THEIR RELATIONSHIP?

It could affect their relationship the rest of their life. It would alienate the son and could make him very, very mad at his father and he could feel that he has no rights, he has no privacy, he is not a person; at 15 he still has somebody standing over his shoulder looking into him. He would feel that he wasn't trusted and in turn he would not trust his father and that would set up a really bad chain of events.

2. <u>Communication and trust as embedded in relationships</u> — At level 3, parents understand trust and communication as reflecting more than familial role obligations, as is frequently expressed at level 2. In level 3 responses, the quality of the relationship is understood to be the basis for the quality of communication and trust within that relationship, and parent-child relationship, as with other relationships, must be nurtured and developed. Trust and communication are not necessarily expected, but are freely given by two people who share a close relationship.

DO YOU THINK IT WOULD AFFECT THEIR RELATIONSHIP IF MR. FOX TOLD JIMMY HE READ THE DIARY?

The relationship would differ because Jimmy would be watching his father and his father would be watching Jimmy. There wouldn't be that much of a communication, and trust and faith and everything that was built up is just going right down. It would have to be rebuilt and it takes a lot of doing to do that.

IN WHAT WAYS DO YOU THINK YOU COULD REBUILD TRUST?

I think it takes a lot of time and patience, a lot of caring, a lot of understanding on both their parts. In fact, I think it might take a whole lifetime to redo something that you already have done. But if you're tolerant enough to be a good family, you sort of go by that hoping that the child would understand why you did it, that you were trying to help, because you loved him and cared for him.

One thing I enjoy with my 17 year old and I hope to do with my 7 year old, is communication. My 17 year old will go on her date and when she comes in she runs up to the bathroom and comes in the den and tells me what the show was about, or where they went and this is what I want. And it is not that I ask for it, it is given to me. And I am very grateful that it is.

HOW DO YOU FEEL COMMUNICATION DEVELOPS BETWEEN A PARENT AND A CHILD?

I think it starts with love, and a sense of being needed, and of the parent's being there when the children need them. Being there, and being able to not only be a father or mother, but also a friend, someone to whom he can talk, not the friendliness, buddy-buddy bit, not that, but being a person who is easy to talk to. Not being an aloof, godlike figure who stands and says what do you want my child, but being a warm, close personal relationship.

Communication can be non-verbal as well as verbal.

WHAT DO YOU ENJOY MOST ABOUT JOHN?

I guess I reach a certain peak with him when we are alone. When he was about 5 weeks old and he would wake up and my wife was sleeping, I would take him and give him his bottle and I look back on those days and they were the happies moments in the past three years I can think about. It was a very soothing momen and he was laying there taking his bittle and half asleep and I was very comfortable. I was finished working and it was a moment's communication, this is my son and I am just as much a part of this as his mother is. He is communicating.

HOW WAS HE COMMUNICATING?

He would press close sometimes and I would hold the bottle and he would open his eyes and look up. There was eye contact, there was body contact, and I felt very close.

3. <u>Communication as understanding</u> -- At level 2, responses tend to focus on communication as production. The act of explaining, for example, is conceptualized as the communicative act. At level 3, communication involves production <u>and</u> recepti The focus of reasoning about communication is understanding rather than explanation with the explanation assumed as the precursor to understanding.

WHAT DO YOU ENJOY THE MOST ABOUT YOUR CHILDREN?

I like to have them around. They are all I have. They are everything to me. I am satisfied, you know. I can rely on them practically as much as they can rely on me. We do for each other. Like I can sit down and explain things to Terry, like when he wants something and we can't afford to buy it, I sit down and explain and he will understand and he explains things to me and I understand and we complement each other.

SUPPOSE THAT JIMMY SAYS, I LIED BEFORE BECAUSE I WAS SCARED, HOW WOULD YOU TAKE IT FROM THERE?

Well he can discuss being scared, what does it mean. Maybe Mr. Fox had some situation that he might have been ashamed of or something like that many years ago and says look, this happened to me and it was a stressful situation and I can sort of understand and this is what I did.

People can talk to each other, but communication is understanding each other.

The parent at level 3 considers the experience of the child in order to find ways to reach his or her understanding.

Level 4: Growth and Discovery

- 1. Communication as discovery of self and other
- 2. Communicating and trusting as developmental processes
- 3. Trust and communication as accepting and revealing human fallibility
- 1. Communication as discovery of self and other -- At level 4, communication is not simply two people coming to understand each other, it is a process of thinking and sharing in which each person comes better to understand him or herself as well as the other. Parent and child are clearly identified as separate and autonomous, although intimately related, and the limits of the relationship may also be defined. The value of psychological privacy as well as of intimacy and sharing, is acknowledged.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT 'TO LET CHILDREN KNOW YOUR FEELINGS? TALK THINGS OUT?

I don't know, right now I think that it helps me to understand my own feelings. I am trying to raise them so that they are whole people, individuals.

WHY IS THAT SO IMPORTANT FOR PEOPLE?

I don't think that you can get along any other way. You have to really like yourself in order to like anyone else. And I think as I got older I realized it more, you have to accept yourself for what you are before you can judge anyone else. It took me a long time to realize this, and right now they are small and there are a lot of things that I don't like about myself and there are a lot of things that I do like about myself.

BUT YOU CAN STILL LOVE YOUR CHILDREN, YOU DON'T HAVE TO LIKE EVERYTHING ABOUT YOURSELF.

No, not everything. You have to like yourself as a person, which as a person I do like myself, I have to work it out like anyone else, and they more or less taught me how to like myself and how to be myself. They make me a better person because of themselves.

HOW IS THAT?

A lot of times I will hold back my feelings on something and not let it out and Chris will come along and if something makes her mad she will get mad and yet with her I can say, that's okay, you can get mad. That's fine. And I will sit back and say okay, she can explode, but now it is time for me to do it. I've become a little more outgoing, a little more talkative, too. I've seen things in them, that I couldn't do, that I don't feel I could ever be able to do. Yet in them and seeing that they are not shy, and seeing that they are not held back by anything and if they want to know something if somebody else is standing there and they see something, they will walk up and ask, what is going on or what is that and they are not shy at all. And I think by seeing them, I can learn their lesson and teach other people, which I have never been able to do.

HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT THAT?

I feel good, I really do. It is not just their learning from me, I am learning from them, also.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY CLOSER?

In the sense of being able to interact with them, in the sense of feeling that they are as I said earlier, people, really separate human beings and not just little kids and I think that every day that goes by, you learn more about them, who they are, and so that's really what I meant by getting closer.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT THE PRIVACY OF THE DIARY IS IMPORTANT?

Because there are parts of each human being that they choose not to share with another human being and it is as true of a baby as it is true of an old person and even though a parent in a family may think that it is unimportant, he has no right to trespass on feelings, on emotions, on secret drawers, on experiences that the child does not choose to tell. If the child says I don't want to talk about it, then the parent has to listen to that, then they can come at it another way if it is very important, but they cannot trespass beyond what the child is willing to let go of. Everybody is very much alone inside and has to preserve his own territory first and then you can begin to share if you feel you have boundaries that are yours. It is also the difference between sharing because you have to and sharing because you choose to. It makes a difference between resenting what you do and resenting what you did and giving it generously and if you are allowed space around yourself, then I think you are freer to give space to other people and you don't have to clutter all over their lives. And you can give to people if you have privacy and privacy is a way of giving to yourself.

2. Communicating and trusting as developmental processes—At level 4, communication, understanding and trust are not considered simply to be products of relationships, but as processes which are central to the development of the child. Communicating and trusting are experiences which develop the child's capacity to know and to be comfortable with him or herself and the social world, and are also the processes which allow relationships to continue to grow.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT TRUST IS SO IMPORTANT IN A PARENT/CHILD RELATIONSHIP? BY READING THE DIARY WITHOUT PERMISSION, THAT WOULD BETRAY A TRUST.

Well, I would sooner that my child would tell me what his problem is, or his joys or whatever, sharing in that respect, then going out and saying well, this and this happened and I don't know what to do. I have nobody to turn to and this is going to be a terrible situation, whereas if there is a person or persons that you can go to and tell them what your problem is, or share a nice feeling with them, or situation, then you as a person, the child as a person, has grown so much more, he can relate, he can say gee, I have shared something and that was something nice and well, I feel better about it and I can do more now that I have spoken about this or that.

SO YOU FEEL THAT BY BEING ABLE TO TRUST SOMEONE - I AM NOT SURE I FOLLOW WHAT IT DOES FOR THE CHILD?

I think that it gives them a better feeling about themselves, they are able to express their needs, their wants, their concerns better and in that way they are growing and maturing.

YOU WOULD NOT BE PROUD OF LOOKING IN THE DIARY?

No, positively not. A parent should show trust first I think and then the child will naturally grasp this from the parent. A child is most like his parent, if the parent cares at all about the child.

WHAT DOES TRUST DO FOR CHILDREN AND THEIR RELATIONSHIPS, WHY IS THAT SO IMPORTANT

I think it brings out their nature to the best of their abilities. If they trust, I don't know, I can't always answer. I know what I feel, but it is hard for me to come out with it. It helps create the character of that child. It helps them to learn that he can count on other individuals even as an adult when he is on his own, there is such a thing as trust.

WHY IS TRUST SO IMPORTANT?

For the parents and child to grow together and to understand each other, they have to be able to trust each other.

The concept of growth, both individually and interpersonally, is central at level 4.

3. Trust and communication as accepting and revealing human fallibility --

At level 4, trust is conceptualized as deep and enduring, and as remaining constant despite breaches and lapses. Indeed, deep communication and trust embraces sharing and acceptance of human vulnerability and fallibility.

SUPPOSE HE READS THE DIARY, SHOULD HE TELL JIMMY HE READ IT?

Absolutely. It is dishonest not to. You have violated some personal space of this child, of his son. It is just as bad for him not to tell his son that he has done that as it is for Jimmy to tell his father in the first place that he didn't steal it when in fact he did.

WOULDN'T THE RELATIONSHIP PERHAPS BE BETTER IF THE CHILD DIDN'T KNOW HIS FATHER VIOLATED HIS PRIVACY?

It would certainly be less complicated, but whether it would be better or not, I don't know. It would certainly be a lot better for the father to deal with, not to have to deal with the fact that he knew his son knew he read his diary, but that's the easy route to go and I think in that kind of case I would go to my son and say look, I did something that as my son, I hope you would do the same with me, I did something that was really stupid, and that I shouldn't have and here is what it was. I read your diary. And it is an interesting thing, I don't know if I would tell a story like that, but that is what I would tend to do.

WHEN YOU SAID, I WANT YOU TO KNOW BECAUSE, HOW WOULD YOU FINISH THAT?

I would want you to know that I had done it because I would want you to know that we as parents, older people are as capable of making mistakes as you are, and I don't want to not tell you and have this something that is not shared between us and I think potentially my kid could learn a lot, Jimmy Fox could learn a lot.

WHAT WOULD HE LEARN?

He might learn that people, even adults, even parents, are fallible and will also learn that they are consistent in their values, like trust, honesty and openness are going to be values that you instill in your child. I think that this kind of situation might reinforce it.

YOU MENTIONED THAT SOMETIMES YOU DO THINGS WRONG AND THE PART OF THE RELATIONSHIP YOU BREACH CAN WITHSTAND THAT.

I would think if the ground is firm, then the ground can tolerate little hills and deviations from it, but there has to be some very good soil and this soil has to be laid from the very beginning, when this child is extremely young, born, and then it won't matter if there is a small deviation along the way that is not very great, and of course one doesn't know which will be the great and which won't be the great. You have to assume that your child will be generous to you, too, if you stumble and fall, it is not just a case of parents being generous in forgiving the child and you can do that if you have put together a trustworthy foundation.

WHY IS TRUST SO IMPORTANT?

It shows the child or the other person that we can make a mistake. Everybody does make mistakes and making mistakes is sometimes a good thing, it helps you to know all the possibilities of yourself. And only by dealing with them will it really change, will it maintain the boy, the son's, only by the father coming to him directly, coming to the boy directly with it and discussing it and letting it be a fully recognized and accepted thing will he, the boy, have a chance to fully deal with it. And he needs this chance, he doesn't need to be preached to. In other words, he has to be able to examine what he did, why he did it, very fully.

Making mistakes at level 4 may not be seen as entirely negative, but as an opportunity for closeness with another, and for personal growth.

Level 1: Uncertainty and Power

- 1. Lack of mechanisms
- 2. Single perspective
- l. <u>Lack of mechanisms</u>—Responses at Level 1 do not deal with mechanisms for resolving conflict. Rather, they project a sense of helplessness in the face of conflict. This helplessness may be expressed by an inability to think of ways to resolve conflict, by a passive and sometimes angry acquiescence to the child's demands or, in the case of sibling conflict, to the claims of the more powerful sibling.

SUSAN WANTS HER MOTHER HOME AND HER MOTHER DISAGREES. SHE FEELS SHE HAS A RIGHT TO BE HAPPY AND TO WORK, IF SHE WANTS TO, AND S. SAYS I FEEL YOU SHOULD BE HOME. WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE BEST WAY TO SOLVE A DISAGREEMENT? DISAGREEMENTS IN GENERAL?

Susan, being 10 years old, there is just no way you can make an agreement. If the mother decides to keep on working then Susan will still be mad, she won't agree with the mother and if the mother decides to stay home, she - Susan, won't agree.

WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

A good mother would probably quit and go home to the brat.

WHY WOULD SHE DO THAT?

It would be better for the child probably and it wouldn't hurt the mother.

There is no "solution" in these responses. Either no one can be satisfied, or by satisfying one party to the conflict, the other is dissatisfied.

2. <u>Single perspective</u>—Level one reasoning does not maintain two perspectives, so one perspective, usually the parent's, is focused on to the exclusion of the other.

WHAT IS MORE IMPORTANT, THAT S. HAVE HER MOTHER HOME WHEN SHE GETS HOME FROM SCHOOL, IF THAT IS WHAT SHE WANTS, OR THAT HER MOTHER HAVE A JOB?

Mother have a job, if that makes her happier.

WHY IS THAT MORE IMPORTANT?

It makes the mother happier, and it shows Susan that her mother has independence and her mother can't be around her all the time.

WHAT IS MOST IMPORTANT, THAT S. HAVE HER MOTHER HOME WHEN SHE GETS HOME FROM SCHOOL IF THAT MAKES HER HAPPY, OR THAT HER MOTHER HAVE A JOB IF THAT MAKES HER MOTHER HAPPIER?

She likes her mother to be home when she gets home from school.

CAN YOU GIVE MORE REASONS WHY YOU THINK THAT IS MORE IMPORTANT?

That way when the kid comes home, they always expect the mother to be home. Sometimes they come home and they knock and they go in and where is ma, and if nobody is there, they will go next door and ask. I don't know where your mother is. I came home, I am hungry.

BUT THERE IS A BABY SITTER.

It is not the same as a mother - if the mother loves you she will come up right away and say what do you want.

Because only one perspective is conceptualized, conflict resolution is all for one and nothing for the other.

Level 2: Fairness and Obligation

- 1. Equal distribution-fairness
- 2. Fulfilling role responsibilities.
- 3. Deciding right and wrong
- 1. Equal distribution-fairness—Conflict is reasoned to be caused by a perceived unequal distribution of emotional or physical supplies. The resolution of conflict, then, is achieved by redistributing supplies so that they are perceived as being equally shared, or by helping the other to understanding that a more equitable distribution is necessary.

WHAT SHOULD SAM'S MOTHER DO?

For one thing, if Sam is 3 1/2 years old and his mother has a 2 month old, she could be paying more attention to the baby than she is paying to Sam and she is not realizing it. If she wants Sam to love the baby, I feel, do things with them both, kiss him and kiss him, whatever you give him, give him, just don't put all your attention on one child. Share it.

WHAT SHOULD MRS. S. DO?

She has to try to sit down with her daughter and talk to her and explain that she wants to do it. Like the daughter wants to do things and she does them, so if the mother wants to do things, she should be able to do them, too. The mother has to have a little freedom too, and I can see how the mother would feel being in the house all the time, because I know how my wife feels and a lot of times it gets on her nerves, not being able to go out. I would get this point across to her daughter, that the mother has to have a little freedom too.

The central concept is fairness. Conflict between children is resolved by the parent distributing equal supplies. Conflict between parent and child is resolved by identifying what represents equal supplies in their different domains, and explaining to the child why this solution is fair. Some responses at Level 2 suggest compensation of the child by the parent in order to correct any perceived inequality or unfairness.

2. <u>Fulfilling role responsibilities</u>—Conflict between what a parent feels are his or her needs, and what the parent believes are the child's needs are frequently resolved at Level 2 in favor of the child's needs because it is the parent's role and responsibility to put the child's needs or wishes before his or her own.

WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO? She would quit and stay home.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT?

A child's upbringing is most important. You are laying the ground rules for what that person is going to be later on in life. The way the parents should look at it, I think, is, we are supposedly adults, and we have lived 50% of our life. It is a down hill slide. The child is just beginning. The parent's time should be devoted to her because at that stage, 10 years old, she only has 7 more years, and it is not going to kill the mother to stay home or try to do typing at home or work at home or be home when her child comes home. The child could come home someday with a bad problem when she is 14 or 15 and the mother is not there and no one to talk to.

I imagine the girl would want to talk to her mother, and it's her mother's responsibility to be there.

WHAT ABOUT MRS. S. NEEDS, WHAT IF SHE IS UNHAPPY AT HOME?

Why is she unhappy?

SHE IS BORED.

She should try to find a hobby or something to be interested in, or try to regulate her work hours, so she is working while the child is in school. There are a million things you can do.

IS IT MORE IMPORTANT THAT S. HAS HER MOTHER HOME WHEN SHE GETS HOME, IF THAT MAKES SUSAN HAPPIER, OR THAT HER MOTHER HAVE THE JOB IF THE MOTHER IS HAPPIER?

It is important to have Susan be happier. (REASONS?) The mother only has a few more years to go before Susan will be in high school and out on her own. Then she won't have to be home in the afternoon. She can go to work and not get home till late herself. So the mother should sacrifice two more years. For the child's sake.

The parent has definable duties which must be executed. How the parent <u>feels</u> in that role and the effect of those feelings on the child is not considered.

3. <u>Deciding right and wrong--At Level 2</u>, parents reason that there are right and wrong opinions and actions, and correct and incorrect solutions. Resolutions are arrived at through identifying the correct side of the conflict.

WHEN PARENTS AND CHILDREN DISAGREE, WHAT IS THE BEST WAY TO SOLVE THAT?

Disagree - like in this situation - I think you would have to decide who's got the right side and in this case I think that the mother does. And I think the girl should have it pointed out, like I said, that this is the good that is going to be done. She should say to the girl, I realize how you feel about it, but this is also how I feel about it, she should say you go to Brownie meetings or whatever you do, Sunday School or whatever, and I deserve something.

WHAT DO YOU THINK SAM'S MOTHER SHOULD DO?

He should be told, and I am sure he has been, this is a little baby and he is helpless and he can't do anything on his own and he was once that way himself and he should be punished for doing it, because there is no need to do it.

I DON'T THINK HE DOES IT ALL THE TIME, BUT HE DOES IT. HE IS HUGGING HIM ONE MINUTE AND HITTING HIM THE NEXT.

It should be pointed out that he shouldn't do that, and if he continues to do it, then he should be punished for it.

Identifying and pointing out the rightness or wrongness of an action may be reasoned sufficient to resolve conflict between people. If the child does not respond by changing his or her behavior, then discipline is justified, and conflict is resolved with parental authority. The child's feelings and perspectives are secondary or are not considered.

Level 3: Communication and Compromise

- 1. Maintaining individuality through compromise
- 2. Recognizing effects on relationships of individual feelings
- 3. Identifying and communicating feelings
- A fundamental aspect of Level 3 reasoning is that everyone is an individual whose individuality must be respected.

 When resolving conflict, no one's feelings should dominate another's and no one has an exclusive claim on another's life (even though people have responsibility to each other). People have aspects of themselves which go beyond each relationship which must be recognized and respected.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

In that situation, my feeling is that it is a 10 year old child. Your kids don't often tend to think of you as people, in the same way that we don't often tend to think of them as people, but as kids. I think you have to try to make it clear that as their mother, you are a person and you also have interests and they go outside of your relationships in the home. This gets back to some of the things we were talking about earlier, about privacy, about the sense of individuality. Part of the whole system of instilling values is teaching your kid the importance of acknowledging other people as individuals and what they do.

WHAT SHOULD PARENTS DO WHEN THEY ARE WRONG?

I admit it, I just admit it and apologize and I ask the children to apologize when they do something wrong. This is a switch from when I was a child

because there were no apologies. Parents were right and that was it. I always felt sort of funny because if I was wrong I had to apologize and why shouldn't an adult apologize. If we are wrong, we're wrong and that is something I do.

DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN SHOULD EXPECT THE SAME FROM ADULTS AS YOU DO FROM CHILDREN?

My feeling of a family is everybody's got to give. It's hard living as a family. We are all individuals, even though I have taught my children and brought them up, they are still individuals, we are all cantankerous sometimes. We all feel the urge to yell, fight and argue and once in a while we do. We are normal, we are human, everything is not rosy all the time, we all fight and argue occasionally. But I try and teach them that if we can learn to control our anger sometimes we gain more by it, but everybody has to apologize because we have a responsibility to each other.

At Level 3, a belief in parent's and children's equality as individuals is expressed (this is not inconsistent with a recognition that parents need practical authority to guide and protect their children). Conflict resolution is frequently a compromise or an exercise of mutual control which maintains respect for each person's separate individuality but also recognizes each person's responsibility to give to the other(s).

2. Recognizing effects on relationships of individual feelings—At Level 3, parents recognize that the feelings that underlie conflict must be the focus for aiming at a resolution. If the resolution doesn't alter the underlying individual feelings, problems will remain in the relationship.

WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

I think she should keep her job. If she doesn't and if she feels that she is giving something up, that is going to work on the mind of the mother and the mother is going to be unhappy and the mother is going to start to have feelings that she was tied down by this kid. And one way or another, these feelings are going to work out towards the child and the child will feel them and that will make for a rotten situation. If the mother really feels strongly about it, that it is important to her happiness, if it is important for her to have her own thing, then she has got to do that, or she won't be able to be a good mother anyway.

IS THE DAUGHTER BEING A GOOD DAUGHTER WANTING HER MOTHER HOME EVERY AFTERNOON?

I think she is a good daughter, but she should realize that mom can't be here all the time constantly. If mom was that tense at home, if the tension's released at work, I think she would be more loving here towards her daughter.

Responses at Level 3 acknowledge that how an individual feels personally effects how he or she feels about others, and his or her capacity to maintain satisfactory functioning in relationships. Conflict resolutions which address and correct handicapping feelings are in the best interests of the ongoing relationships.

3. Identifying and communicating feelings--Under-lying conflict are people's reasons why they feel as they do. Conflict may be eased by communicating feelings and enabling conflicting parties to understand each other's individual points of view.

WHEN PEOPLE DISAGREE IN YOUR FAMILY, HOW IS THAT RESOLVED?

I have a group session with my family, with the 4 of us every Wednesday night. We really sit down and talk about what we don't like going on in the house. If I yell at them and they don't like it, they really tell me, 'Ma, I don't like you yelling at me.' So we pretty much get a lot out. And let me tell you, sometimes I see myself differently and make some changes.

WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

I think she should continue working, but she should find out what it was that was making Susan unhappy with the woman. Explain, even at 10 years old, I think a child can understand that mother has needs too, and she has a need to get out of the house. She could explain it to Susan and then she could ask Susan, when you come home from school what happens and what about this is making you unhappy so I can help you feel better?'

Not only does communication allow feelings to be expressed so that they can be addressed in order to enable conflict to be resolved, communication also strengthens relationships and leads to <u>mutually</u> agreed on change. By understanding how others view the situation, an individual may modify his or her own understanding and his or her own demands.

Level 4: Analysis and Integration

- 1. Differentiating external and internal conflict
- 2. Through understanding of self and other
- 1. <u>Differentiating external and internal conflict</u>—At Level 4, a parent may reason that conflict in one observable situation may reflect an unresolved and deeper conflict of which the child is unaware.

WHAT DO YOU FIND HARDEST TO PUT UP WITH?

I think the thing that is hardest now is that she tends to react a little strongly, inappropriately to some things. For instance, she got extremely negative towards Richard Nixon. know it wasn't taken from me, because during the whole Watergate process, I wasn't belligerent or arrogant or strong minded, but with her it seemed to have been a personal vendetta as if he personally visited our house once and never brought her a present or something. I don't know where these strong feelings come from. am not saying that her perception isn't appropriate, I am saying her feeling is. I think part of it is that she still has a need, as all our children do at some times, to have a strong position about something, particularly something in the adult world.

WHY DO YOU THINK CHILDREN HAVE THAT NEED?

Because they are surrounded by adults who are acting so damn pompous most of the time. People who are trying to give the appearance that they have control of their lives, even when they don't. And this is what childhood is developing, all kinds of controls and I think sometimes they just have to pretend that they have it, too.

WHY DO THEY HAVE TO PRETEND THAT?

Pretense is so easy. Perhaps because they learn this from adults, but also because I think it makes them feel more competent. By pretending, maybe they think they believe it.

WHAT DO YOU THINK SAM'S MOTHER SHOULD DO?

I would first make clear to Sam that however he feels, he can't hurt the baby. He needs to know I'll not let him act on those feelings because a child can be afraid of his angry feelings and not want to express them, and still at the same time want very badly to hit the baby. So I guess I would have to protect him from acting out feelings he can't control.

Both examples demonstrate a conception of the child as a psychological self-system with seemingly discrepant or contradictory behavior or wishes. Only when understood as expressing deeper psychological experience, or simultaneously conflicting wishes, does the anger at Nixon, or the contradiction between wanting to hit and wanting to be controlled make sense.

2. Through understanding of self and other--In order to be able to resolve parent-child conflict, the parent at Level 4 reasons that you have to understand yourself, your own feelings and needs, as well as the feelings and needs of others. In order to deal with conflict between children, the child must achieve a measure of self-understanding so that he or she can separate feelings from actions and establish control over the actions.

WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

I think that S. needs to hear why the mother needs to work, just to see it not in terms of a rejection, because what seems to be going on is S. is saying, I want only you there. Now why does she want only the mother, she has the

mother the other two days and she's got the mother the weekend, why is it that so important that at that particular time the mother has to be there between 2 and 5 on those 3 days a week. IS it that S. is asking for a proof that the mother will give up everything for S., even the job. She only has the mother and S. goes off to play with her friends, I imagine, for at least 3 hours at a time, so that it isn't really that the child wants the mother there every day when she comes home from school, but she is asking for something else. How the something else gets resolved depends again on how much the mother understands of her own feelings and her own needs for working, how quilty she is feeling.

WHAT DO YOU THINK SAM'S MOTHER SHOULD DO?

Well, she's obviously got some talking to do and she's got some hugging to do. Loving, physical loving; I think it is very important, but especially for the little ones, to have a lot of physical contact with the mother and the father, with the parents. And she has to discuss the ambivalent feelings that the child is having. And that they are perfectly reasonable feelings and the thing that I stress over and over again is that any feeling is legitimate, not any actions. The more horrible the feeling, the more legitimate, because it is more scarey and yet it is part of what makes you a human being. They are not all that bad, unless they are translated into actions where they can hurt either you or someone else, but you have to make a differentiation between what you think and what you do.

By validating and accepting feelings while controlling the child's action, the parent is able to address emotional needs (for confirmation and for love) while maintaining the safety of the children.

Level 1 - Instrumental

A. Reasons

- 1. Reducing parental discomfort
- 2. Controlling natural anarchy of child
- 3. Authority as a given

B. Methods

- 1. What works
- 2. Giving up
- 3. Discipline for the deed

A. Reasons

1. Reducing parental discomfort--Behavior that offends, annoys, or creates unpleasantness or trouble for the parent motivates the exercise of discipline or authority in an effort to stop that behavior.

WHY DO YOU THINK CHILDREN NEED TO BE DISCIPLINED?

I think they should. It can be embarrassing if you are out in a crowd or something or a child that has a tantrum over something small. But I don't think it is small. I think what Joe does, this is bad, is something that could lead really into trouble. Like I take him out shopping—if he goes into something, you know, that would be—I don't know what the store manager would say to me, but this is really bad, you know. I don't know what I am going to do but slap his hand—grab his hand and slap it. I do different things and he won't cry or nothing, you know.

WHAT DO YOU FIND HARDEST TO PUT UP WITH?

They don't clean their rooms. I can't get them to clean their rooms.

HOW DO YOU HANDLE THAT?

Well, I scream at them and once in awhile—lately it got to a point where I thought I was too harsh with them—my yelling at them all the time—so I finally went in the room with a plastic bag, gathered up everything and put it in the basement, out of sight, out of mind. It was hard picking up all their stuff, having it about, so I just put it in the basement and I just maybe left one or two toys for them to play with.

HOW DO YOU THINK THAT WILL WORK?

Now the room is still a mess. There are school papers all over the floor. (So I elminated the toy situation—that they didn't pick them up—and now I have a problem with papers.) It seems like they bring home 10 or 15 papers a day from school, and one minute they may have it bundled up and the next minute it is on the floor, all spread out. So you know what is going to happen with that—in the wastebasket—just throw away the papers, I suppose.

The parent at Level One is not concerned about changing or improving the child, he or she is concerned to eliminate the frustration.

Teaching the child to be neat, for example, is not considered in the second example, only removing the toys or papers, which the parent cannot tolerate.

2. Controlling natural anarchy of child--Many parents at Level One believe that the child's natural tendency is to go wrong, and justify discipline and authority as necessary to control the child's natural anarchy.

IF YOU DIDN'T HAVE WAYS OF PUNISHING THEM, WHAT DO YOU THINK WOULD HAPPEN?

I think they would overrule us. First of all, I think that is what we would have done to our parents if our parents weren't strict with us--try to rule them. And

a lot of kids today do that, too. Like parents say I am going to do a lot for my kids that wasn't done for me. And what things do you get for that—nothing—because I will tell you now, I am grateful that my parents were the way they were.

WHY WERE YOU GRATEFUL?

Why? Because I think it made me grow up and I think it gave me responsibility, and I feel that this is something that they should have because why should they go through life wanting and having it handed to them—we never had it handed to us—it never hurt us by making us grow up, so I don't feel I would hurt them and let them grow up a little bit.

SO YOU FIND YOUR DIFFERENT CHILDREN NEED DIFFERENT WAYS OF DEALING WITH THAT?

Yes. Because whereas one may need a certain punishment the other one won't get that punishment. It might not work out, because he could care less. I have a large closet - with a light in it - and I will say go in the closet and sit in there and I tell them they have to read that book, but they have to be alone, they won't be able to talk to anybody. They don't like that. Especially B does not like that. Whereas the others, not watching a television program that I know they want to watch is better. I feel bad that I am not going to let them watch it, but I have to do it, and that's it.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT IS SO IMPORTANT?

Because they will begin to think, she let me get away with this, so I think I can get away with it if I keep at it. And when children are very small, I find with my children, they will ease right on up till they get their way.

Parents may see themselves and their children as engaging in a struggle for control or for supplies and unless the parent exerts more powerful control, the child will take from him or her.

3. Authority as a given--Authority is not questioned, but is reasoned to be necessary because it is there, or because it is given by parenthood.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

Naturally they have to have someone in charge of them, they are growing themselves and they have to learn, and they have to mind someone and it has to be their mother or their father.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT TO LEARN?

They will always have somebody over them. Even if they are president of their company, they will have somebody over them, so they have to learn to obey.

WHAT DO YOU FIND HARDEST TO PUT UP WITH?

Discipline, because in school they are taught as little individuals with their own minds, and to speak up what is on their minds and at home I don't like that. I tell them to do something, and oh, we don't have to, we don't have to do that.

HOW DO YOU HANDLE THAT?

I just tell them they are going to do what I tell them to do when they are at home and they mind me.

Parents at Level 1 often reason that parental authority is absolute, and that the child should be unquestionably obedient.

B. Methods

l. What works--Methods are chosen because they are successful in changing behavior the parents finds undesirable. The criterion for success is elimination of the behavior, not change in the child.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR CHILDREN TO MIND YOU?

Threatening them with a spoon. I have one of those spoons with the little holes, to strain peas and things, so I take that and I say if you don't be good, I am going to beat you with it. And they usually behave when they see it. I don't use it, but when they see it they usually behave.

HOW DOES THAT SEEM TO WORK?

They do mind, up to a certain point, and then they say, mommy is not going to spank me, so I will start all over again.

WHY DO YOU USE THAT METHOD?

It seems to be about the only method that works.

DO YOU THINK IT IS THE BEST WAY?

Well no, but I don't know of any other way that works as good.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR CHILDREN TO MIND YOU?

Reverse psychology.

HOW DOES THAT WORK?

Good. I say Kyle, do something and he says, I can't do it, and I say, you just can't do it, and he'll go to do it.

WHAT IDEAS DO YOU HAVE ABOUT WHY THAT WORKS?

Because I used to tell him to do something and he used to get aggravated and he would give me a hard time, so I change it around and I have no problem. I just agree with him that he can't do it. I say you're a little baby and can't do things like that. Okay, big boys can do it. He can do things like that, it is ridiculous.

DO YOU FEEL THAT IS THE BEST WAY?

For the time, yah, it is the only thing I know that is working.

NOW YOU DO SOMETHING DIFFERENT?

Yah, we punish them, we found that punishing them is a lot better.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY PUNISHING THEM?

Sending them to their room, take things away from them, just take their privileges away from them completely.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT WORKS BETTER?

I really couldn't say, but they seem to listen because they know that things are going to be taken away from them.

WHY DO YOU THINK THIS WORKS BETTER THAN THE LICKINGS?

I don't know, just taking something away from them, what they really want, or sending them into their rooms to miss a program that they want to watch, this is the sort of punishment I think works because in general you are taking something away from them that they really want to do. Or if they want to play a game, and I refuse to play a game with them because they are not listening, this sort of aggravates them to think, I am not going to get away with not listening so she won't play with me, but if I still do it, she still won't play and she is going to send us in our rooms. I really couldn't explain why.

DO YOU FEEL THAT THIS IS THE BEST WAY TO GET YOUR KIDS TO MIND YOU?

Well, we tried everything, making them stand in a corner. We have never abused them; I would give them a licking in the leg or something else, we have had them standing in the corner or do errands more than they are supposed to do, something like that. And it went in one ear and out the other, it didn't faze them one way or the other. But by depriving them of things, I find this works more.

Different methods can be employed, as the examples illustrate,

Although fear of painful consequences, such as physical pain, or the
loss of something valued is usually reasoned to work best, parents
at Level 1 may also describe using reward to change behavior.

2. Giving up--Because parents at Level 1 do not have a unified conception of what motivates child behavior, when the parent is not instrumental in changing behavior, he or she may simply be at a loss about what else to do. This can be expressed as giving up.

WHAT KINDS OF THINGS DO THEY WANT TO DO?

They want to go to parties and you wouldn't want them to go, or you wouldn't want them to do this and they figure they are old enough to do it, and they sometimes look at what someone else is doing and they want to do it too.

HOW DO YOU HANDLE THAT?

I just get myself down and say there is no sense fussing and fighting. I just let them go and try to be cool and calm because if I fuss and worry about it, it would just upset me more. If they want to do it, they are going to do it anyway, so I just leave them alone.

DO YOU THINK THAT IS THE BEST WAY?

Well, if you fuss and fight and you don't want them to go, and they would not go, then there will be this attitude in the house, because they will be always mad, because you won't let them do what they want to do, so you are always arguing in the house. But I say if they want to go, you know, let them go. I don't think it is the best way really, but that is the only way I can deal with it. If I tell them they can't go, they are fussing and fighting and they might try to go, or they might try to run off or something and cause a whole lot of problems, so I just let them go.

EVERY PARENT HAS TO FIND SOME WAY TO GET CHILDREN TO DO WHAT THEY WANT THEM TO DO. AND NOT TO DO WHAT THEY FEEL THEY SHOULDN'T DO. WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO MAKE YOUR CHILDREN MIND YOU? DO YOU WANT TO TALK ABOUT THE YOUNGEST?

This is the only young one I have really. Really I never had no problem when they were younger. It is now that they have reached - there is one 19, and I figure she can go out, because she is old enough, and the one

turned 16 in February, I figure she still has a little time, but she thinks because the one 19 can go, she wants to go too. And she is taller than the one that is 19 and she feels because the others go that she wants to go too and it is always a hassle when I don't want her to go. So there is a fight. So she tries to bring herself up to the others, because they all go so the only one that is there is the small one. She is different, she tries to bring herself up to the bigger ones so she can go out too, and she used to be mad when I don't want her to go and it is all a problem, so I just let her go.

Giving up is found most frequently when children are older, when the parent does not have the authority, age and superior strength to maintain control over the child.

3. <u>Discipline for the deed</u>--Motives, intentions, or values are not considered at Level 1. Punishments, then, are meted out for the crime, and not the intent.

SO THE FATHER FEELS JIMMY IS STILL WRONG, EVEN THOUGH HE FINALLY TOLD THE TRUTH. WHAT SHOULD THE FATHER DO?

If that was my situation, I would have to punish him. I would have to find a very severe punishment for just the idea of lying to me, because I think I have built up the kind of understanding with my kids, don't lie to me, let me know before somebody else tells me.

WHAT ABOUT HIS HAVING TOLD THE TRUTH?

The big thing is that he lied, and lying has to be punished.

WELL WHAT DO YOU FIND THE HARDEST TO PUT UP WITH?

Well, the fighting and bickering all the time.

WHY DO YOU THINK THAT IS SO HARD?

Like they seem to want to hurt each other, kick each other and pull each other's hair and bite each other.

HOW DO YOU HANDLE THAT?

Well, sometimes I slap them. Other times I take them and stick them in their room.

HOW DOES THAT SEEM TO WORK OUT?

Not too well, as soon as I go out of the room, they start all over.

Rather than trying to understand what is causing the fighting, this parent simply punishes it (with the same behavior the parent wants to stop). Promoting better feelings between the siblings is not considered.

Level 2: Conventional Value-orientation

A. Reasons

- 1. Preparation for the outside world
- 2. Teaching standards and instilling values

B. Methods

- 1. Fitting age or type of child.
- 2. Explanation and internalization
- 3. Considering intentions

A. Reasons

1. Preparation for the outside world--At Level 2, parents justify the use of discipline and authority as necessary to prepare the child for what he or she will encounter later in life. The parent is concerned for the child's well-being and uses his or her own experiences and knowledge of what one needs to survive to define what kinds of discipline and authority children need in order to be prepared for the world.

HOW DO YOU THINK YOU WILL GET YOUR CHILDREN TO MIND YOU', AND DO WHAT YOU FEEL IS RIGHT?

Well, I suppose punishment, reprimanding. I was brought up very strictly; my husband and I were both brought up very strictly and I think that is the best way. Of course, that is the only way I know.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT IS THE BEST WAY?

Because I never regretted it. When I was growing up I thought my parents were too strict, but now that I am older and a parent myself, I can appreciate what they did for me, because I know a lot; I learned a lot from them, I experienced a lot and I can handle situations properly when I am faced with them.

WHAT WAS IT LIKE, WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY STRICTNESS? WHAT WOULD YOU MEAN BY STRICTNESS AS A PARENT?

First of all respect. I want him to have respect for me. I don't expect to have him talk back to me. I know there will be occasions for that, but I hope to keep it down to a minimum, things like that. Doing the things that I say. If I say to be home at such and such time, then I expect it, unless there is - I don't mean right to the letter of the time, but unless there is a reason or an excuse, things like that. Overall general rules because I believe that when you are growing up you need rules and regulations to guide you so that when you are out on your own, you will learn how to conduct himself, I think that is important.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT IT IS IMPORTANT TO MAKE SURE A CHILD KNOWS HIS PARENTS ARE IN CHARGE?

My wife was brought up strict, and so was I, and really to survive I think you have to get the can's and cannot's down now. Rather than wait until he gets into something which would bring hurt on her and myself and also bring hurt upon himself also. I guess it is the way the world is.

IT IS A HARD WORLD?

Yes, it is, it is really hard now.

IF THE WORLD HE WAS GOING TO GROW UP IN WAS NOT SO HARD, ON THE STREET, THERE WERE NOT PROBLEMS THAT THERE ARE, THAT THE KIDS CAN GET INTO, DO YOU THINK YOU MIGHT BE LESS STRICT?

I don't think so. (W): Because like I said, it is the chance you have to take, for knowing what world you are going to be in, so let him come up the way you want him to be, and then when he gets older he will be part of it, and he will face life and how people really are. People are never going to change, you can't get nothing the easy way. You have to earn it for yourself.

Strictness is not seen as harsh, but as kind. It keeps the child from painful difficulties later in life. Unlike Level 1

reasoning, which concerns specific events and behaviors, Level 2 reasoning considers discipline and authority as preparing for the future functioning of the child.

2. Teaching right from wrong and instilling values—
Parents at Level 2 reason that discipline and authority are
used to teach correct behavior and values. Methods are advocated on the basis of their power to impress this message on children.

SUPPOSE MR. F. DID NOT READ DIARY . . . SAT J. DOWN . . . J SAID YES DAD, I DID. HOW WOULD MR. F. FEEL THEN AND WHAT SHOULD HE DO?

First he should maybe ask him why he did it, explain to him he should have some punishment for what he did because it was wrong and decide on it when he goes to court. If he is not punished by the courts, he should be punished by his father.

WHY WOULD PUNISHMENT BE IMPORTANT?

He has to know the difference between right and wrong, if he is 15, he should know that he was wrong to do it, so it doesn't make sense to explain to a 15 year old child this is why you shouldn't do this or this is why you shouldn't do that and I think maybe a stronger punishment would be better.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO MAKE HER MIND YOU?

Religion, we are Orthodox Muslims, not Black Muslims and she believes in God and I tell her, what you are doing, do you think God would be pleased with it. I mean it is up to her to make up her own mind because she is aware of who God is and she wants to go to heaven and I say there are things you don't do and if you want to go to hell there are things you do do, so it is your choice. If she wants to continue doing it, she will have to pay the consequences for it and I explain to her that on this earth that is stealing or something you will get arrested, and in some countries they will cut your hand off, like in Arabia, and in

this country you will go to jail and you will die and God will talk to you and say why did you take something that was not yours. Depending on the situation and she is very intelligent, and if she stops or says she doesn't care, then she can go ahead and do it. But if she is hurting herself, then I will have to stop her by force. But other little things, whatever she might be doing, that is not detrimental to herself or another person s well being, then go ahead and do it. If she wants to tear up her homework paper or things like that. If you go to school tomorrow, the teacher is going to ask you what happened to your paper and if you get a D, don't come home crying because she wants to be a nurse and you are not going to be a nurse like that. If you tear up your paper and what not. So she comes back and she says I am sorry, will you help me do my homework.

HOW WELL DOES THAT SEEM TO WORK?

It works pretty well.

DO YOU FEEL THAT THAT IS THE BEST METHOD?

Yes. (WHY?) Because I believe in God.

Different parents may refer to different sets of values or standards, or their values may derive from differing sources.

They all appeal either implicitly or explicitly to higher authority, whether it be society's code or God's rule. Children may be offered choices but the choices are to follow the rules and be correct, or not to follow the rules and suffer the punishment.

Neither children nor parents participate in the formulation of standards and values.

B. Methods

1. Fitting age or type of child--

At Level 2 children are understood to respond to different

approaches. Some children need and respond to praise and rewards in order to change their behavior.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR CHILDREN TO MIND YOU?

With different ones it is different things. Some, praise works like a charm. I have a couple, all you have to do is say a few nice things to them and they will fall all over themselves to do something for you. Other ones, you have to do it, this is it. You get to know each person as an individual and you get to know what works with this one and that one, and you know your own kids, everyone knows their own kids and you know what will go and what won't go. Some kids are so easy to bring up and some kids are so hard. Some fight you the whole way; I say two of mine are harder than the rest.

WHAT HAVE YOU RELIED ON FOR THEM?

Really, with the oldest one and the younger one too, I find praise, they seem to say things and do things, I don't know, but it seems like you have to be a little more lavish with praise with them and as I say with both of them I find that being nice to them works. Now, with the oldest, the one that is 22, I find to get him to do what I want him to do, that I have to — I can never get angry, because angry you lose him completely, he is gone, but you can talk to him in a nice way and come around it in a nice way, what you want, and you will get it, but you have to come around it and work up to it in a nice way. You can't just say do it.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO MAKE CHILDREN MIND YOU?

My understanding and stuff, because she doesn't quite understand what I am saying yet, so I just have to show her like this you can do and this is no. So I slap her on the hand a little bit. I say no like five times and then I slap her on the hand, and then she realizes I am not supposed to do that, and if I do that, I get it. And if she does something good, I give her a kiss or something nice. Because at this age there has to be rewards for good and punishments for bad. You can't say I really don't want you to do that, because she doesn't understand. That is what you have to do right now, because she is at this age. Maybe in about 4 or 5 years I could try to reason with her instead of using that method.

The importance of using positive as well as negative methods for every child may also be expressed, both because the child may respond better to one or the other method in different situations or at different ages, but also because the parent is concerned about the child's feelings and needs.

2. Explanation and internalization—As the reason for discipline and authority at Level 2 is not just to change behavior, but to instill standards and values which will guide the child's action in the future, the child's understanding of the reasons for punishment are considered central. The parent explains why what the child is doing is wrong, in order to ensure the inclusion of the parent's standards into the child's developing value system.

WHAT METHOD DO YOU USE OR WHAT IS THE BEST WAY TO GET CHILDREN TO MIND PARENTS?

As far as my children and as far as my children in school - my children are teenagers, and they go to school since they were 4 1/2 or 5 years old. To me children are children, I don't care if they are young or if they are older. They still have to be handled at an age level where they understand. I get my children together, I talk with them. I try to make them understand why whatever situation came up, that they were doing wrong at, or that I did not like. I will explain to them the reason why they shouldn't do it and my explanation is always a reason why. You don't ever tell them you don't do that without a reason. There is a reason to everything. By them knowing your reason, maybe they will understand it more.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR CHILDREN TO DO WHAT YOU WANT THEM TO AND NOT TO DO WHAT YOU DON'T WANT THEM TO?

We explain everything and explain what's good and what's not good and we tell them, we preface, this is good and go on to explain why, whatever, and he can make a

decision as to whether he is going to go along with it or not and then we will explain and try to reinforce our ideas.

WHY IS EXPLAINING IMPORTANT?

So they will know themselves what is right and what is wrong.

At Level 2, parents understand values and standards as being absolute. What is right is universally right, has been passed on by the parent to his or her own child. Parents may recognize that different children need to be handled differently. (They still have to be handled at an age level where they understand).

3. <u>Considering intentions</u>—Parents at Level 2 recognize that there may be various intentions for behavior and these intentions may be considered when disciplining a child.

IS THAT THE BEST WAY TO DEAL WITH THINGS, OR ARE THERE OTHER THINGS THAT MIGHT BE BETTER, LIKE HITTING THEM? WHAT DO YOU THINK OF OTHER WAYS OF DEALING WITH THEM?

I do on occasion give them a shot, if it is something they know better and it's something they do.

IF IT IS SOMETHING THEY SHOULD KNOW, YOU GIVE THEM A SHOT.

Not something they should know, something they do know. They might need a little physical disciplining instead of talking to them. I go beyond the talking stage at that point.

WHY WOULD YOU FEEL THAT WAS BEYOND THE TALKING STAGE?

In some instances, if one was to throw a rock through a glass window in a house, they know it is wrong, altogether wrong, and they are taught that that is wrong, you don't do things like that. At the age they are at, with the upbringing I feel you have given them, they know the difference, and when they know they should not have done it, they deserve a whack.

SUPPOSE HE DID NOT READ DIARY, ASKED J. . . . J SAID I DID. HOW WOULD MR. F FEEL THEN AND WHAT SHOULD HE DO?

Then he should at least commend the child for his honesty and have a minor punishment, since the child did admit it and the child is honestly sorry for it. It should be a minor one and if the kid says yah, I did, what do you care, what do you want to make of it, then there should be a stricter punishment. But if the child is honest enough to tell you and squirms, and obviously tells you kind of guilty about it, that is good, you are bringing your child up the right way, he is honest enough to tell you.

How a child responds after the deed is also important. As the parent is concerned about the child's values, an indication on the child's part that he or she accepts the parent's values even though the behavior was value-discrepant, will elicit a different parental response than an unrepentant or unconcerned child.

Level 3: Personal Value-oriented Growth

A. Reasons

- 1. Developing personal awareness and values
- 2. Developing social awareness

B. Methods

- 1. Addressing causes
- The relationship as a method
- 3. Discriminating punishment and correction

A. Reasons

1. <u>Developing personal awareness and values</u>—At Level 3, parents are concerned about the internal processes by which children develop and judge standards and values. The reason for socialization is not just internalization of externally defined values, but the development of personal, internally defined values.

WHY DO YOU FEEL TALKING IS THE BEST WAY?

Let me give you an example. Two kids that I babysit for, they are good, they are 4 and 5 and I have permission to slap them or hit them, do whatever I have to do to correct them, but I feel that hey I have better luck with talking to them, find out why they are doing something, more than scolding. Hitting is more, you have to do what I say because I said so, not because you want to, which is more of what I want. I want them to behave as they want to.

I HAVE THE IMPRESSION THAT IF YOU WERE MR. FOX THE "WHAT SHOULD WE DO NOW" IS THAT YOU WOULD FEEL YOU HAD TO HELP THE CHILD, SUPPORT THE CHILD RATHER THAN PUNISH THE CHILD?

No, I think he should be punished in some way, what way, I really couldn't say. It would depend on a number of circumstances along the way, how it all evolved and if it was a long drawn out affair. If he constantly said no, no, no, I didn't shoplift or

whatever, I think the punishment might be a little bit greater, than if he just came out the next day and said I have been wrestling with this in my mind and I have something to tell you, and take it from there.

WHY WOULD THAT MAKE A DIFFERENCE?

I think the shorter interval would say to me that the child realized what he had done, and it was not the right thing and he confessed to it because he felt inside that he was big enough and man enough and had his pride or whatever and he had to just go on from that point and just go along making himself a little better person, if he just kept wrestling with it, yes, no, yes, no, he is not as strong as he actually thought he was, he had a little bit more to learn in the situation.

How a parent responds to the child is guided by how the child is dealing with himself, with how the child is using experience for the development of his or her own character and judgment.

2. <u>Developing social awareness</u>—Parents are concerned that children come to understand the consequences of their acts for others, as well as the consequences of others' acts for them.

LET'S GET BACK TO THE SUBJECT OF DISCIPLINE. WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE BEST WAY TO GET A CHILD TO MIND YOU? Talking.

WHY IS THAT THE BEST WAY?

Because first of all, you ask questions and you find out why they did it and they tell you I broke it because you weren't paying any attention to me. So you find out, what attention did you want me to pay, I was busy too. And it is more apt to after I finish this, then we will sit down and we will have this big long talk about anything you want to talk about, play any game you want to, and I am finding out, like if it is just I felt like breaking it, okay, I just feel like hitting you right now, so how about if I do that. No. Why not? Because if you hit me it will hurt. You hurt me by breaking my vase. A situation like that.

Discipline and authority are part of a social process where the child develops social awareness through the socializing experience with a parent. The concept of the processes is developmental. Awareness evolves through experience, it is not directly taught.

B. Methods

1. Addressing causes—At Level 3, the parent reasons that behavior has a cause, and that in order to change behavior, its cause, rather than its manifestation, must be addressed. The "reason why" the parent addresses at Level 3 is less the parent's interpretation and more the child's clarification. It is more than direct intention or motivation. It is why the child intends or is motivated as he or she is.

CONTINUE STORY . . . YES DAD, I DID. HOW WOULD MR. FOX FEEL AND WHAT SHOULD HE DO?

He did in fact shoplift. I think he might ask his son why, why did you tell me no, in the first place, and now you are changing your mind, what has made you think twice about your first answer and now you are changing it. Have a discussion around that and see what he says and then take it from there.

WHERE WOULD YOU TAKE IT?

Well, that would depend on the boy's reasons. If he had been scared, we would talk about being scared, and I might bring up a time when I was scared, and how we can cope with it better, and why he was scared, was it something in our relationship.

THE QUESTION RELATES TO DISCIPLINE, WHAT YOU RELY ON, TO SET LIMITS AND WHAT YOU DO TO HAVE YOUR CHILD DO WHAT YOU FEEL IS ACCEPTABLE AND WHAT YOU FEEL IS NOT ACCEPTABLE?

Well, if you are getting at the physical discipline issue, at least part of it, that is part of it.

HOW DO YOU DEAL WITH THE TASK OF GUIDING YOUR CHILD?

I would say that neither S. or I use any physical discipline at all with the kids, although I have been tempted, to be honest. I was spanked with a hairbrush on 3 or 4 occasions as a child and my feeling is that in the case of a child like J. that would really be a mistake. (WHY?) Because I think that very often when he does things for which one would want to discipline him, as I say, he is very angry, he's got feelings inside that he is trying to deal with and my feeling is that invading his own person, offering insult to his own person, wouldn't do anything but simply make him more angry and more frustrated. I think the role with him is to try to get him to get his emotions out as best as possible and not to do anything to keep them inside. So I guess what we try to do with both kids, or at least try to do with him, is to teach by example. One of the things, you don't want to be telling him not to be hitting his sister and then hit him because he hits his sister, or that kind of thing. If it is around snacks between meals, or having cookies, we try to teach him, we try ourselves not to eat in between meals, or having cookies, we try to teach him, we try ourselves not to eat in between meals, so that at least he doesn't learn those kinds of behaviors.

Children as individuals with their own ways of feeling and responding are the focus of parental intervention and authority. The parental implies that he or she must know his or her own child as an emotional indvidual in order to deal effectively with the child.

2. The relationship as a method--Parents frequently understand children's behavior as reflecting qualities of the parent-child relationship. To address causes of undesirable behavior, qualities of the relationship must be examined and remediated.

MR. FOX SHOULD TELL HIM IF HE READS HIS DIARY?

No, he shouldn't. A child has his privacy you know. And he would hurt anyone if he were to take the diary

and read it and find that Jimmy and I and 7 more guys went to Zayre's and we shoplifted, and see what we could get away with. I don't think a parent has to say that I looked in your diary and you did this and that, but he can get involved and if he does read it, talk to Jimmy, and try to find first what caused it, and if he did do it and I feel if they get involved deep enough with the child, caring, sharing, doing this and that, kids are not hard, and they have needs. And if mom and pop get in there and have a little affection there, a little caring, sharing, I think he would get out of it as far as hanging out with those kids and getting into trouble.

YEVERY PARENT HAS TO GET CHILDREN TO MIND. WHAT DO YOU DO, WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR OLDER BOY TO MIND YOU?

His father for one thing. Most of the time when he gets into real trouble, I always send him to his father. I feel a man can handle a little boy better, I feel he understands him more. He will try to listen to his father more than he will his mother, because he is more close to his father. I handle it that way, send him to his father.

Not only is the relationship an intervention, as in the first example, but discipline takes place within the context of a relationship, and the closer the relationship, the more meaningful and effective the discipline and authority.

3. Discriminating punishment and correction—At Level 3, parents may recognize that punishment and correction are not necessarily the same. An angry parent may strike a child, but that action does not necessarily correct the behavior; and teaching a better behavior to the child does not necessarily satisfy an angry parent's desire for the child to experience a negative consequence for a negative act.

DO YOU FEEL HITTING TEACHES CHILDREN TO MIND?

The question is whether the child will accept hitting as a method of correction. I don't believe that a child would. I believe that a child would accept it as a method of punishment, not as a method of changing something. It just shows who's bigger and stronger.

The emphasis, which is characteristic of Level 3 reasoning, is on how the child <u>understands</u> the experience, rather than on what the parent does.

Level 4: Systems-oriented Development

A. Reasons

1. Responding to needs for flexible structure to allow for growth.

B. Methods

- 1. Considering a hierarchy of factors
- 2. Negotiation

A. Reasons

1. Responding to needs for flexible structure to allow for growth—The child is conceptualized developmentally and certain physical and emotional needs and capabilties must be addressed when they are developmentally relevant in order for other kinds of growth to take place. The focus goes beyond causes and values to consider issues concerned with the larger developmental and relationship process in which the issue of discipline and authority is understood to be embedded.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR CHILDREN TO MIND YOU?

Well, we certainly have rules, but they are rules that we have come to together as a family. I have very reasonable expectations of the children, they know what they are. They know that the expectations are based not on arbitrariness on my part or my husband's, but on sensible precautions, precautions for their health or for their safety or for their emotional safety. When they were very small, I told them that I would smack them for 3 reasons only and I told them ahead of time it would be for standing up in the high chair, standing up in the bathtub or standing up in the moving car. And those were the only reasons I would smack them and let them know I would smack them. Then we added a fourth when they were a little older about crossing the street alone, but as soon as they were ready I said, I will no longer do it, smack them because this is not necessary anymore.

WHY DID YOU TELL THEM IT WASN'T NECESSARY ANYMORE, WHAT DID YOU MEAN IT WAS NOT NECESSARY?

I think rules are a guideline for a certain time in your life and there are times when you no longer need those rules and there are times to get go of the rules.

WHY, WHAT DOES THAT DO FOR THE CHILD, WHY DO YOU LET GO OF THE RULES?

Because rules are a means to an end and if the end has been achieved, then you let go of the rule, they are not necessary anymore.

WHAT DO YOU DO TO GET E. TO MIND YOU?

It depends on E. What he seems to be asking for at different times in his life. Right now, he's been testing me a lot. He seems to be asking for controls.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

Children test you to see how much they can get, how much freedom they can get, and to know their boundaries. Yet it is a pull both ways. E. is trying to test me, plus he wants my comfort and attention and concern. I think if I do control him, he knows I am concerned. Deep down inside he knows that it is for his own good. He can still want something and know that it is dangerous, and be grateful at some level to a person for telling them it is for their own good not to do that.

This parent recognizes that discipline and authority are not simply an imposition of parental will, but are part of a process of interaction between parent and child where the child and parent may elicit certain patterns of relating from each other in response to their perceptions of needs and capacities to provide and to respond. This is seen as a reciprocal process which is subject to change as the child and the relationship develops.

B. Methods

l. Considering a hierarchy of factors——At Level 4, parents may recognize that behavior represents the integration of several interacting factors. In order to identify how he or she would respond, causal factors are weighed and parental

choices are judged in reference to human values as well as developmental needs, societal standards, and instrumental effectiveness.

WHAT SHOULD MR. FOX DO?

Do about what?

JIMMY, THE DIARY?

First of all, one thing at a time, he should not look in the diary, because he has no permission to look in the diary. Secondly, I think that he should go off alone with Jimmy, with or without his wife, I don't know, and talk with him about what happened. And talk with him about the facts. I think he should probably ask him directly, did you do this. It is perfectly possible that J. was so intimidated by the police and so threatened by the way they handled the situation, that his first instinct was to lie and one lies when one is uncomfortable and scared. If he had a good relationship with his father, he might be able to talk about it. If Mr. Fox was very threatened by the lecture and threatened by his parenting, then he might approach J. in a different way than if he had a good relationship with J. Whether J. stole or didn't steal is not the central issue, it is how do you deal with the threat and can you cope with it or can't you and then you get on to why you stole, if he did steal, but first of all, can a parent and a child communicate, can the child go to the parent, can the parent go to the child and will anything real come out of it, or is it, or it is just another standoff.

AND YOU FEEL THAT THE FATHER'S FINDING OUT FROM THE DIARY AND NOT FROM THE CHILD WOULDN'T ALLOW HIM THAT?

Well, it could undermine it, put it that way.

HOW WOULD IT UNDERMINE IT? HOW WOULD THE CHILD FEEL, WHAT WOULD HAPPEN TO THE CHILD?

He would feel that his father, again, was playing the authority. I don't know how the father would handle it. Maybe he would soft pedal it, may he wouldn't bring it up, but I don't think that the father deserves

that knowledge. In other words, I think he should go into a situation, into the situation, with the boy, the discussion, receiving only what the boy will tell him, when he will tell it to him.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN, HE DOESN'T DESERVE THAT, WHY NOT? HE IS HIS FATHER.

That doesn't give him a right to pry or to take information underhandedly. It is like bugging, it is like the bugging situation with the CIA. It is dishonest. It is underhanded. It's not straight and direct and straight on.

SOME PEOPLE WOULD SAY THAT THE FATHER HAS THE RIGHT BECAUSE HE HAS THE AUTHORITY.

Well, I don't know about that word authority. I don't know what that means in terms of parents. So I would say that nobody has the authority to pry into somebody's diary. Unless it were a criminal situation, where people are investigating. I guess legally, if it were a lawyer and somebody was under an indictment, that would be different, but this is a private situation. The father shouldn't have access to that book because the boy didn't give it to him.

Parent and child are both understood as being fully human, with the same basic human rights and individual autonomy. These rights should not be violated by anyone, parent or child alike.

2. Negotiation—The child takes an active part in the process by which family conflict is resolved and family and individual behavioral rules established. Active negotiation is not only a method for dealing with problems, it is also a process which contributes to the development of the child.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN, THEY WOULD ARGUE BACK THE POINT?

If they disagreed with me, they would say look, we would like to explain our point of view and sometimes they have a point of view which I had never taken into consideration and then I would also argue what I expect or say I have listened to you and it doesn't

seem to affect me very much, I still want you to do such and such. I find it very important, when a child is beginning to say something, not to interrupt them. And I have learned that they will say to me, "but listen mommy, "even if I know what they are saying. It is important for them to get the words out.

WHY?

Because I think they they feel that they have control over their environment, if they have said to me, if they have set out their sentence then I have heard what they wanted to say, from their point of view and they have been able to let me hear them. If I have cut them off in the beginning and said yes, I know you are going to say such and such, but it doesn't matter, I have found that that offends them very much.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR CHILD TO DO WHAT YOU WANT THEM TO DO?

Well, there has been such a change in this regard. I don't know. At this point I know I rely a great deal on what she can handle or how she feels about something.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

In other words, it isn't what I think about it, or how I feel about it, it's how she is going to receive it, receive the request, a request generally. So that I can begin to anticipate, project whether, how it will be executed. Now there are some areas in which I don't use enough forethought. This takes forethought on my part with her, on the parent's part and in the times where I don't, where I just make demands, the small household, day to day patterns in living, that things break down, that she doesn't do what I wish and that she is not doing it because she doesn't wish it, she is doing it because I wish it and because it's the way that I express the wish. Sometimes, it is not sometimes, for the most part, this approach works I think, between her and me; the fact that things can be discussed and established before, so that when I do make a request, it is something she has already agreed to do. I have already gotten positive feelings from, it is something she is comfortable with and able to agree to. She agrees with the need to do it, not to leave the toothbrush where the dog is going to get it, things like that, to take her dirty underwear out of the living room. But generally she is in agreement,

to close drawers. She leaves drawers open, rushing back to finish something. It is in these kinds of areas that we don't have as good a pattern as I think we will eventually. And I don't see in any other area that this is not working, it generally works.

WHY DO YOU THINK IT IS EFFECTIVE AND IMPORTANT THAT SHE COME TO AN UNDERSTANDING OR THAT SHE RECOGNIZE THE NEED FOR SOMETHING?

Then she is giving willful assent to it, then she has a part in it, that whatever must be done, or being done, is based on her perception and her thought process, her ability to evaluate it too. This recognizes her mind, her being, and doesn't make her feel catered to. It keeps her active, it develops her actively, instead of making her passive.

The child may participate directly by actively debating family issues, and/or he or she may participate indirectly by the nature of his or her responses. A baby, for example, would be reasoned to participate actively in the discipline process by the nature of its responses and how it elicits parental responses in the on-going parent-child interaction system.

Level 1: Parental Needs of the Child

- 1. To ensure desirable outcome.
- 2. Meeting needs as what the parent does
- 3. Needing control
- 1. To ensure desirable outcome--Parents recognize that children have needs, but their reasoning is instrumental. They meet the needs they perceive in order to effect the behavior they desire in the child.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED FROM THEIR PARENTS?
They need to be complemented so they will stay home until they are old enough.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

You have to look out for them. Give them care and attention, so they won't do too much of what they shouldn't do, and don't get into mischief, and get a good start in life.

Although these responses acknowledge the need for non-material supplies, the conception of needs is vague and stereotyped.

2. Meeting needs as what the parent does—Meeting needs is described in terms of the parent's actions, which are considered duties of parenthood, and not the child's satisfaction. The parent sees the process of meeting needs only from the parent's, and not from the child's, perspective.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Well, they need love, I think children need love from both their parents.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY LOVE?

The parents are supposed to keep them well and take them places, and doing for them and buying for them and spending time with them, and like my husband doesn't have the time, he doesn't show his love for them, playing with them like he should or being with them because he is so wrapped up in business.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THAT, HOW DO YOU SHOW CHILDREN THAT YOU LOVE THEM?

By paying attention to them.

WHY IS THAT WHAT YOU FEEL THEY NEED MOST?

Because you are their mother, that's why, they are depending on you until they become independent as they grow up, but right now they are depending on you and you had them for that reason, because you wanted a child so you take care of it.

Parents at Level 1 may focus on the effort they make as proof of their ability to respond to needs, rather than on the nature of what they do. Parents are "supposed" to perform certain duties. There is little sense in these responses of any conception of the nature of the child's needs.

3. Needing control--Because many parents who reason at Level 1 conceive of the child as natively uncontrolled, a belief in the need for control may be expressed.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST?

Children need love. Discipline is love. The parent should be easy-going, but they should put down the laws so that their child doesn't walk all over them. They have to do what we tell them to do. That shows them we care.

YOU FEEL CHILDREN SHOULD NOT HAVE EVERYTHING THAT THEY WANT?

No.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT IS BETTER?

To me it would make them a better person. (HOW COME?) If they grow up through life they are not going to get everything they want. If you start out with them, giving them everything that they want, they are going to keep on wanting everything.

WHY ISN'T THAT GOOD?

It is just not good because in some way it is going to come to the end and they will go ...

AND WHAT WILL HAPPEN?

If they didn't, they would be crying and if they were married they would be saying I wish I was back home and I feel it would be ...

The withholding of supplies, as well as the "giving" of discipline is understood as addressing a need, although the parent's need to control and the parent's conception of the child's need to be controlled are at times difficult to discriminate.

Level 2: Conventional Needs

- 1. Emotional needs for their own sake
- 2. Different needs for different ages and types of children
- 3. Needing to have needs met
- 1. Emotional needs for their own sake--At Level 2, parents do not have to justify meeting emotional needs as being instrumental to achieve a desired behavioral outcome. How children feel is sufficient justification for responding to emotional needs.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Love. (EXPLAIN?) Love, caring for them, doing things for them, getting them stuff, paying attention to them, not just ignoring them. Making them feel that they are needed more or less.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

It is an important thing in life. I can't see how a son or a daughter would be, if their parents did not love them very much and they were brought up in life, I think it would be very tough.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Love (EXPLAIN?) Just letting them know you love them, letting them know you care, and they - you are concerned about what they do and you just try to be the best parent you can.

WHY DO YOU THINK THAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT, WHAT IS THERE ABOUT CONVEYING THAT LOVE TO THE CHILDREN?

Because if children know they have love then they are secure.

WHAT DOES SECURITY DO FOR THEM?

Growing up with a feeling of security, it is hard for me to answer these questions, because I am alone. I haven't got a husband and a father, so this is why that is probably the most important thing to me, is love, because I had to be both mother and father all these years for them.

Needs are conceptualized as universal requirements, what all children need. Level 2 responses do not qualify or suggest how to qualify need conceptions so that they can address particular children's individual needs, although differences among different groups or types of children may be considered. Rather the children's experience of parental caring ("letting them know ...," "making them feel ...") is the necessary confirmation of the parent's effectiveness, not simply the parent's experience of having made an effort, as is expressed at Level 1.

2. Different needs for different ages or types of children-Developmental differences in how children understand the world and are able to deal with the world are considered when identifying needs. Children who are younger and whose experience is limited may have different needs from children who are older or more sophisticated.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL THAT CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

A lot of understanding and a lot of patience and love too. That is normal, of course the mother is going to love the kid. But a lot of patience and understanding because you have to realize they don't know what they are doing, they just say gee, that looks like fun and they don't realize it could hurt them or that you are just not supposed to do that. That is understood, she don't know any better, you have to teach her.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

They need a lot of attention, that's for sure. A lot, especially the younger ones. The older ones want money. I need some money for this, I need some money for that, but the younger ones, they like to go with you, no matter where you are going, attention. They want you to pay attention to the moment.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT DO YOU THINK?

I think they are just building character or whatever it is. They want to know what is going on and they like to travel with you if you are going somewhere. I have taken them in the past on some of the jobs I have gone on, where I was able to do it, and they liked it and enjoyed it and just want to be with somebody and do things.

DO YOU THINK THEY WANT TO BE WITH SOMEBODY OR YOU IN PARTICULAR?

No, I think they just like to do things, I think all children like to do things, they are very inquisitive, and they want to just go around, travel, see things, do things, and it just sort of gives them something to do, I guess.

The parent's understanding of children's needs does not appear to come from individual children's particular characteristics and demands, but from an external definition which is applied to children and hence, to the parent's child or another particular child.

3. Needing to have needs met--Children have needs for parenting above and beyond the fulfilling of particular needs. They need to know that their needs will be attended to. This provides a sense of security and importance that parents at Level 2 reason that all children need.

WHAT DO YOU THINK CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Love.

HOW DO YOU EXPRESS IT, HOW DO THEY GET IT, HOW DO THEY KNOW WHAT IT IS?

It is not like giving them what they want. It is be there when they need you. If they call you and say, mother, I did this at school, well sit down and listen, don't say I don't have time. And things they love to me I have to share with them, I have to share their problems and so all that, I feel there is love in there.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Love and attention. (EXPLAIN?) My cousin's wife had a baby boy. It is a month old and she lets him cry. In the first year a baby needs to know it is loved. In the first year I never let him cry. But now at night I do, but in 10 minutes I go in. They have to know security.

WHAT ARE YOUR IDEAS ABOUT WHY THAT IS SO IMPORTANT?

Because I am his mother and he will depend on me for so many more years. He depends on me and I just want him to know if he needs me I am there.

The parent's reasons for meeting needs derive from his or her conception of parent role responsibility, but with a unified notion of what needs in children parental action is responding to, rather than the parent-focused notion of "duty" expressed in Level 1.

Level 3: Individual Needs

- Learned through child
- 2. Need for personal instrumentality
- 3. Relationship needs
- 4. Need to be understood
- 1. <u>Learned through child</u>—At Level 3, the needs of the child as an <u>individual</u> are considered, and defining a child's needs requires attention to the individual child's characteristics, experiences, and/or communication. Different children may have different needs.

WHAT DO YOU THINK CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Love and time and they need to have their needs considered, that they can't be happy doing what we do and they can't be happy with the things that we want to make them happy. You have to look at them, and if they don't tell you you have to ask them, you have to try to find out, things you really have to keep asking and really trying to find out what they want and what is going on in their head. Talking too much is as bad as not saying enough. If I feel that I have lost touch with where he is at, I will sit down and talk and say what is happening and is everything alright and this and that. And if he wants to, he will tell me, and if I ask him if I am doing anything that he is mad at me for and if anything I am doing is upsetting him or making him angry, and if there is anything wrong, he lets me know and we just talk about it and we try to reach an opinion.

WHY DO YOU FEEL IT IS IMPORTANT FOR CHILDREN TO TELL THE TRUTH?

Because if they don't tell the truth, they won't let you know what is happening with them and if

you don't know you can't do the right thing for them. If you know what is happening, know how they feel and how they think, and where their priorities are, then you have a lot more advantage to make your decisions on concerning them and you would probably end up making better decisions for them and everyone is happier and you are all doing things to help each other. You might do something you think is really good for him, but you don't really even know your kid, because of some feelings you had or somebody else had. Do some things for your kid, take him to the circus or get him an animal. Like if you know your kid is honest and can talk to you and you know what is happening with him, you've got a better chance to know what he needs.

Because the parent's understanding comes from the child (as well as objective sources which may help inform his understanding), the quality of the parent-child relationship, and of parent-child communication, is inferred to be fundamental to an understanding of the child's needs.

2. Need for personal instrumentality—At Level 3, conceptions of needs may go beyond the framework of what the child needs from others for him or herself. They may also address needs of the child to be able to meet his or her own needs, or to be able to influence others so that they will be responsive to the child's needs.

WHY DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE FAMILY?

Because if they don't participate, then they are not part of the family. If you always make the decisions for them, then they are separate, they don't have a hand in your decisions, or even a partial knowledge of what is going on around, then they are not part of the family. You can't

make all the plans for a vacation, my husband and myself, and then at the last minute when you are leaving go and tell the kids, we are going on vacation. Then they are just tagging along, they haven't had a part in it. Some of their ideas are terrific, I have to admit. Sometimes they have ideas I didn't think of, they didn't think of, and if they had not participated they are not really part of it. We haven't heard what they would like to see or do, or their ideas.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT TO INCLUDE THOSE THINGS, THEIR IDEAS?

I don't know.

WHAT DOES IT DO FOR THE CHILDREN?

It gives them a sense of I'm here, don't pass me over, don't think I haven't got something to contribute, I'm here, and like I said, sometimes their ideas are terrific. Sometimes they think of things that I would not think of.

HOW WOULD JIMMY'S FATHER FEEL WHEN HE TOLD HIM

Naturally he would be upset, but if it was me I would say 'alright, you did it,' and I would try to keep a cool head and then go from there and try to straighten the child out.

HOW WOULD YOU DO THAT?

By talking to him.

WHAT WOULD YOU SAY?

Why did you do that in the beginning. You lied the first time. I would sit down and say my heavens, you get along so well here, and there is nothing you are actually wanting for, so what is is, what are your needs, what do you want?

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT IT IS IMPORTANT TO ASK HIM WHAT ARE YOUR NEEDS?

They have to have these needs, they have to feel that they belong to the family, they have to feel,

no matter how old they are, they have to feel needed, they have to feel wanted, they have to feel that they can tell us their needs and we will listen, will respect them and try to do something about them.

By acknowledging the need for and facilitating the expression of instrumentality, the parent is recognizing the child's basic need to be recognized as a person who counts, who contributes to his or her own experience, and who has a right to be heard and responded to.

3. Relationship needs—The importance of relation—ships to the child is acknowledged at Level 3, and the experience of certain kinds and qualities of relationships is reasoned to fill a basic need for affiliation and emotional exchange.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Love and understanding. Definitely love. I think no matter what else happens, if you feel that you are loved, then I think that is something. There are so many people who feel so insecure and unloved. And I think that is important to feel the love and then I think that the rest of it will be right behind it.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THE REST OF IT?

Understanding and respect and I think that as much as I want him to respect me, I should respect him as a little person.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THAT?

He is a little person now and there are things that he likes to do, to be by himself, he likes to play and if he is in the bathtub, I put him in our big bathtub and he splashes and he giggles and he loves it and he is having a lot of fun and I respect this and I let him stay in there until he is through playing and then when he is through I will dry him or do whatever else has to be done. I feel to let him splash and kick isn't going to hurt him at all and I have to respect his wishes. Even though he cannot say to me this is what I want to do, I can tell.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Love. What can I say - it all kind of revolves around the same thing. It starts with honesty from both parents. You say what can I give my children. I can give them myself, I can give them love, understanding, warmth, morals. My husband and I, he has his ways and I have mine, of getting across to the children. Of course, mothers get it across better sometimes because men are more removed, they spend more time away from the children and we are more involved . . . So that's what we give, and they give us their love and understanding and warmth, too. Perhaps it comes down to what we have as a family - we care about each other, and in that atmosphere, we can share ourselves.

Relationships are understood as an emotional need, and as the basis for allowing the meeting of other needs. The children are recognized as separate people whose separate reality is respected, even with very small children, as in the first example. Relationships are described affectively, in terms of feelings, closeness, warmth, respect, and not just in terms of fulfilled role obligations, or shared time and experiences.

4. Need to be understood—The child's knowing he or she is understood is reasoned at Level 3 to be as much a need as having needs responded to. This is more than taking the child's perspective, it is acknowledging the child's need to participate in the determination of their own needs and the manner in which the parents will respond to those needs.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Understanding. (EXPLAIN?) What their needs are, why are they crying, why are they asking these questions, why don't they like this person as opposed to that person, why do they like this toy as opposed to that toy. Things like that.

SO TRYING TO UNDERSTAND, A PARENT TRYING TO UNDERSTAND HOW THEY FEEL ABOUT THINGS. WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT THAT IS REALLY SO IMPORTANT? WHAT DOES THAT DO FOR THE CHILD?

I think that makes them feel as though they are understood, they can rely on someone, someone does want to help them, is listening, someone is there to help them in any way they need the help or the understanding, or whatever it is that they need, the love or whatever is needed at that point in time.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

To make them feel more self reliant, more self confident, know that they can do X, Y, and Z, and have X, Y, and Z backing them up, always falling back on something or someone.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL THAT CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Understanding. (EXPLAIN?) Try and see their point of view and their side of things, too, but just because I am a parent doesn't mean I am always right, but they will be parents someday too.

WHY IS UNDERSTANDING SO IMPORTANT?

You see their side of things, too and try to go along with what they think if it is within reason, your reason. You can't put them on the same equal plane as you, because you are a little advanced from them. But if you can see their point of view and understand a little of what they are talking about and they talk to the other kids and to you and you know a little bit of what they are saying.

By listening to the child, and trying to understand this child, the parent contributes to the development of the child's capacity to take care of him or herself.

Level 4: Psychological eed ystems

- Needs as processes
- 2. Need for awareness and acceptance of oneself and others
- l. Needs as processes—At Level 4, needs are defined as more than specific requirements of the child. Needs are processes which are part of development and/or part of the dynamic self-system of the child. Needs are spoken of in terms which imply continuing change and adjustment ("coping," "developing"), and which express a conception of the child as in a process of continual growth.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED THE MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

I think they need their time ... that is a big catch-all isn't it. In terms of how to deal with the world, they need to know how the parents deal with the world because that is how they are going to learn how to deal with it. Not necessarily about the world, but teaching them how to deal with the world.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT IS SO IMPORTANT?

Because I think it is the only think they don't pick up on their own, I suppose they do. But children when they first start having a social life, 2 or 3 years old, they don't have any method of coping most of the time, in situations around them. They don't have the emotional capability of dealing with it and coming out on top. I think they need to draw that from their parents training, how to deal with other children and how to deal with their feelings about the world.

And how to work their feelings into coping with the world so they can deal with their feelings and they shouldn't have to suppress their feelings. They should be able to work it in to what they have to cope with in the rest of the world.

WHY DO YOU FEEL IT'S IMPORTANT FOR CHILDREN TO MAKE CHOICES FOR THEMSELVES?

I remember that there was a child once that R. played with and I really did not like. I wished that she wouldn't be friends with her and I didn't do very much about it except to keep it as separate as I felt wise without separating This was a child who was very arrogant and very rude to her parents, and R. was sometimes shy and withdrawn and very good. The goodness troubled me at that time; she was too good I thought. But this child was very rude and that bothered me too, and one day R. said to me, 'I have learned so much from her. I have learned that when you talk back to your parents the world does not collapse.' It is not a benefit that I would have expected and I was so grateful for that other child and for my child to be able to take what she needed. She didn't need to take what I thought she was taking, she took what she needed, and I realize that the friendships that children have fill their needs. They may not be what I think their needs are, but what their needs are, and if I leave them alone enough they will work out alright.

Processes are recognized as a continually developing system of interaction and active balancing between one's evolving concept of oneself and one's experience of others. How one understands and deals with one's own feelings is connected with how one copes with the world. The most fundamental needs are expressed as processes at Level 4, because processes (developing capacities and capabilities) are the tools for living a life which can work to achieve satisfaction and to meet physical and emotional needs. The second parent describes the personal tools her child mobilized to draw from a relationship what she needed, even though the child and her mother may not have been consciously

aware of either the need (permission to accept that she need not always be 'good' in order to be loved by her parents or herself) or of the child's capacity to meet that need, which contributed to her continued emotional development.

2. Need for awareness and acceptance of oneself and others—At Level 4, parents recognize the complexity of the self, and the need to be able to acknowledge, accept, and to integrate different aspects of oneself and of others in order to deal effectively with life.

WHY IS HONESTY BETWEEN PEOPLE SO IMPORTANT?

Well, I think that honesty is the most important thing that you can have inside of yourself, and what I am trying to do is train the children to look inside themselves, to be honest with themselves even when it hurts very badly, even when they have to face things that they don't like, or they wished that they didn't know. But if you can face something and give it a name, in whatever terms you choose to name it, then you can cope with it, then you know what it is, it is not a bogey man. Beyond, you may not know the limits or the boundaries, but you can say yes, it's this; and that is why going back even to the Bible, it is very significant that God named the animals, that he gave them a name, not a monster or a four legged this. The myth is that he named them, because of the importance of being able to face things, face it with a kind of security that it would more or less be the same the next time you come across it. That's why, it is important to be accurate and honest.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Ego reinforcement. (EXPLAIN.) Positive reinforcement, you do this well, that was good, I like that. I don't know, if it isn't honest, it is not worth anything, it's got to be honest.

FIRST OF ALL, WHY IS THIS WHAT THEY NEED, AND SECONDLY, WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY HONESTY, AND WHY IS THAT SO IMPORTANT?

Well, it's only through honesty that all things can be accepted. Traits of the child as well as traits of the parent, because we all have weaknesses, we all have elements of doing and not doing, of positive and negative, of up's and down's. And then a child who is developing, who has so much to develop, can see his issues, his conflicts, his yeses and no's. His conflicts are part of all of life, I think, and he won't feel isolated from the whole life process that way.

Parents reason that <u>awareness</u>, even of painful aspects of oneself and of experience, is the basis for coping.

Knowing the elements allows one to be in touch with the process.

Level 1: Egoistic

- A. Learning parenting
 - Avoiding repeating negative childhood experiences
 - 2. Taking things as they come
- B. A good parent
 - 1. Has good children
 - 2. Acts better than other parents
 - 3. Makes an effort

A. Learning parenting.

1. Avoiding repeating negative childhood experiences—Many parents at Level 1 point to the traumatic nature of their own childhoods as providing parenting models they hope to avoid as parents.

HOW DO YOU HANDLE IT, THE PART THAT YOU FIND HART TO PUT UP WITH, LIKE GOING TO BED AT NIGHT, WHAT DO YOU DO?

When I get really aggravated I go in the bathroom and scream, and it lets out all of my animosity, so I won't be uncool with her. I do when she disobeys, and stuff, I will slap her hand a little and that's it, but I don't spank her and I don't yell at her, I don't want her to grow up, mommy is yelling at me. I want her to be my friend, so she comes to me and not the yoyo down the corner.

HOW DOES IT WORK OUT FOR YOU, WHEN SHE IS STAYING UP CRYING AND YOU GO IN THE BATHROOM AND SCREAM, DOES IT HELP?

Yah, it lets out my frustrations and then I am cool with her, I don't yell at her or hit her like other people can. Like there is a battered child syndrome and like my mother was a battered child and I was a battered child and I am making sure that she isn't, because I know it is not preventable, but it is in a way. It's been done to you and you do it to them. But I don't with her because I know it is bad and I don't want to do it.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT INFLUENCED THE WAY YOU ARE?

From my childhood, I had a little rough time with my parents. My father wasn't too good. After I started having children, I figured I wanted them to have certain things I didn't have in life, so I would try to help them achieve that, so after I got them, I just tried to help them the best way that I could. I know that a good education is good for them, so always I try to give them that and they never have too much clothes and things like that, good school, and the right thing to eat and things like that.

Parents frequently have little sense of how they are going to avoid a repetition of past experiences in the raising of their own children. In the first example, the parent protects her child from her anger by "letting it out" elsewhere, but offers little indication that she is able to understand or to deal with the origins of her anger. The alternative (to grandparent's treatment of parents) tend to be concrete ("good school, the right things to eat").

2. Taking things as they come — At Level 1, parents often cannot identify any particular influences, but report that they simply respond to things as they happen.

THE WAY YOU ACT AS A PARENT, HOW DID YOU LEARN THAT, DID YOU HAVE ANYBODY HELP YOU? BOOKS? WHAT DO YOU DO, WHAT DO YOU TURN TO WHEN YOU DON'T KNOW WHAT TO DO, THAT KIND OF THING?

I don't know, it just comes to me. I don't read books, I have nothing to go by, I just do the best that I can.

DO YOU HAVE RULES YOU FOLLOW AND THINGS YOU FEEL ARE IMPORTANT TO FOLLOW OR DO YOU TAKE THINGS AS THEY COME?

Take things as they come.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT?

I just fell into it naturally, I guess. Mark came along and we just took care of him.

The parent reveals little conception of how the child operates, and without a coherent conception of the child, is unable to anticipate the child's needs and actions or to develop patterns for parenting.

B. A good parent

1. <u>Has good children</u> -- A parent at Level 1 may reason that parents know they have done a good job because the children do what they want them to do.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE GOOD PARENTS?

That I couldn't tell you. I guess you have less warfare. I would suspect that if they are really good, no back talk or anything like that. I put myself in the lower category, because I get a little.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

By the way the kids act when they grow up, like they have respect for older people, so other people would say the mother teached them good and put respect on them when they were small. A lot of kids I have seen they go and smack their mother and that's not right. Mine tries and I try to stop her, she just raises her hand, but she won't put it down, she knows what she will get.

The child's behavior, which consists of concrete and observable actions is considered a direct expression of parental input. The child is good because the parent taught the child well.

2. Acts better than other parents— Parental competence may be evaluated by comparing how different parents treat their children. Parent A is a good parent because he or she treats his or her child better than parent B.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

Just look at the other parents around you and see how they treat their children and you can see if you are a good parent, judging by the way they treat their children. I know one parent has a five year old daughter watching a three year old son and that little girl is petrified if the boy gets out of sight and I have seen the parent knock her so hard across the face they knocked her glasses off. They don't watch them so good and the parents stay in bed till 12 in the afternoon and they don't get their breakfast until mommy and daddy are out of bed.

YOU TRY TO HAVE THINGS ORGANIZED FOR THE CHILDREN?

Right, they get their breakfast at breakfast time and they eat when they are supposed to and they have their chores to do, but they are not heavy responsibility. But a five year old child watching a three year old child is kind of a lot. Just by watching other people and seeing how other people raise their children.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY'RE DOING A GOOD JOB AS A PARENT?

By seeing how other parents treat their children.

WHAT DOES THAT TELL YOU?

Well, if you're doing better than anybody else, then you must be all right. For example, your children are well dressed, you take good care of them.

The parent does not have an abstract or ideal standard, but a concrete comparison of him or herself with other parents, usually whom he or she knows.

3. Makes an effort—Responses at Level 1 tend to focus on the parent's rather than the child's experience, and evaluate their performance on the basis of their effort, rather than its outcome in the child.

THIS IS A PARENT NOW?

Yah, and if you try to bring your child up right and your child refuses to listen, I don't feel that any parent should feel what did I do wrong. As far as the parent, as far as self discipline themselves, I think the parent should be easy going, but they should put the laws down and put their foot down, so that their child doesn't walk all over them. I will not stand a child walking over me, because if I feel that I am doing my best and if this child thinks that he is going to come in and start hassling me and pushing me around, when I am the one trying to take full responsibility for him and trying to bring him up right, I won't tolerate it and I feel that the child should also have respect for its parent. I feel this way, if the parent can show respect for them, why can't a child show respect for the parent.

HOW DOES A PARENT SHOW RESPECT FOR THE CHILD?

In different ways, not materialwise, because a lot of parents feel that they can buy things, and buy their children's love. But this isn't true because you can be poor as a churchmouse and never have anything. As long as you show that you care for them, to do the best that you possibly can for them, you keep them as clean as you possibly can, it doesn't have to be the best, but as long as you are showing some effort in taking care of this child, it is just your duty. It is something that our mothers and fathers had to do and they didn't have that kind of money and I don't think the child should expect it. Just accept it the way it is. As long as the parents are making an effort to take care of him.

THE POLICE OFFICER SAID THAT MR. FOX WAS TO BLAME FOR JIMMY'S GETTING INTO TROUBLE. HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT THAT?

Like I said earlier, you try to teach your children right from wrong at the very beginning. My grandmother always said to me, when you have a tree, when it is first new, you don't break that tree as it is young, it will bend over as it gets older. Which is true, because if you don't teach your kids right from wrong, when they are young, as they get older, they are going to be worse. So I don't really feel in an incident like that, that this policeman should have embarrassed her. Number one, because this child, if you say "no" and he says "yah," he is going to do it. He is fifteen years old and he should know right from wrong. If he knows this boy has been known to do things before, the kind of children he has been hanging with, he is just as responsible as they are, because you have tried to lecture him and you have tried to tell him that it is wrong, and he is not going to listen to you. I don't feel that it is the parents' fault.

If the parent does what he or she feels is parental duty, or all he or she can, the responsibility for the child's behavior no longer rests with the parent but with the child. This is an either/or conception. Credit or responsibility for the child's action lies <u>either</u> with the parent <u>or</u> with the child. The parent at Level 1 does not conceive of an interaction between parent and child.

Level 2: Conventional

- A. Learning Parenting
 - 1. Outside sources teach the right way
 - 2. By evaluating parenting models
 - 3. By observing children
- B. A good parent
 - 1. Raises children the right way
 - 2. Does the best (s)he can
 - Has happy children
 - 4. Teaches right from wrong

A. Learning Parenting

1. <u>Outside sources teach the right way-- Parenting is understood at</u>
Level 2 to be a set of skills which one has to learn. The skills include knowledge about the child, and the appropriate practices for correct child rearing. These are thought to be <u>acquired</u> skills, which must be learned from outside sources.

WHAT HAS BEEN THE MOST IMPORTANT THING FOR YOU AS A PARENT IN RAISING YOUR CHILDREN? WHEN YOU DON'T KNOW WHAT TO DO, DO YOU HAVE A BOOK YOU TURN TO, OR FAMILY? WHAT INFLUENCED YOU MOST AS A PARENT?

I think books, Jean, my husband is a French writer, I read many books about children. Friends help, too. Sometimes a friend of mine will tell me what I should be doing.

HAVE THEY HELPED YOU?

They help me to understand more. Sometimes I can ask Lucy for two months to do something, and maybe I was doing it when I was her age, when I was four, and I look in the book and see maybe I am asking her to do something she is not able to do at her age. I wasn't supposed to expect her to do at her age. So the books help me to be more patient with her, to control myself.

AT TIMES YOU DON'T KNOW WHAT TO DO, IF ONE OF YOUR CHILDREN DOES SOMETHING AND YOU DON'T KNOW HOW TO HANDLE IT, HOW DO YOU MANAGE?

I call up one of my girlfriends and ask her opinion. Most times if something like that happens I might weigh the situation and say maybe I could be wrong handling it this way so I will get some opinions of some of my other girlfriends, who have boys around the same age.

YOU FIND THAT HELPFUL?

I find it very helpful to talk over situations and get someone else's opinion, because I could be wrong.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT HAS BEEN THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE IN THE WAY YOU ARE?

I would have to say religion. I believe in God, that he expects certain things of a parent. That he entrusted me with another life and I have to do the best that I can to take care of that life that he gave me to take care of. And it is my child. I carried it for nine months, and each one of my chromosomes is in that baby. It is my responsibility to sacrifice and do what I must to make sure that the child is happy in life, because I say, he didn't ask to come here in the first place, and I didn't either, so while we are here, let's make the best of it. So religion, my parents, sisters, just watching other people. Some turned me off, and I said, I never want to be a mother like they are, really, or I could say that this could make me make up my mind that I do want to be like that, reading books and what not.

Knowledge may come from different sources for different parents, from friends, books, magazines, scriptures, movies, television, grandparents, and so on. The source of learning is not important for scoring, but the concept of parental knowledge as being exclusively acquired from sources external to the parent and the child.

2. By evaluating parenting models -- Other parents, especially a parent's own parents, provide models for child rearing. Parents at Level 2 can evaluate parenting models and adapt and select from them those aspects which they consider best (in contrast to Level 1, where parenting models are totally accepted or rejected).

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT ARE THE IMPORTANT INFLUENCES ON YOU AS A PARENT?

I guess the way both my husband and I were brought up, different things that he says his mother did and his father did, different things that my mother and father did, in different ways. Well, this is what we did, and we kind of adopt that and then add our own little whatever we think is needed. I guess it is really family that has had an influence on our bringing up the child.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT?

I think really, when I came here, I lived on a farm and my parents were strict with me. There were four of us, and I had two brothers and a sister. My parents were very strict, really. I felt like it was too hard, but after I became of age, say 18, and I went into the service, I was so thankful and I look back and I tell them now, I was so glad you were strict on me, rather than me getting into trouble. I want to go through the same thing, follow that pattern for my son to grow up with.

WHY DO YOU FEEL IT IS IMPORTANT TO BE STRICT LIKE THAT?

I guess it is the environment. It's not that if he wants to get into something, that I would turn my back on him. I bring the strictness because I want my boy to grow up to be a beautiful man.

Two aspects of evaluating positive parenting models are how those practices "fit" a parent's own set of preferences or circumstances, and how those practices are seen to have effected the parent's own life adaptation. In both cases the value or helpfulness of the models are evaluated as the parent considers how he or she parents his or her own children.

3. By observing children -- Parents at Level 2 may learn by observing their own or other's children. What they learn from their observations is how to behave as parents.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY YOU TURNED OUT AS A PARENT?

By observing my children and observing other children. Looking at the outside, looking at what is going on around you. Knowing I don't want to do that, but I would like to do this. With the children now today has helped me to be even stronger, in helping me to be more patient with my own two children.

HOW DO YOU LEARN TO BE PARENT BY OBSERVING CHILDREN?

It is just something in you, it is a feeling, love, instinct. Just something automatic.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT HAS BEEN THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON YOU?

Watching them grow up.

THE CHILDREN HAVE. IN WHAT WAY?

Just watching them grow up I learned a lot on my own with them.

LIKE WHAT, CAN YOU LET ME KNOW A LITTLE BIT MORE?

How to take care of them and little things like that, that I didn't know before and I learned on my own and just seeing the way that they grow up.

The child's contribution to the parent's education is not really conceptualized as an active one. Rather, the parent views the child as an object of study, without really conceptualizing an interaction between the observer and the observed.

B. A good parent

1. Raises children the right way-- Underlying a parent's formulation of good parenting is an external standard against which parenting is measured. A good parent approaches or meets that standard when raising his or her children, a bad parent does not. Unlike level 1 responses responding to what the child wants is considered, as well as what the parent does.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

That is a toughie. I know I am not the best mother, but I am a good mother because I love my kid, I put her before me, I make sure she always has what she needs and what she wants. If she needs affection, I give it to her, if she needs a warm bed, food, clothing, teaching, stimulation. You just do the best you can.

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

Raise them properly. Give them good morals, background and upbringing. See that they are educated properly, I think that means a lot. It is a struggle to get some of these kids to do their work, for example. They want to be their own boss, they don't want to do what mother and father would like them to do, even though mother and father try to say you've got to do this, if you want to get anywhere.

Although most parents at Level 2 have what could be described as an authoritarian standard ("not being strict enough"), the nature of the standard is not what makes a response Level 2. A "permissive" parent might also use Level 2 reasoning, if it is clear that the permissive standard, as with the authoritarian standards in the examples represents a unitary conception of a "right" way, and is external to the parent-child relationship.

2. <u>Does the best (s)he can--Many parents speak of doing the best</u> they can. This is more than a focus on specific parental behaviors, as in level 1. Rather, it is an acknowledgement of the value of effort, to the child as well as to the parent. This does not mean that different parent will have different ways, but that a good parent does as <u>much</u> as (s)he can.

HOW DO YOU THINK SOMEONE KNOWS IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

I think you should know, because you should know all that you are doing for your child. Like I think if a child is getting the opportunity to get the things she wants in life and her parents are trying to give it to her and you know that you are doing the the best that you could, you can tell if you are a good parent or not, because a child doesn't need just food and that's it. And if you know you are trying to help them the best way you could, you should know. You should know if you are a good parent.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I would say that make sure when they grow up that they know a little about the world outside. I feel strongly that I can only protect my kids from so much. And the only thing that is important to me right now is to make sure that they are healthy, nothing wrong with them physically, and they have love and understanding in the home, where they can come to me with a problem, so when they do get out on their own, I helped them the best I could with them. So if anything ever comes up the only thing they can say is that my mother tried, she tried her best.

"Doing the best you can" is not understood only from the perspective of the parent, but also considers the child. The parent does his or her best to meet emotional ("attention," "understanding") as well as physical needs of the child.

3. <u>Has happy children</u> -- The children let the parent know if he or she has been successful, not only by what they do, as in Level 1, but also by how they feel ("I will be satisfied. . . to see my child be happy").

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I guess to do my job as a parent. I want my child to be happy, but a lot of parents say where did I go wrong. I hope that I don't have to say that. I hope that I feel satisfied that I did the best that I could in raising my child. I will be satisfied as a parent to see my child be happy.

HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT YOURSELF AS A PARENT?

Good. Because I look at my kids and then I compare myself with some of the other parents and I am not having some of the problems that some parents are really having with their kids, and my kids are happy, so I feel good about it.

At Level 2, how the child feels is observed, and is important to the parent. Positive feelings may be defined as happiness, as in the two examples, or in other terms, such as satisfaction or comfort.

4. Teaches Right from Wrong -- The parent hopes to

develop in the child a set of standards or values which will motivate good behavior. These standards or values can come from many sources, e.g., religion, traditional beliefs, or community standards. They may be communicated by example, i.e., parent or other models; or by teaching.

HOW DO YOU KNOW YOU ARE BEING A GOOD PARENT?

You don't know in a way, but you might know - your children will let you know HOW WILL THEY LET YOU KNOW?

By what they do, how they come on. How they are towards you. Is how they are, I would just say it is how they are towards you. Your child will let you know. Children, period, let you know.

HOW DO THEY LET YOU KNOW?

They appreciate different things you do. Showing things you do. Mommy this and mommy that. My mommy says that I can't do this. Different little things that you have done and you have told your child not to do, or you told your child different things, and you see them doing them, exactly as you asked them to do, you know they listened. And you know they understand. You know, not that I am a good parent, but I am trying.

YOU MENTIONED IN YOUR GOALS FOR RAISING CHILDREN MORAL VALUES. CAN YOU EXPLAIN THAT?

Not going into a store and saying I like that and just walking out. This is one of the things I would be against. But teaching your child right from wrong in moral values. Religion. We are Catholics. Make sure they go to church and make sure they know a little about their religion. That's what I mean by moral values. If you see something there and it's not yours you leave it there and that's it. You don't walk away with it if it is somebody else's.

HOW WOULD YOU DESCRIBE A GOOD PARENT?

I think a good parent sets a good example. You can't teach your kid right from wrong if you don't try to follow it yourself.

Parents at level 2 reason that the parental role involves more than telling the child what to do. It involves imparting a set of moral or behaviorial standards which go beyond individual acts, and it involves a responsibility as a role model. The parent demonstrates that right and wrong are not bust discreet acts but a set of values which the parent represents in his or her own behavior. The parent is concerned that the child has internalized parental practices or teachings so that they become part of the child's own set of values and standards.

Level 3: Subjective

- A. Learning Parenting
 - 1. Through the child
 - 2. By experiencing love
- B. A good parent
 - 1. Has a good relationship with the child
 - 2. Facilitates the child's capacity to cope with problems
 - 3. Is defined differently for different people
 - 4. Understands the child

A. Learning Parenting.

1. Through the child—At Level 3, the parent looks not only to sources around him or her for information about child rearing, but looks also to the child. Parenting is understood to be more than an acquisition and application of skills. It is understood to require sensitivity to the child. From the child and the relationship with the child, the parent learns how to parent this child in this relationship.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT HAS BEEN THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON YOU AS A PARENT?

My son. The first time, never having had a son or a daughter before, and I wasn't sure quite what to expect, and it was just since he was born, since I first saw him in the hospital, that has been quite a big influence, your son. You grow to love him so much, itis quite an experience. If I had to do it all over again, I definitely would.

DO YOU HAVE DIFFERENT IDEAS NOW ABOUT CHILDREN NOW THAT YOU ARE A FATHER? DIFFERENT FEELINGS ABOUT CHILDREN BECAUSE YOU ARE A FATHER?

I think I do. Before with other kids, I never paid that much attention to them but now I find myself just from having Jason, being more playful with other kids, coming into where I work, playing with them and stuff like that. Now I think that I respect children more because I have my own and see how it is for them.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

I know a lot more now than I did before. I understand better how kids feel, what they need from their parents. And Jason kind of showed me how to be his father. Not just what to do for him, but he made me aware that he had feelings, and what they were. And because I love him so much, I just try to respect those feelings.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT HAS BEEN THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON YOU.

Having the baby taught me, just seeing him be born taught me, said okay, you are a parent now and that's it, that is how I learned to be a parent. I read a lot and did a lot and read Dr. Spock and listened to my mother and talked to everyone. And just being a parent for me and my husband is an everyday thing, we learn something new from the baby every day.

WHAT DOES HE TEACH YOU?

That baby? There are certain things that he can do that I don't think he should be doing, like he tries to hold his bottle and he does hold it very well, so I let him, and it was hard for me to say he wants to hold his bottle now, so you have to let him.

SO HE LET YOU KNOW?

Yes, he pushes my hand away when he wants to hold the bottle, or if he wants to help with the spoon and I think he is showing us, look, I am able to do these things now, let me do them.

Not only does the child teach the parent about children and about him or herself by his or her responses, the child also evokes feelings (love, responsibility) in the parent which make the parent sensitive to the child. The child is clearly seen as a person in his or her own right who participates in his or her own development through his or her influence on the parent.

2. By experiencing love -- At Level 3, parents can separate parental practices from parental feelings, and reason that it is the feelings that matter to the child and that are retained and passed on to the child's own children. What the parent learns most importantly from his or her own upbringing are the emotional messages, not particular parental behaviors.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON YOU AS A PARENT?

Basically the way that I was raised. It was really a rough childhood, extremely so in the sense that my values, my way of thinking was probably more mature at a younger age than some of the other kids. You know how some children grow up a lot quicker because of what they have seen and what they have experienced. Well my dad and mom were very loving, but as it stood, we were farmers and money was hard to come by and when my dad was short on money, he used to blow up, and on occasion even went into a rage. And beating my mom and I had seen certain things that my children do not see, but on the other hand, they were so loving, that is why I didn't resent them, or particularly him, to this day, the love was there. It sounds crazy, I know. From all this I think that I learned and I have taken away the bad parts and I have tried very hard to retain the better parts of my childhood and try to raise our children the same.

HOW DO PEOPLE LEARN TO BE PARENTS?

I think the quality of our childhood homes is most important. My husband had a beautiful childhood. His mom and dad are lovely, the both of them. He teases them to this day, he says I wish you would have punished me a lot more when I was a kid. He never got a spanking, he was always so sensitive, they talked to him and he would do these things, because he loved them.

In both examples, the love, both of the parents and of the child was "learned," and in the first response, in spite of other aspects which were quite brutal, the implication is that this love (expressed indirectly in the second example) influenced the parent's awareness of and capacity to love in the parental role.

B. A good parent

1. <u>Has a good relationship with the child</u> -- Parenting is reasoned to be a relationship, and its success can be evaluated in terms of the relationship. In order to be successful as a parent, a good relationship must exist between parent and child.

BUT HOW DO YOU KNOW YOU ARE A GOOD PARENT?

How do I know myself? I know I am because from the time I have seen my son grow up, the way he responds to me, I am a good parent.

HOW DO YOU KNOW, WHAT IS THERE ABOUT HIS RESPONSE, WHAT IS THERE ABOUT HIM THAT GIVES YOU THAT INFORMATION, THAT YOU ARE A GOOD PAPENT?

He loves me. Would I like to fire a question back at you. I would answer it like I would answer it. I am a good parent because he responds, he is growing up well. The relationship that we have between us is enough to indicate to me that I am a good parent.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

I don't think you can know. There should be signs and there are probably signs to other people that would be less obvious to parents.

THE PARENT WOULDN'T KNOW HIMSELF?

I think if your children are open and communicative with the parents that would be a good indication, but if a kid doesn't feel he can come to you with his problems, if he doesn't need to tell you what is going on in his life, that would be a sign to me that something is quite wrong.

At level 3, the child's "letting you know" differs from level 2 in its emphasis on the relationship and on qualities of the relationship, such as trust and openness, rather than on actions.

2. Facilitates the child's capacity to cope with problems. The parent at level 3 may reason that the purpose of parenting is not so much to teach the child how to behave or what standards to have so that he of she will know how provide the child with tools and experiences which will to behave, but enable the child to solve problems and to deal with whatever apperiences life may bring in a way that is best for that child.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I think probably it is to equip the child who will be an adult to deal with the craziness of the world as best as possible. And the way you do that I think is by instilling in the child a sense of values, equipping the child to be able to find solutions to dilemmas. The child is faced with moral dilemmas and other kinds of problem solving. Clearly giving the child the educational tools that the child needs, and that doesn't just involve formal schooling, I don't think. Exposing a child to all kinds of things he will see, so that when the child is old enough to be on his own in the world, he will encounter experiences which are not so surprising that he can't deal with them in some manner. That way the child will have internal mechanisms, internal ways of dealing with them, and won't be thrown for a loop.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW THAT THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

You know. By the actions of your children. If, for instance, someone outside of your family can tell you what two well-behaved children you have, you can't help but think that you must be doing something right. Especially if your children are well-rounded and happy. And if they can make choices for themselves, figure our what's best for them, like join in or not join in and be themselves, then I think you must be doing something right.

At level 3 values are instruments for solving problems, they are not answers to problems. Parents emphasize enabling the child to find personal standards and solutions which may or may not conform to external standards and beliefs. If the child can cope effectively with the world in a manner which is personally comfortable, then the parent reasons that he or she has been successful in this respect.

3. <u>Is defined differently for different people</u>——At Level 3, parental standards and practices are internally as well as externally defined, and so may differ for different people who experience differing realities.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT?

Just being one. I don't know if I had any thoughts, it just happened. But I don't think on it that I have to be a good mother. I think of it that I just want to be a good person and I think if you try to put yourself in a mold, that this is what a mother should be, it is too strict a set of rules, you are too confined and especially for somebody like me, in a single parent situation. It has to be more flexible. There are certain things that I see as important to us to survive, and certainly if I thought living in one home or one apartment as an important thing, I would have failed, because we move around a lot. Because we move around a lot I think it is more important for Eric and I to have a strong tie, and for wherever we are at that moment, for that to be our home. Because we are there, and it is our home and we are living it and we are doing it. That is where it is at. And if we can live within that kind of a structure, then everything will be good for us.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

I like to talk about this and it is important to me. I would like to know as much about it as I can; after all, these are things that we are not all born with. There are a lot of things that we have to learn as we go along. I have learned a lot and there is still a lot to learn. But I know there are things I know are right now.

LIKE WHAT?

Like I have to be firm. I have certain things I have to do to support my son. There might be certain rules that are set out by a child psychologist, but they might be set out for the ideal parentship, and the mother is staying home and taking care of the child. I have to go every day because I have to go make a living for my son. So if I have to be at a certain place at a certain time, at a certain hour, and people are not cooperating, we have a serious problem. I have to make the machinery run. That is why I feel, the way you adapt to it, that is alright for you. It might not be right for somebody else.

Because these responses reason that people adapt to and cope with their own particular parenting circumstances, the value of flexibility to deal with changing circumstances may also be raised. Being a good parent cannot be arbitrarily defined.

4. <u>Understands the child</u> -- Understanding and respecting how the child thinks and feels is reasoned to be an important aspect of good parenting.

WHAT MAKES A GOOD PARENT?

Understanding. I was shocked at some of the things that my daughter said to me at six years old. Some of the things, just like I get disgusted and have to talk, so kids get the same way, they get disgusted. Especially her, she is the oldest, and she gets disgusted, and I just sit there and think about what she thinks for a while. If I want her to wear a red ribbon and she doesn't want a ribbon, why doesn't she want a ribbon, why can't she decide, and just not say'I am your mother, so you put it on because I say so,'that is not fair for the child. So I have to let her think about what she feels about wearing ribbons today.

AS YOUR CHILDREN HAVE GROWN AND MADE DIFFERENT DEMANDS ON YOU, HAVE YOUR IDEAS CHANGED? FOR EXAMPLE, WITH THE SEVENTEEN YEAR OLD, AS SHE HAS GROWN UP, YOU SOUNDED MORE LIBERAL IN A WAY, MORESO THAN YOUR MOTHER MIGHT HAVE BEEN.

I don't know. I was brought up very very strict. For some reason I just knew how to bring up my children, and as time has changed, as situations have changed, I just try to mold myself to the situation and work with it.

SO THE PART WITH SEX IS THAT THE WORLD IS CHANGING?

Yes. Even our church has changed. And you just mold yourself to the times and if the times change, you have to change.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT TO CHANGE?

I would never imagine my daughter having sex before marriage, but I see it is discussed and as the times change, I have tried to go along, and I can't say change myself, but to have understanding of what is going on, so that I can still communicate with her.

DO YOU FIND YOU ACTUALLY CHANGE?

Through understanding things, I do. But not that it is a great change. It is an understanding and going along to a point and that's it. I am set in my ways and a boring person.

Understanding may involve an openness to the different values of the child's generation, or to other influences which have values or practices which are not those of the parent. Even though the parent may not agree with the child, Level 3 parents reason that the parent can try to understand the child's perspective and can maintain communication with the child.

Level 4:

- A. Learning parenting
 - 1. By experiencing the relationship
 - 2. Through self-awareness and growth
- B. A good parent
 - 1. Shares a reciprocal relationship
 - 2. Maintains autonomy of identities with interdependence

A. Learning parenting

1. By experiencing the relationship — At Level 4 the parent-child relationship is reasoned to be a reciprocal process which has its own growth and development. Through the relationship process, the parent comes to understand him or herself, the child, and how they interact together. Parenting develops through this process.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT? WHAT HAS BEEN THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON YOU AS A PARENT?

I guess I started out with no background at all. You have an idea in your mind from seeing other people's children, when you have a child of your own, my child is going to do this and this, and I want this kind of child. You realize in the first year that all those things sort of fly out the window. Your child is what he is and it is not so important what your child does as what you do about what he does. And if you see a child who destroys everything, you say how did that child learn that? And you find out that all children go through tantrums and destroy things, so what is important is how you handle it. So it turns out how the single person focuses on the child and when you have children you focus back on yourself. Sometimes you find you are not the kind of parent you thought you were going to be. So you look at yourself and you look at your child and the way you are with each other, and you learn from there, and you keep on going. It doesn't stop, you keep on looking and you keep on learning.

HOW DO PEOPLE LEARN TO BE PARENTS?

Trial and error.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

No matter what anyone gives as advice, you don't know what a parent is until you become one, and then each stage that a child goes through is another learning process, and the adjustments that come with it and everything that goes with it, and we only learn by being a good parent with each child. But with each child, it is a totally different learning process. And you develop and you become a good parent as you raise the kids.

Parenting is not reasoned to have a fixed end point at which a parent has learned how to parent. It is thought to be a continuing process ("you keep on looking and you keep on learning").

1. S. 4. 8.

2. Through self-awareness and growth — The parent sees the process of personal psychological growth and awareness as the foundation for parenting, and for the development of self-awareness and insight in the child.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT HAS BEEN THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON YOU AS A PARENT?

That's very difficult. It has to do with my own parents. I have learned from them what kind of parent to be and what kind of parent not to be. But I think I have learned more of what kind of a parent to be from just living my own life. Just from learning, from my own growing, I have learned how to nurture her growth, from my own perceiving, how to nurture her perception, from my own doing, the nature of her doing. It comes from within me, probably more than from anything else, or that has come to me. It is a very inner thing for me, I couldn't do it, and I haven't been able to do it well, when I am not really into me. In other words, when I am not in touch with my center.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT?

I have learned some from reading, a great deal from my husband, a great deal from internalizing and from writing out the kind of painful experiences that I have had growing up, trying to understand what is going on inside me in terms of my own growth and from watching the children. It is as though I have become finished being a child. I have finished my own childhood by watching the children and reliving in my own way the children's experiences. As a result, I have become a child, a parent, and then I can become an adult, when I am finished the process and the cycle again, of the children. I have a feeling that the adult doesn't come until the children themselves reach adulthood.

The parent at Level 4 does not isolate parenting from other aspects of life. Responses indicate an awareness of the interconnectedness of self and others and of various parts and periods of one's life.

B. A good parent

1. Shares a reciprocal relationship -- Responses at Level 4 may focus on how a child's capacity to relate to others reflects the parent's capacity to relate to the child. This deals with reciprocity; the process by which people influence each other, even when the influence of the relationship is revealed in the quality of the child's relationships with other people in his or her life.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

The child will let you know by the way he relates to you. They may take a month to prepare a Christmas present or something, but there are also spontaneous things. The way that they look at you, the way they come to you and stay by you. When they come to you and how they touch you. This is probably the most important thing: they will parent you if you are a good parent I think.

EXPLAIN THAT?

My daughter, if I am feeling down or feeling like I can't do something, or under some stress or pressure, she will encourage me. "Well, mommy, that was good, you are doing fine, you are doing that very well." And she will put her arm around me and she will hug me and kiss me and she will comfort me physically and she will smooth my life out for me. I have had nasty trouble with the car from time to time at the most inappropriate times and she is right there with solutions. Perhaps we should do this, or try that.

WHAT DOES THAT SHOW ABOUT YOU AS A PARENT?

It shows that she makes me a companion, that she has a regard for me and wants to assist me in life. That I have done that to her, that I show her.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

I think you know by your relationship; that you're both aware of each other and give to each other and take from each other. I know kids don't give the same way parents do, but they give in their own ways, even babies, by how they respond to you. And they insist in their own ways that you respond to them. And with older kids, I really feel you know you're a good parent by how they communicate with other people, not just you. You can't really separate these things from each other. My child as a person with others says something about our relationship, too.

The concept that underlies these responses is the unity of people and of the relationships. Whatever aspect of relationships or of the person a level 4 response focuses on, the response implies that this aspect is part of a larger system.

2. Maintains autonomy of identities with interdependence -- Although parents at Level 4 reason that parent and child are united in an interdependent relationship system, parents also recognize the autonomous identities of the members of the system. The child also bears responsibility for his or her personality, and is neither defined by the parent, nor is the parent defined by the child.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

I don't think that you ever know if you are a good parent. I think the needle test is am I enjoying what I am doing; if I am enjoying it, then I assume that the results will be satisfactory to me. If I am not enjoying it, parenting, then I don't enjoy the job. But I don't know what a good parent is. You cannot really live through the children. You can do just the best that you can in transmitting what your values are, but then some of it is up to the child. It is his ballgame, too, and if he carries what you have given, fine, and if he doesn't, it doesn't make you less of a parent. You have done your parenting but maybe the child's capacity is not to be a good human being and there is very little that you can do about it. But I do think that you must enjoy what you are doing and that must communicate itself to the child, not at every minute, but that fundamentally this makes you happy.

HOW DO YOU KNOW IF YOU ARE A GOOD PARENT?

That's a hard question, because there are two people involved. You don't parent all by yourself and then look at the product and say how good I was. You parent with a child. You're in it together. So we are both responsible, and yet neither are entirely responsible. And I have learned over the years, that Rose is not me. That the symptoms of the behavior may be the same, but they come from different backgrounds, because I am different from what she is, and my parents and my mother from her environment, so while the pattern of behavior may be the same, the moodiness stems from a different post and it is neither as severe as mine was, or exactly like mine was, or as light as mine was, it is different. So being a good parent is a difficult question because I am not the only one who has to answer it. The best I can do is tell you that I try to be continually aware that we are different people. I allow her that, and I expect her to allow me that, too.

The autonomy of identities may be expressed as limitations of individual responsibility ("It is his ballgame, too"), and as the difficulty deciding for the child that the parent has been successful in a role that is experienced by the child, who is a separate personality with sensitivities and experiences which can only be guessed at by the parent.

E. Sample Interviews and Scoring Sheets

P. 21

They cry a lot and mostly Pearl I have a lot of problems with them, she always wants to be outside and I have to do my housework and I cant be chasing them outside, I have my mother in the store, so that makes it a little easier for me and I still send them over my mother's house, so I can do my housework while I have the other two at my house and my other son goes to so that is a little easier, so when they all get together sometimes, whew. Sometimes I hit her, real hard, when she does something I hit her and I feel sorry for her, she was born with crippled feet and I have a hard time with her and I suffer a lot to bring her to the hospital for a brace.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN YOU SUFFERED A LOT?

Seeing how she walks in the hospital and seeing that she gets her feet better. I havent been here for 2 months because I just had a baby, and I had my tubes tied, too, and I had a section, so I couldnt come down.

YOU HAD YOUR SHARE OF PROBLEMS THESE LAST COURLE OF YEARS. YOU MUST FEEL BETTER NOW WITH YOUR TUBES TIED.

Yah, my husband said I had enough, I could hardly manage with them 3. So I am glad I had the little girl, I have 2 boys and 2 girls.

WHAT DO YOU ENJOY MOST ABOUT YOUR CHILDREN?

I cant say too much because they are small, they don't do too much at home.

WHAT DO YOU FIND HARDEST TO PUT UP WITH?

Feeding them, and giving them a bath is hard.

WHY IS THAT?

They act mad and every time I put them in the bathtub, they always want to come out and they wet the whole floor and I get mad, you know, and then if I take one to give them a bath, the other one starts crying and I have to wash my other little baby and they took the baby out of the crib and they took her downstairs and put her on the couch, my little one, the baby, and my house is in the project and the rooms are upstairs and the downstairs is the kitchen and parlor, so I have to carry all 4 of them upstairs to watch them.

HOW DO YOU HANDLE IT?

I dont know, I send the 2 big ones over my mother's house and sometimes my sister comes to help me, so I am doing pretty good, but whenever my mother moves, it will be hard on me.

IS SHE PLANNING TO MOVE?

Yes.

HOW DO YOU GET YOUR CHILDREN TO MIND YOU?

I try my best, but it doesnt work.

WHAT DO YOU TRY, HOW DO YOU TRY TO GET TEM TO MIND YOU?

I speak to them, mostly for eating, I say eat and she says no, and I have to shove it down her mouth and she throws it back out and then I have to hit her, but it doesnt work. I say I am going to get the belt, but it doesnt work.

WHY DOESNT IT WORK?

I dont know, it just dont work. In the nighttime I feel like sitting down and relax while the baby is sleeping and the only one up is her, I have my big one at my mother's house mostly all the time, she likes it there, so that is not a problem, but the other kids, they other kids sit down and see TV with you, some like to play a lot, not her. she likes to be in the kitchen in the refrigerator and that gets me mad I have to be up all the time hitting her, and it drives me nuts sometimes sometimes I get nervous. My husband and I are trying to get back. I have no help in the house now, and the baby is a problem.

YOU FEEL IF HE WERE BACK IT MIGHT HELP.

It might, he would have more power with the kids.

THEY DO HAVE MORE AUTHORITY SOMETIMES. WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Attention. (EXPLAIN?) Because sometimes it helps them if you are listent to them. (HOW?) I dont know. My kids are so small, I dont know how to explain it. I think like sometimes when I sit with her, she sits still and I try to play with her, she stays still. Sometimes when I cant sit down and play with her or talk to her she is all over the house screaming and crying and all she wants to be is outside.

SO WHEN YOU DONT GIVE HER ATTENTION, SHE ACTS WORSE. WHY IS THAT?

Sometimes I put on the Tv and she likes to dance and she sees people dancing and I say look, people dancing and she starts dancing and she stays still around the TV for a while. But when the show is done, she acts up again.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RASSING A CHILD?

When I was single I said when I would have some kids, it would make me happy one way, seeing kids running around the house. But now they are all over my house, no, it is hard. I had my first one when I was 19 and I had them all right away.

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OR OUTCOME OF BEING A PARENT, WHAT DO YOU WANT FOR YOUR CHILDREN?

I want them to learn and come up with something big and be that people know tem when they grow up.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

When the kids grow up, I would like other people to respect them, for what they are. I try to raise my first one so he learns, but this one is pretty smart, she says everything the TV says, I put on shows and sh

learns right away and I wanted her to be a dancer, but I dont think that it will work with her feet.

WHAT SHOULD PARENTS BE ABLE TO EXPECT FROM THEIR CHIDDREN DO YOU THINK.

What the parents should give them I can't tell now, but what you want your children to be when they grow up, they don't want to be, they don't want to be what you want them to be. (WHY NOT?) Sometimes they want to do their own thing, and the world is changing.

HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT THAT? ABOUT THE CHILDREN WANTING TO DO THEIR OWN THING AND NOT WANTING TO DO WHAT THEIR PARENTS WANT.

I dont like it. Because when they grow up other people say the mother didnt put no respect in teaching them, didnt teach them nothing, they dont respect other people and I dont like it. I like when they grow up they do what I want them to do, so other people would say she was a pretty good mother.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

By the way the kids act when they grow up, like they have respect for older people, so other people would say the mother teached them good and put respect on them when they were small. A lot of kids I have seen they go and smack their mother and that's not right. ... tries and I try to stop her, she just raises her hand, but she wont put it down, she knows what she will get.

WHAT SHOULD THE PARENT BE ABLE TO EXPECT FROM A CHILD IF THE PARENT FEELS UNHAPPY OR BLUE?

I have no idea.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT HAS BEEN THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE FOR YOU?

Going through all I do, with the kids, it is tough on me, especially even my first one, my husband, he was from another father, you know, so I didnt raise my son, my mother did, he was born crippled too, and it is pretty hard with my other ones, because I didnt do my first one, I am trying to do the other ones.

TAKE HIM?

I think, because she is attached to him and she has been with him since he was so small, and I have been the rest of my life with my mother. Till I got married and have the other kids, and so she has been having him. He is 4 years old and I dont think she will give him up. When shedies I will be responsible for him.

WELL HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT THAT?

Well not too good, we all love my mother and she has hard task and sometimes I take my son for rides and things and he wont respect me. The only one that he will respect is my mother because she has been with him so much. It will be hard on me when she gives him back to me.

A ABOUT ON HIM? HOW WILL IT BE FOR HIM?

He come and see me and calls him daddy and thinks he is his father and he comes over my house, looks in the refrigerator, goes back out but I think it will be hard on him when my mother go away. (WHY?) She is the only one who raised him you know. And I havent given my love the way I should.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I cant say nothing, about what they grow up to be.

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE FOR YOU?

I hope they turn out to be nice kids, to respect everybody so they will respect them.

WHAT WAS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON YOUR GROWING UP?

Now that I can't have anymore kids, I will be attached to them mostly. It will be the same for me, growing up, taking care of them,

WHAT ARE YOUR CHILDREN'S FEELINGS ABOUT YOU AS A PARENT?

They are little, I cant say.

DO YOU THINK THEY HAVE FEELINGS ABOUT YOU AS A PARENT?

I think so, because when I leave them somewhere, you see, they just cry a lot, especially my other little one.

WHAT DOES THAT TELL YOU?

I think they love me.

DILEMMA VI:

 $\overline{\mathbb{I}}$

What DO YOU THINK MRS. F. SHOULD DO?

She should check in the diary, open it.

WHY SHOULD SHE DO THAT?

To find out if it is true that he has been stealing.

COULD SHE HAVE MIXED FEELINGS ABOUT READING THE DIARY?

I think so, because a diary is what kids keep to themselves, and nobody should go in their diary, but I think she should, so she can see for herself that he did it or not did it.

HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN HER MIXED FEELINGS? I cant tell you.

IF SHE READS THE DIARY. SHOULD SHE TELL J. SHE READ IT?

Yes. (WHY?) That way he will know his mother - maybe he will feel his mother didnt trust him. But she should tell him so he should know.

WHY SHOULD SHE TELL.

He will tell her she did not trust him.

HE WOULD FEEL BAD. DO YOU FEEL IT IS MORE IMPORTANT TO KNOW WHETHER OR NOT HE DID IT, THAN TO SHOW TRUST IN HIM BY NOT READING IT?

If she doesnt look in the diary, then he will believe that his mother trusts him and he will keep doing things he shouldnt do. If his mother looks in the diary and finds out he steals anything, then she will talk to him, maybe talk to him a little more and he thinks a little more not to do what he did with the other kids, he will get ideas that what he did was wrong.

IF SHE DOESNT LOOK IN THE DIARY AND HE DID IT, HE WILL THINK SHE TRUST HIM, SO THAT MEANS HE WILL GO AHEAD AND DO THINGS BECAUSE IT MEANS HE WILL THINK HE CAN GET AWAY WITH THEM.

Yes.

AND THAT IS ONE OF THE REASONS WHY SHE SHOULD LOOK. DD YOU FEEL SOMETIME IF CHILDREN KNOW THEIR PARENTS TRUST THEM, THAT THAT WILL HELP THEM TO DO THE RIGHT THING? OR IS IT USALLY THEY THEN FEEL THEY CAN GET AWAY WITH IT.

They will think they can get away with it and they will think my mother trusts me, she wont say anything about me, that I am bad or nothing, she trusts me and then he will keep doing it, doing things he is not supposed to do. But if she talks to him a little stronger, maybe he wont do it. What he dhouldnt do, I feel that way anyway.

DO YOU THINK IT WOULD CHANGE J'S RELATIONSHIP WITH HIS MOTHER IF HE FINDS OUT SHE READ HIS DIARY?
Yes.

HOW WOULD IT DO THAT? WHAT WOULD HAPPEN?

Maybe he will say, you didnt trust me, you had to look in my diary.

THEN WHAT WOULD SHE SAY?

That she was doing it for his benefit.

HOW WOULD HE FEEL ABOUT THAT?

Bad. (WHY?) I cant say.

DO YOU THINK IT IS IMPORTANT TO TRUST CHILDREN?

Not too often.

DO YOU FEEL IF CHILDREN WERE LEFT ON THEIR OWN THEY WOULD WANT TO GET INTO TROUBLE, OR DO YOU FEEL IF THEY ARE LEFT ON THEIR OWN, THEY DONT WANT TO GET INTO TROUBLE.

It works both ways, because if you let them get away with it, they will do it, and if you dont, if you get in between their way, they will still do it. Becausethey think they can get away with anything and that their mother trusts them and if they go away and come back in hours, the mother is going to say where have you been, and they will say nothing ma, I have been around.

SUPPOSE THAT MRS. F. READ THE DIARY AND FOUND OUT THAT J. LIED TO HER, WOULD SHE STILL FEEL SHE SHOULD HAVE DEFENDED HIM AT THE POLICE STATION

Yes. (WHY?) Because she is his mother, she will cover him.

WHY SHOULD A MOTHER COVER HER WM SON?

Because she loves him and she should do it mostly to cover. Every mother does that.

SHE READ IT AND FOUND OUT J. LIED TO HER, WHAT SHOULD SHE DO TO JIMMY? When they get home, talk about what he did.

WHAT SHOULD SHE SAY, HOW SHOULD SHE APPROACH IT?

I cant say.

HOW WOULD SHE FEEL IF HE LIED TO HER AND DID SHOP LIFE?

Bad and she covered for him and she loved him and he did something he wasnt supposed to do.

IF SHE FOUND OUT J. DID IT, WHAT SHOULD SHE DO?

Try her best to help him, get him out of trouble.

DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN HAVE A RIGHT TO KEEP SOMETHING PRIVATE FROM THEIR PARENTS, OR DO PARENTS HAVE A RIGHT TO KNOW WHAT THEIR CHILDREN ARE THINKING AND DONG?

I think it is better for them to come out with it and tell their parents and maybe the parents will help them. What they do.

SUPPOSE THEY DO NOT COME OUT WITH IT, DO YOU THINK CHILDREN HAVE A RIGHT TO KEEP SOMETHING PRIVATE?
OR SHOULD PARENTS KNOW IN GENERAL?

I think parents should know.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT WAY?

Maybe it is something they cant handle and they talk to their parents and the parents have some ideas and they will tell the kids and then maybe the kids will learn from that.

SUPPOSE MRS. F. DID NOT READ THE DIARY, BUT ASKED J. AND HE SAID HE DID IT. HOW WOULD SHE FEEL THEN?

Guilty. (WHY?) Bad.

WHY SHOULD SHE FEEL GUILTY?

Because she thought he wouldnt do it, she trusted him. And now she knows what he did.

WHY IS IT SO IMPORTANT TO BE ABLE TO TRUST A CHILD?

Sometimes you can trust them and like they are outside and you think your mind will go away because you trust them but you still have some ideas they will do something wrong. I could ask my mother some of these questions, she still has 2 big kids at home and she is always worrying about them, what time they come home and what they could be doing outside. So much things can happen. She worries a lot, so I try to help her that way.

WHY WOULD J. TELL HIS MOTHER HE DID IT, WOULDNT IT BE EASIER TO CONINUE TO LIE?

I dont think so . (WHY NOT?) Because it will make it harder on him, him wanting to and he will feel guilty for that

WHAT DOYOU MEAN GUILTY?

He will say, my mother trusted me and now I did something that I shouldnt do. He will keep feeling guilty and have it in the back of his mind, so he should come out and say it.

YOU THINK THAT IS WHY HE TOLD HER. WHICH IS MORE IMPORTANT, THAT HE DID THE STEALING OR TOLD THE TRUTH ABOUT IT LATER?

That he told the truth.

WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT WAY? I cant say.

DOES IT TELL YOU ANYTHING ABOUT WHAT KIND OF PERSON HE IS?

Yes, he told his mother that he did it and he knew that his mother trust

im and he did what he shouldnt do. He is sort of telling her the truth so she wont worry about him.

YOU FEEL THAT TELLS SOMETHING ABOUT WHAT KIND OF PERSON HE IS? HOW WOULD YOU DESCRIBE THAT PERSON, WHAT LITTLE YOU KNOW.

I am not too familiar with him.

THE GOLICE OFFICER SAID MRS. F. WAS TO BLAME FOR J'S GETTING INTO TROUBLE, HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT THAT?

They thought it was her problem because she didnt put too much respect on him and didnt teach him too much, but it is not his mother's fault.

WHY NOT?

Because his mother tried her best and it is his fault for doing what he did.

THE KIDS J. RUNS AROUND WITH ARE TOUGH AND GET INTO TROUBLE, BUT J. LIKES THEM. SHOULD MRS. F. INTERFERE OR DOES J. HVE A RIGHT TO CHOOSE HIS OWN FRIENDS?

He has a right to shoose his own friends, he could have friends who say go do this, but you dont have to, you dont have to go do it. So you could have all kinds of friends. If they want you to do something, the best thing you could do is just walk away from it, because you would know you would get in trouble if you do it.

SUPPOSE YOU HAVE A CHILD 15, WHO GOES AROUND WITH KIDS WHO DO GET HIM INTO TROUBLE, THEY CALL HIM A SISSY AND SAY YOU ARE NOT A MAN IF YOU DON'T SHOP LIFT. IN THAT KIND OF SITUATION, SHOULD A MOTHER INTERFERE?

Yes. That way he can be home and she can keep him home and she can tell him not to hang around with kids like that. They are just going to get him in trouble and he dont want to be in trouble.

DO YOU FEEL THAT WOULD WORK?

Not all the kids it will work on, because you tell them today and tomorrow they will be back with the other kids.

DO YOU THINK THERE IS ANOTHER WAY TO HANDLE IT THAT WOULD BE MORE EFFECTIVE FROM KEEPING HIM FROM GOING AROUND WITH THOSE KIDS?

I dont think so.

HOW ABOUT IF YOU TALK WITH A CHILD, IF YOU SIT DOWN AND SAY, GIVE THEM YOUR REASONS WHY YOU DONT THINK IT IS A GOOD IDEA, DO YOU THINK A CHILD WILL LISTEN TO THAT?

If he is a childthat respects you, maybe he will, it would work.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN RESPECT?

Because some kids dont want their mothers to be hurt and they will do what their mother tells them to do.

e dont and say I dont care.

COULD J. SEE HIS FRINDS DIFFERENTLY FROM THE WAY MRS. F. SEES THEM?

Yes. (EXPLAIN?) It is his friends and the way he chooses them to be. I think he feels better with them.

HOW WOULD HE SEE HIS FRIENDS AND HOW WOULD SHE SEE THEM?

She will see them that they are troublemakers and they are not good to hang around with and maybe he will see them that they are good friends and he likes to be around them.

DILEMMA II: WORKING MOTHER

WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

Stay home with the kid. (WHY?) That way the kid would feel much better with the mother and she could love her mother more. And know her mother more. Instead of coming home and not finding your mother there.

YOU THINK THATWOULD MAKE A DIFFERENCE IN HOW SHE LOVES HER MOTHER?
Yes.

WHAT ABOUT THE MOTHER'S NEED TO BE AWAY FROM HOME AND ENJOY HERSELF AND MEET PEOPLE.

That is a problem for her, it happens to me, too. Sometimes it is good for the mother to go out and talk to other people, but if she doesnt, she will go nuts in the house. It happens to me.

WHAT IF THE CHILD DOES NOT WANT IT. HERE IS A MOTHER WHO WANTS TO WORK AND THE CHILD SAYS SHE DOESNT WANT HER TO, AND YOU SAID A GOOD MOTHER WOULD STAY HOME WITH HER CHILD, BUT YOU SAID SHE WOULD GO GRAZY SITTING HOME ALL THE TIME. WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

I think it is better for her to stay with the child more. While she is in school the mother could go visit her friends and by the time the kid is out of school the mother could be home.

WHAT IF SHE DOESNT WANT TO FISIT HER FRIENDS. SHE WANTS TO WORK?

That's hard. I cant say.

DO YOU THINK S. IS BEING A GOOD DAUGHTER BY WANTING HER MOTHER HOME EVERY AFTERNOON?

Yah, but maybe she is spoiled. Spoiled with her mother. Some kids they want the mother to be right there add right there, in front of them, and some want the mother to have her fun, they just want to see the mother there, that is a spoiled kid.

DO YOU THINK THAT S. IS ACTING LIKE A SPOILED KID? I think so.

IF SHE IS ACTING LIKE A SPOILED KID, THEN SHOULD HER MOTHER BE THERE EVERY AFTERNOON?

No.

no, it is better too for the mother to get away a little bit from the child. That way she wont feel so much attached to her, because if she is spoiled, she wont want to stay with anybody else, just her mother. It would be hard on the mother, the mother is going to go in the house and think about the child and how they are treating her.

DO YOU THINK S. COULD SEE HER MOTHER"S WORKING DIFFERENTLY THAN HOW MRS. S. SEES HER WORKING?

I cant say.

DO YOU THINK MRS. S. MIGHT HAVE MIXED FEELINGS? I don't know.

HAVE DIFFERENT FEELINGS, SHE WANTS TO WORK AND SHE MIGHT NOW. SHE COULD FEEL MIXED, WANT SOMETHING AND NOT WANT SOMETHING AT THE SAME TIME. HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN THAT.

She wants towork and she wants to stay home and she doesnt know what to do..

DO YOU THINK S. MIGH T HAVE MIXED FEELINGS ABOUT HER MOTHER WORKING?

I think so, sometimes she wants her home, she wants her to stay home, and she dont want her to go to work. They both must be all mixed up.

WHAT IS MOST IMPORTANT, THAT S. HAVE HER MOTHER HOME WHEN SHE GETS HOME FROM SHOOL IF THAT MAKES HER HAPPY, OR THAT HER MOTHER HAVE A JOB IF THAT MAKES HER MOTHER HAPPIER?

She like her mother to be home when she gets home from school.

CAN YOU GIVE MORE REASONS WHY YOU THINK THAT IS MORE IMPORTANT?

That waywhen the kid comes home, they always expect the mother to be home Sometimes they come home an they knock and they go in add where is ma, and if nobody is there, they will go next door and ask. I don't know where you mother is. I came home, I am hungry.

BUT THERE IS A BABY SITTER.

It is not the same as a mother - if the mother loves you she will come up right away and say what do you want and it brings more feeling when you come in and find your mother there instead of coming in to find a stranger.

WHAT KIND OF FEELING?

I dont know ...

DILEMMA III: NEW BABY

WHAT SHOULD SAM'S MOTHER DO?

Love both of them.

WHY SHOULD SHE DO THAT AND HOW SHOULD SHE DO IT?

When she laughs with the new born baby, she should laugh with the other

The older one will say she loves him more than she loves me, because sometimes I sit with my newborn and the little comes in and bumps him in the head and says.... so therefore love both, show feelings for both of them.

HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN SAM KISSING BABY ONE MINUTE AND HITTING HIM THE NEXT?

I think if he is so cute, they look like little dolls, toys for them, so he hugs and kisses him and sometimes they get feelings that the mother is more attached to the baby than them.

THAT IS WHY THEY HIT THEM.

Yes.

IS WHAT SAM IS DOING SOMETHING A GOOD CHILD WOULD DO?

Yes. They all feel the same way. When I had my youngest one, she act the same, she was 2 weeks crying because I as more attached to the little one.

WERE YOU. OR DID SHE FEEL YOU WERE?

Feel feel I was.

HOW DID YOU HANDLE THAT?

It was hard sometimes because she was jealous. So while the baby was sleeping I had to put more attention to her than the baby than was required.

WHEN THE MOTHER TRIED TO TALK TO SAM ABOUT WHY HE WANTED TO HURT THE BABY HE SAID I DONT WANT TO HURT THE BABY, I LOVE MY BROTHER, COULD SAM BE TELLING THE TRUTH, THAT HE LOVED HIS BROTHER WHEN HE SEEMED TO WANT TO HURT HIM?

Yah, I think he is telling the truth, that he loves his brother. Sometimes they hit and they dont know why - they think they are playing withthe baby.

COULD THE CHILD HAVE MIXED FEELINGS AND NOT KNO W HOW HE FEELS?

Yes, sometimes they do.

HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN THAT?

Like I said, they are probably jealous, because there is somebody new in the house.

COULD A CHILD LOVE AND NOT LOVE A BABY BROTHER ALL AT THE SAME TIME?

It happens. (EXPLAIN?) My sister in law has twins and she just have them and one kid says I like the baby andthe other one says I dont like them, I dont want nobody but me in the house and sometimes kids change his mind right away, that he says I dont want them in my house. I just want me and my other brother in the house.

COULD YOU THINK THEY COU LD HAME MIXED FEELINGS?

Yes. (EXPLAIN?) I really dont know.

COULD THEY LOWE THEM AND HATE THEM AT THE SAME TIME?

I think so, they look like a toy to them, how they hold a bear, they throw them aside the same way.

WHAT SHOULD SAM'S MOTHER BE ABLE TO EXPECT FROM SMM?"

If he is a nice kid, maybe he will chang and be spoiled, and jealous, and acting and doing things she thought he would never do.

SO SHE SHOULD EXPECT HE IS GOING TO HAVE THESE FEELINGS. SHOULD SHE EXPECT HIM TO BEHAVE BETTER WHEN SHE GIVES HIM MORE ATTENTION?

Yes, I think so, because my kids, sometimes when I am not taking care of the baby, they change a lot. Just because if the baby is there, they think they are there and seeing them they run

HOW DO YOU HANDLE THAT?

Mostly I take care of them when the baby is sleeping, Iput her in the crib and I put more attention to them than the baby, because the baby is sleeping and I have to watch them more.

WHY IS THAT IMPORTANT?

Because then they think you dont love them, you dont want them, and you dont care for them that they are just another person.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT FOR CHILDREN TO KNOW YOU LOVE THEM AND CARE FOR THEM AND THEY ARE NOT JUST ANOTHER PERSON?

I cant find the right words.

IF YOU WERE TO THINK ABOUT WHY IT IS IMPORTANT FOR CHILDREN TO FEEL LOVE AND WANTED, WHAT WOULD YOU SAY?

It is good that kids know you love them, it is important to them, because when they grow up they would say gee, I had a wonderful mother, she really loved me a lot and I can talk about my mother, she was the most wonderful mother to me.

PARENTAL AWARENESS SCORING SHEET

Subject Number: p a(SES: Race: No. of Children: Age of Oldest Child:	:
Issue	Individual Issue Concept Scores	Issue Score	
I. Influences	1, 1		
II. Subjectivity	1?(2), 1, 2,1(1, 1, 17(2), 1, 2?(3)	1	;*
III. Personality	1,1;1,2,28(3),1?(2)		
IV. Communication and Trust	1,1,2	1(2)	· •-
V. Resolving Conflict	2?(1), 1?(2)		
VI. Discipline and Authority	1, 1		
VII. Meeting Meeds	1, 1?(2), 1?(2)	<u> </u>	
VIII. Parental Role	1, 2?(1), 2, 1	1(2)	
Summary data			
Highest Reliable Score	2		
Average Issue Score	1.16		
Range	1-2		
Global Score			

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

All of them?

WHY DONT YOU FOCUS ON THE THREE YOUNGER ONES, THE ONES AT HOME, WHATEER YOU WANT?

I would say they are all outgoing, happy, each one in their own way and none of them have created any big problems. They reach certain ages, certain problems. Most things pass.

WHAT DO YOU ENJOY MOST ABOUT YOUR CHILDREN?

We are a large family and I enjoy each one as individuals more or less.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

You enjoy doing different things with, and that.

DO YOU FIND THEM VERY DIFFERENT AS PEOPLE?

Yes, completely different, each one is completely different.

WHAT DO YOU FIND HARDEST TO PUT UP WITH?

Fighting.

HOW DO YOU HANDLE IT, WHAT DO YOU DO ABOUT IT?

Well, the oldest kids I found after a while, I said, if you're going to kill yourself. go over to the park and do it. The other kids, you try to talk to them and more or les after a fashion, they will stop, the younger ones are going to sit around and do it or go up to their room if they dont stop, so they stop, but it never starts out as much c anything, mostly it is somethingthey have to get out of their system, I don't know.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN?

I have found with my 4 oldest, they get along marvelously, they go everyplace together with their wives and girlfriends, but when they were young, close in age, they were always killing each other, punching each other, whacking each other, and one says something and I think h it is an age, one will put his leg out, he kicked me, he did this it is not over anything as far as personality, one just annoys the other and they got a bigger piece of cake than I did, you know, all the little things that dont amount to a row of pins really.

WHY DO THEY FIGHT DO YOU THINK?

I think itis just part of growing up, emerybody that I talk to, they all say the same things, the kids fight. I worry about the 4 oldest fighting than I do about the young est 4, because I see how close they are and how good they getalong and how they go everywhere and do everything together, so I know that the fighting didnt hurt them any, they would laugh and kill themselives, one night ma and dad went out and they killed each other and I thought they were old enough not to fight and I say wow, the things that went on. I don't know, but as far as Ican see, most kids that are in a family group do fgaight.

YOU DID TRY TO INTERVENE WHEN THEY DID.

Right, when they were young, but when they got up to 17, 18, then I would say go over to the park and kill each other.

WHY DIDN'T YOU INTERVENE WHEN THEY WERE THAT AGE?

Because after an age, after they get past 16, I talk to them, and I figure that they are old enough to know, they have a mind of their own at that point and I only just tell them at that point. When they are younger, if they do something, I mean - if it is severe enough to get punished, I taked to them, but when they get older I think that they should know for themselves, they are on their own more dr less, other than to quide them.

WHAT DO YOU FELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR CHILDREN TO MIND YOU?

with different ones it is different things. SOme, praise works like a charm. I have a couple, all you have to do is say a few nice things to them and they will fall all over themselves to do something for you. Other ones, you have to do it, this is it and this is it, if you cont do it - it depends. You get to know each person as an individual and you get to know what works with this one and that one, and you know your own kids, everyone knows their own kids and you know what will go and what wont go. Some kids are so easy to bring up and some kids are so hard. Some fight you the whole way, I say two of mine are harder than the rest.

WHAT HAVE YOU FELIED ON FOR THEM."

Really, with the oldest one and the younger one, too, I find praise, they seem to say, things and do things, I dont know, sometimes because they feel insecure or what, I dont know, but it seems like you have to be a little more lavish with praise with them and as I say with both of them I find that being nice to them works. Now, with the oldest, the one that is 22, I find to get him to do what I want him to do, that I have to - I can never get angry, because angry you lose him completely, he is gone, but you can talk to him in a nice way and come around it in a nice way, what you want, and you will get it, but you have to come around it and work up to it in a nice way. You cant just say do it.

WHY NOT?

Be cause for some reason he rebels at the do it, or he positively will rebel when he is told to do things, I dont know why, he has always been that way. It is his nature, he has been one of the harder ones. Fortunately, he hasnt got in any trouble or anything but he has always wanted to do what he wanted to do. Each one, their personality is so easy, the one I bring over here to Children's the one who is 16, he has been so eas he has never been a problem since the day he was born, he is just an easy going person does what he is told to do. That is one thing I have a lways said, that you can never judge anybody else's kids because you never know what your own will do. You bring the up, you do the best you can, you try and they are on their own. Hopefully, you dont run into problems, but you never know.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I think you want to make them a good moral individual, with their own personalities, but I mean, that I am very religious myself, as I say, a lot of the kids, it is very difficult when they get to a certain age, to to them to go to church and things like that, but I want them to have a good moral fear of god and I hope they get to head some day, I bring them up to some day get to heaven.

WHAT ID YOU MEAN A GOOD MORAL INDIVIDUAL?

I mean somebody that wouldn't take anything that didn't be long to them, that wouldn't stewouldn't do anything - would help people. In other words, what you could do, go out of

your way to help people, be nice to people, a nice person. Somebody who doesn't steal, lie, cheat, you know what I mean.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

Love and understanding.

CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHAT YOU MEAN?

(2)

like sometimes the kids will say, you dont love me. I say you drive me whacky sometibut I love you regardless of what you do. I always make it a point to say that, be casometimes, especially at 12 or 13, my 12 year old will say, do you really love me. Be this seems to be something they really wonder and of course, in school now, there is a girl there and I think she is in a foster home and it is not working out too well, and I have met the girl, but I don't know the mother or anything like that, but she conhome and tells me what the social worker says and she said the other day, you know, i you really don't want me, something about the social worker, but she hears different things. From what I gather, this girl, the mother is not going to keep her, but she is going to keep the sister and she comes home, the girl is inher class at school, and she comes home with different things like that and she gets confused on the thing but basically I'k now she knows we love her. I feel bad for the girl.

Y CUR DAUGHTER IS CONFUSED ABOUT HER OWN FAMILY, OR IS SHE CONFUSED ABOUT WHETHER YOU LOVE HER?

I think it is more or less, I think basically she knows that we love her, but I think kids blow up, she hears things and she likes it explained. She throws out things, liyou could send me there, and I find a lot of times they just want to see what your reaction to it is. I find that a lot of times they say things that they don't really mean, just to see what your reaction is. As a matter of fact a few times she has said, we wanted to see what would happen.

I

DO YOU THINK THAT SOMETIMES CHILDREN CAN SAY SOMETHING AND NOT REALLY KNOW THAT THEY DON'T MEAN IT.

The oldest ones, we have taked about different things - I know especially the boys say let's shake ma up a little bit, they tell me these wild things. They know they are doing it, the boys especially. The girls, I don't think they know, especially T. I don't think she knows, I think she is a little mixed up with what is going on with her friend. I think she is mixed up.—

ABOUT HERSELF TOO?

I dont know, I think she knows, but she talked like a mother and she likes to know everything about everything and she will talk about most anything, so I think in her case it is a lot that she likes to talk about it, and she likes to know everythin about everything.

WHEN YOU DISCIPLINE HER, WHEN SHE DOES THINGS THAT ARE WRONG, HOW DO YOU HANDLE HER?

Usually send her up to her room, she is a little more bossy and doesnt want to do wha she is supposed to do. Or I will stand over her and make her do what she is supposed do. Or ban her from the telephone, that is the worst. If you say to her one night she cant talk on the telephone, that to her is the worst punishment you can give.

WHAT ARE THE KINDS OF THINGS THAT ARE VERY IMPORTANT, ESPECIALLY IMPORTANT FOR CHILDRE TO LEARN AS FAR AS DISCIPLINE GOES, WHAT IS RIGHT AND WHAT IS WRONG. DO YOU HAVE ANY SPECIAL THING YOU FEEL IS ESPECIALLY IMPORTANT?

like the kids to be all part of the family, to help as part of the family. I can do what is right, but I dont know.'

WHAT SHOULD PARENTS BE ABLE TO EXPECT FROM THEIR CHILDREN DO YOU THINK?

You mean in line of house work or in line of character, what do you mean?

I THINK MORE IN THE LINE OF CHARACTER IS WHAT I HAD IN MIND?

Be good reasonable human beings, and try to help each other, and see what they can do to contribute to the family and as a far as housework, I think they can dean their rooms, help with the dishes, they help a little, you don't expect a tremendous amount, but should you be sick, you would expect them to try to do something around for you.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON THE WAY THAT CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I think if they are in a happy home and there is love and people talk to each other, I think communication is very important, and understanding each other. That is the same thing. I don't expect them - I don't care if they are rich or poor or what profession they go into, or what, I just want them to be goodh uman beings.

CAN YOU EXPLAIN WHAT YOU MEAN A LITTLE MORE BY UNDERSTANDING?

WHY DO YOU THINK IT IS IMPORTANT FOR CHILDREN TO MAKE AS MANY DECISIONS FOR THEMSELVE. AS POSSIBLE?

I do be lieve in an independent person. I like to see people in dependent and I like to see people decide for themselves. I myself get annoyed be cause my hus band will sometimes tell me do this or that, and I can't breathe for myself, I can't think for myself I say don't tell me what to do and how to do it, I just don't like it, I suppose that it happens to be my nature, I like to see people do for themselves, everyone on my kids, the youngest, there is not one of them who could not make a meal.

WHY DO YOU FEEL YOU SHOULD BE INDEPENDENT AND HELP YOUR CHILDREN HAVE IT?

I guess be cause I have always valued it myself, and I/see ki ds that are cap to be of taking care of themselves and doing for themselves and may be helping people who need a little bit of help, I like to see that kind of person.

HOW DO YOU FEEL ABOUT YOURSELF AS A PARENT?

Let me say I do the best that I can and then I don't feel guilty.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT, DO YOU THINK?

I think if you do the best that you are be, you do make mistakes, we all do, but yo have to be back and say I did the book best you could, I don't see why you would feel

guilty or why you wouldn't feel like a good parent, even if things didn't turn out right I four thought that you did the best you could, why should you feel guilty.

HOW HAVE YOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT, WHAT WAS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ON YOU AS PARENT?

I contreally know, be cause my mother and father died when I was young. I can't think of anything - the religious way that I feel about things like that. My religious upbringing, which I tried to pass onto my children. Hard as it is at times, with the younger dildren, the younger generation.

WHAT ARE YOUR CHILDRENS FEELINGS ABOUT YOU AS A PARENT, DO YOU THINK.

I dont hear them complain, from what I hear it is usually good. I think they are satisfied put it like that.

HAS HAVING CHILDREN CHANGED YOUR IDEAS ABOUT BEING A PARENT AT ALL?

Yah, I think all of us, before you had kids you said my kids wouldnt do this and my kid wouldnt do that, and that is when you laugh because when you havent had kids, especially when I first had my kids, people who didnt have kids were telling me how to bring up my kids.

DILEMMA VI

WHAT DO YOU THINK THAT MRS. FOX SHOULD DO?

I know I shouldnt read it, but I know that I would be tempted. To be truthful. As I say, I dont read my kids letters and things, but in that situation, I am afraid that I would be tempted, but I would read it.

WHY 1 WOULD YOU READ IT?

First of all, I really would like to know whether my child did or did not do it, I would be hoping that he didnt do it, but if he did do it, I would be glad he got caugh at that soon a time, to keep him from going into other things than that, and I would have a talk with him, but I think I definitely would read it.

DO YOU THINK THAT MRS. F. WOULD HAVE MIXED FEELINGS ABOUT READING THE DIARY?

Yah, I myself, my kids have letters and things, which they leave all over the place, and my kids I know wouldnt object to it, but I wouldnt read it unless they gave it to me to read and things like that. And I dont believe in opening their things and look a t them. They are entitled to their own things, but under the circumstances, I think I would read it, because I really would want to know.

IF SHE READS THE DIARY, SHOULD SHE TELL J. SHE READ IT?

Yes. I would. (WHY?) Because I think that everyone has a right to privacy but I think I would first explain why I read it, that I really wanted to know, I was hoping you we right and you didnt, and then I would say that I had read it.

HOW WOULD J. FEEL IF HE FOUND OUT THAT HIS MOTHER READ THE DIARY, WOULD IT CHANGE THE RELATIONSHIP?

No. I think when she explains why and that, I think she would understand why - he would understand why she had read it. As I say, I would hope that I could talk to my son enough to tell me whether he really did it or not.

BEFORE YOU READ THE DIARY OR AFTER?

Any time, you hope you could sit down, but if a policeman, I dont take my child's work over that, and at the same time, I dont take my child's word under it, so I really wouldnt know in that, and I really - as a matter of fact, I had that happen to me once when a policeman came to the house and he watned to know if my son was in a car with someone else, they had picked up another fellow that they thought had drugs, he didnt he was drunk, and I said he had been here, but I had company and I said I dont know whether he was thereat that time, exactly, or whether he was in the car, I could have lied and said no, but I said I really dont know if he was in the car or he was not. If the occasion comes, I always tell the exact truth, I wouldnt lie for my kids, I do believe in that. I worked in the school and you call up houses and people lie, they lie and say the kid is sick in be d and that is bad.

WHY IS THAT BAD?

Be cause I dont believe in lying to children, I Dont believe in lying.

WHAT DOES IT DO FOR CHILDREN, WHY IS IT BAD TO LIE FOR CHILDREN?

I think it is a terrible thing that your mother would cover up. In other words, she is doing something wrong, right in front of you as far as I am concerned.

I dont be lieve in Mat. I be lieve in being honest - I say exactly what happened, and I always said exactly, the brutal truth.

SUPPOSE THAT SHERE AD THE DIARY AND FOUND OUT THAT J. LIED AND DID SHOP LIFT, WHAT SHOULD SHE DO THEN?

She should tell him she read it and found out and she should sit down and ask him why did you shop lift, what was the reason, did he feel he didnt have money, actually you wouldn't know so you have to find out his reason and just talk to him and impress on him how wrong it is.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT TO FIND OUT HIS REASONS?

Because you want to know the reason why he did do it, so he wont do it again, there he to be a reason, he doesn't do it without reasons, so there must be a reason and youwan to try to correct the reason. If it is the wrong reasoning, you are going to try to correct it and see why, maybe the kid wants to be in with the crowd or things like the

IF SHE FINDS OUT J. IS INNOCENT, WHAT SHOULD SHE DO?

Knowing that he was imnocent, she was going to have to go to court and prove it, if you could prove it. The point is how can you prove it. You can do what you can, but there is a certain amount of things that people say she is his mother, she is going to lie for him anyway. You do what you can and that's all, and you lethim know you be lieve in him. I think it is more important that he knows you believe in him, than anything.

IF SHE READ THE DIARY AND FOUND OUT HE IS INNOCENT, SHOULD SHE TELL HIM SHE READ IT?

Yah I would still tell him.

COULDN'T SHE JUST SAY I BELIEVEYOU AND NOT TELL HIM, ISN'T THAT AN EXCUSE?

It would be, but it all depends on your point of view. I would like to be honest about that's all, it was there and I read it.

WHY IS IT IMPORTANT TO BE SO HONEST ABOUT IT, EVEN THOUGH IT IS EASIER NOT TO BE?

You bring up kids and there are a lot of easier ways of doing things. Sometimes it is a lot easier to let a lot of things pass and I have noticed as my older kids got older they say ma, when we were kids we didn't get away with that. I say it's true, mother getting old and I do let a lot of things pass that I didn't let pass before, but they are not too important, I let a lot of things pass, the older ones would have got callefor and they call me for it now. I have my 4 judges now.

BUT BEING HONEST WITH JIMMY, IT WOULDN'T BE DISHONEST NOT TO SAY ANTITHING.

No, really it wouldnt be, no, but I just would feel better about it, for my own personal reasons.

WHY WOULD YOU FEEL BETTER?

Because I dont know, it seems like even when I was a kid, maybe because when I lied I always got caught because I was a very poor liar and for some reason it would come ou so for some reason I always like to bring things out before rather than have them come out, I don't know why, if I lied I would get caught, or if I did something naughty, I would just say it because it was so.

I

STORY CONTINUES JIMMY SAID HE DID IT . . . HOW WOULD SHE FEEL AND WHAT SHOULD SHE DO?

I would be glad he told me the truth and say I am glad you are honest and you did tell me the truth and then I would say think about it and think why you did do it. And whatever it is, you are going to have to earn the money to repay it, and that, what a bad thing it is to do things like that. Mainly I would like to know the reason why, was it because you were with bad company or have you done it before, and we would just have to talk it over and decide from there.

DECIDE WHAT?

Decide what to do, is this going to continue, or why did he do it, the reason.

YOU EMPHASIZE FINDING OUT THE REASON AND YOU SAID FOR HIM TO THINK ABOUT WHY HE DID IT. WHY DO YOU FEEL THAT IS SO IMPORTANT, THE REASON?

I think the reason is the most important thing of it, because if he felt compelled to steal all the time, he is probably a kleptomaniac or something like that, if he just did it because of the crowd he was with, then you try to eliminate that crowd, if that is what they are doing. Or if he felt like having candy and he just took it, you have to talk and say just because you want it, there are a lot of things in this world that I want, but I cant have them, this or that, and talk about it. According to the reason of why he did it, help him.

WHY DO YOU THINK J. WOULD HAVE TOLD HIS MOTHER HE DID IT? WOULDNT IT BE EASIER IF HE DIDNT.

Sure, anything is easier, but he feels secure with his family and has a need to tell them when he does things wrong and together they can talk it over and work out a solution.

YOU THINK IT HAS TO DO WITH HIS FEELING UNCOMFORTABLE?

I think when you ask your kids what they do and hopefully he would feel guilty about doing it, he would tell me about it.

WHICH IS MORE IMPORTANT, THAT HE DID THE STEALING OR HE TOLD THE TRUTH ABOUT IT LATER!

I am glad that he told the truth about it, I feel bad that he stole, but I am glad the he was caught.

WHY ARE YOU GLAD THAT HE WAS CAUGHT?

Because I think if he wasnt caught he would go on stealing to bigger and better thing: That is why I think the police should do something about these kids that are caught, sure it is bad for their parents and bad for the kids, but you go do something like the and you are not as apt to do it again, and I think the same thing with auto theft, the get away with it andthey go on and on, and it is not helping them in the least bit. The same thing with school, lying for them is not helping the kids any, it is only making them do more things. If they suffer the punishment, then I think we will make a little progress around here and the kids wont get away with so much. You read these things on auto theft and it goes on and on, and you dont believe what happens. My sister in law told me about a kid who has stolen about 10 cars, he has never been in jail, they let him off because he is young or this or that or the other thing, and you read in thepaper all these cases, because they are young, there are so many things, and they get off scott free every time. They are in one day or something.

368

DO YOU HINK SOMETIMES A CHILD CAN DO SOMETHING LIKE THAT REPEATEDLY AND IN SOME WAY WANT TO GET CAUGHT?

Yes. (EXPLAIN?) I think there is something in them that tells them it is wrong, and think they are looking for help myself, I think they really need help. Usually when someone does something and leaves marks, they are looking for help, it is kind of a cry for help. These people had had a psychologist suggested to them and they turned it down, there is nothing the matter with our boy, Because a bt of people say my gor you are nuts and the way I see it they are helping. It is neither here nor there. But this is what happens so many times and it works both ways, it is terrible on the community, all the cars being stolen and look at the tragedy of the other one. The kid needs help. They should try to help him first, I think the parents should first, and really try and if they cant, try to get someone else to help him. But justgettin him off every time, that father goes down and pays money, pays somebody off, get the off and I just cant see paying for getting the kid off, because even if you get them off free, you are doing them a big injustice. This is what I cant see, and so I see so manypeople doing it, buying this and that for that, for the kids, to get them out of jail, get this or that, I cant see it.

WHY IS IT SUCH AN INJUSTICE?

I dont think they are doing the kid any favor. I really think if you give a child too much you are not doing them any favors. I have a friend whose son was killed wit a motor cycle, like she said, I gave and gave to him, it was the byiggest mistake. What I should have done was give the kidenough money to carry him, I dont know. I just believe that they should do a lot for themselves, give them a lot of help and understanding and give them a certain amount, but I think the rest they can do for themselves. Make a life for the child, like that. I hate to see people so that their kidwont get into trouble, they just cover up for them and they will pay any kind of money or anything or pay of f somebody or something so they wont go to court. It is good for them to go to court. Sume it is embarrassing for the parents, be cause it comes out in the papers and all that, but it is your child.

WHY IS IT GOOD FOR THEM?

Because they are standing up for what they did. They are taking the responsibility for what they did, their own actions. When they get to be a certain age they should be responsible for their own actions. You could be there to help, but the whole thin is theirs, and their lives. And you should go on the sidelines.

WHY IS IT SO IMPORTANT FOR A CHILD TO TAKE RESPONSIBILITIES FOR HIS OWN ACTIONS?

Because he is going to be the adult of the future. He is the one who will guide this nation and he is the one who is going to be responsible for the future of all of us.

KIDS J. RUNS A ROUND WITH ARE TOUGH, AND GET INTO TROUBLE, BUT J. LIKES THEM A LOT. SHOULD MRS. F. INTERFERE OR DOES J. HAVE A RIGHT TO CHOOSE HIS OWN FRIENDS?

At a certain point they have a right to choose their own friends, but I would definit try to guide him in another path because where those kids do get into trouble, I would try to talk about these kids. He hangs around with these kids and that. At 15 you cant say no, you cant go with them anymore, you can try to guide him and find other things for him to do, get him involved in hockey or sports, find out - you should know by this point what he likes. Maybe even if you had to pay for a course in something somewhere, try to interest him elsewhere, which usually you could do.

COLLD J. SEE HIS FRIENDS DIFFERENTLY FROM THE WAY MRS. F. SEES THEM?

very definitely at 15 years of age. (EXPLAIN?) I talked about different things to kids and what they see in a person a lot of times is different from what I would see in a person, but they do have a right to choose their own friends. All you can do is think about each one and what is going on with the person and that.

DILEMMA II

WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

I think she should continue working, but she should find out what it was that was making Susan unhappy with the woman. Explain, even at 10 years old, I think a child can understand that mother has needs too, and she has a need to get out of the house, she could explain it to Susan and then she could ask Susan when you come home from school what happens and what about this is making you unhappy, and on the days she is home she could say let's back this and do that, and make these fundays and she willook forward to these days and these will be happier days and if she makes those othe days happier, I think that Susan will adjust and it does take a little bit of time for them to adjust, but I think if she wasnt in good hands, or if there was a clash o personality, she could get somebody else, and find out why the little girl doesnt like her, most 10 year olds are happy with that and may be she could just have some of her friends come in.

YOU THINK SHE SHOULD UNDERSTAND THAT HER MOTHER HAS NEEDS? right.

ID YOU THINK S. IS BEING A GOOD DAUGHTER BY WANTING HER MOTHER HOME EVERY AFTERNOON?

I think at that age she just fee is that she wants her mother home, but if her mother talked to her and explains it to her, I think they can reach a happy, mutual understanding. In other words she will do something for her to make things happy another

COULD S. SEE HER MOTHER WORKING DIFFERENTLY THAN HER MOTHER SEES IT?

Until her mother explains it, she probably thinks her mother wants to get away from he kids sometimes pick up the stranges throughout and you talk to them and you are real surprised, that is why I like to talk to them and see what they think about it. Because a lot of times they have very strange notions and you wonder where in heavens name they got them. But if you talk about it, let me know, I just think that it takes a little bit of taking.

DO YOU THINK THAT MRS. S. MIGHT HAVE MIXED FEELINGS ABOUT WORKING?

No. I can understandher working - I was looking for a part time job, and I have bee finding a hard time finding a part time job myself, so I understand. You love your kids but somehow you need to get out with people and I think every woman has needs. It is nice to be out with people and that is a thing you can explain to your dild, they understand. When I have company and they come and sit, I say, when you go out we your girlfriends, how would you like me totag on, we are talking, I feel the same way when I have company, it is the same thing, I like to have company. I think that you have to explain things on their level. To different ones you tell different things. To me that isnt any problem.

IF YOUR CHILDREN WERE UNHAPPY, WOULD YOU HAVE MIXED FEELINGS?

My kids wouldn't be. I would solve the problem. I am sure I could solve the problem way or another, she could have different girlfriends in, which I am sure would delighther or I could think of enough things that would make her happy to solve the problem.

SUPPOSE YOU COULD NOT MAKE HER ENTIRELY HAPPY AND SUPPOSE THAT S. JUST WANTED HER MOT

HOME AND NOTHING WAS COING TO SUBSTITUTE FOR THAT, SHE WANTEDHER HOME ALL THE TIME.

No, I don't think it is good for a _____ child to be that reliant on their mother anywa I can see when they are babies and they hang, I hadkids that hung and I dicht do anything about that, but when they get a little older, they should develop self reliance. I don't think it would be good for her, to put your feelings for her, I don't think that would be good, unless there was a good reason.

ID YOU THINK THAT S. MIGHT HAVE MIXED FEELINGS ABOUT HER MOTHER'S WORKING?

This is it, until her mother explains it to her, she probably thinks that her mother trying to get away from her, something like that, or she thinks she doesn't want to be home with me. Different thinks that kids will think of. When the mother explains it to her there shouldn't be any problems.

THE MOTHER CAN EXPLAIN IT AND THINKING HER MOTHER WANTS TO WORK AND WANTS TO GET AWAY FROM HER I DON'T THINK OF AS MIXED FEELINGS, BUT IF HER MOTHER EXPLAINS THAT I HAVE NEEDS SUSAN AND I HAVE TO HAVE TIME WE'TH OTHER PEOPLE, COULD SHE THEN HAVE MIXED FEELINGS?

I would think most kids would understand it. I don't think they would. I don't think they would be fully happy, it isn't just what they want, but life isn't always just what you want and most kids, growing up they don't want to make their beds and sthings, but you make your bed. That is part of life, the things we have to do. Making a bed is something you have to do.

DILEMMA III

The best thing to do, it is their baby and when I came home from the hospital I put the new baby in their laps. If you send him to get the diaper for the baby, he is yo baby, you have to help me take care of it, you can let him powder the baby, little things to do for the baby. The baby is little, it can to for itself, you do for the baby and that seems to work charms, it did with all my kids.

WHY DOES THAT WORK?

Because the baby is theirs and the baby is helpless and they help with the baby and they are doing for the baby. It did work with every one of mire, if I was feeding the baby one of the kids would crawl up and the baby might be uncomfortable, but I think the older one needed it more than the baby. I think the oldest kids really need you more than the baby. I would say here hold the baby and give the bottle, but I would be holding the bottle and they would be kissing and crawling up and around an over, but I think you have to make more of the older dild than you do of the baby.

WHY IS THAT?

Be cause the older childh as the needs, you can pick up the baby another time when the are doing some thing else, I contthink the baby - I wouldn't want anybody to hurt it, but I contthink that they require as much. It needs attention and taking care of, b not as much.

10 YOU THINK CHILDREN NEED EXTRA ATTENTION AT THAT TIME?

When I brought home the fourth one, the oldest one was not 4, so I would send number 2 or 3 in to watch the baby and I think that was good now that I think of it, a 2 or 3 year cldwould rock the crib and do something for the baby, because they were helping and needed, this is why I didnt find the gealousy. As I say, when the baby

first came in, as soon as they were doing for the baby themselves, I dight have any problems with jealousy.

HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN S. KISSING THE BABY ONE MINUTE AND HITTING THE NEXT?

I guess that is all part of it - he loves the baby - he has mixed feelings, he loves the baby very much and then he thinks again, and he thinks the baby has my mother, and my mother would do thins with me and now my mother isnt doing things, that they have the baby, kids think one way and the other way back. It is that love/hate thing

WHEN S' MOTHER TRIED TO TALK WITH S. WHY HE WANTS TO HURT BABY, S. SAYS I DON'T WANT TO HURT HIM, I LOVE MY BABY BROTHER, COULDS. BE TELLING THE TRUTH?

Sure. (EXPLAIN?) Because basically he loves the baby and everything and just the oth thoughts come in his mind, he loves it, but his mother is holding the baby and doing for the baby and he just decides he will help.

PARENTAL AMARENESS SCORING SHEET

Subject Mumber: p 27

Global Score

SES:

Race: No. of Children: Age of Oldest Child:

Issue	Individual Issue Concept Scores	Issue Score
I. Influences	3, 3	3
II. Subjectivity	3,3,2,3%),3%),3%),2%3)	. 3
III. Personality	2?(3), 2, 2	_2
IV. Communication and Trust	2?(3) 2, 2?(1)	<u> </u>
V. Resolving Conflict	3 , 2?(3)	3(2)
VI. Discipline and Authority	2,2,3,2,2	2
VII. Meeting Needs	3?(z), 3?(z)	
VIII. Parental Role	2,2?(1),3	2(3)
		•
Summary data	<u>.</u>	
Highest Reliable Sco	ore <u>3</u>	
Average Issue Score	2.50	•
Range	2-3	

3(2)

CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR CHILDREN FOR ME?

I have 3 children, they are all girls, the oldest is ll_2 , and the second is practically 10, and the third is $2\frac{1}{2}$. The oldest, R., is a very steady, responsible child, she has had to pay the price for my growing with her, because much of my coming to terms with my becoming an adult has been through watching her develop and fighting my battles vicariously through what I see she is doing. And R. is very much in touch with her feelings, very intellectual, very interpression. And J. is much more spontaneous in ways, imaginatively spontaneous, very create, very reserved and very private, she will not be you see what she does not want you to see. And I have a feeling that there is three quarters of a child there that I dont know at all, that I can only touch when she albows me to touch her. The baby is very loved and she knows it, very aware, she has had very little separation anxiety and goes easily to strangers, she is very verbal and very content.

WHAT DO YOU ENJOY MOST ABOUT YOUR CHILDREN?

I enjoy their company. (EXPLAIN?) They are very interesting people to me, they are responsibe, their ways of looking at the world are very imaginative and they each provide me with a different set of lenses for seeing how people see theworld. One reason we read novels is to see other lives and I think here I have 3 very different children and each one opens the world for me in a different way.

WHAT DO YOU FIND HARDEST?

I think the hardest thing is the fragmentation, that when I am with them, I will see them together or if one or the other has a very strong need for my attention, I have to juggle at the same time giving each one the feeling that they are separate from each other and I am not classifying them and lumping them together, but being able to keep them separate when they all want me for different reasons on different levels at the same time, the fragmentation inside my head is $\alpha s = 1$.

WHAT DO YOU RELY ON MOST TO GET YOUR CHILDREN TO MIND YOU?

WEll, we certainly have rules, but they are rules that we have come to together as a family. I have very reasonable expectations of the children, they know what they are they know that the expectations are based not on arbitrariness on my part or my husband's, but on sensible precautions, precautions for their health or for their safety or for their emotional safety. When they were very small, I told them that I would smack them for 3 reasons only and I told them ahead of time it would be for standing up in he high chair, standing up in the bathtub or standing up in the moving car. And those were the only reasons I would smack them and let them know I would smack them, then we added a fourth when they were a little older about crosssing the street alone, but as soon as they were ready I said, I will no longer do it, smack them because this is not necessary anymore.

WHY DID YOU TELL THEM IT WASNT NECESSARY ANYMORE, WHAT DID YOU MEAN IT WAS NOT NECESSAI

I think rules are a guideline for a certain time in your life and there are times when you no longer need those rules and there are times to let go of the rules.

WHY, WHAT DOES THAT DO FOR THE CHILD, WHY DO YOU LET GO OF THE RULES?

Because rules are a means to an end and if the end has been achieved, then you let go of the rule, they are not necessary anymore.

HAT ABOUT NOW, WHEN YOUR CHILDREN DO THINGS THAT YOU REALLY DONT APPROVE OF, HOW DO YOU HANDLE IT NOW, NOT THINGS LIKE CROSSING STREETS,, BUT OTHER THINGS?

Well, they dont do very much that I dont approve of, because I have come, through watching R. particularly, to realize that there are differences in what I expect of them. There are things that I dont approve of because they are bad for their health or emotional security, but then there are things that I dont approve of that are a matter of taste, and a matter of the differentness of them and me and those things I would say look, I dont like the way you are dressing, I dont like this particular choice of a friend, but really that is not my business to interfere with, they know where I stand, but whether they will do anything about it, is up to them, it maybe an inconyenience to me, it may be much easier to say look, cut it out, but I dont think that that is the way to help them make choices later on in life. Things that infringe on my sense of athestics, such as the way that they eat at the table, or the tones of voice that they use, I will tell them for precisely that particular reason and no greater or lesser, I find it either _____ Offensive or ugly. I have also made it very clear to them that there are different levels of disapproval, there are somethings that are very important and some things that are a question of convenience, and some things that are very important may be moral values that I have, and I feel that those are in one category and my feelings about taste and aesthetics are another, and the are not equal, so that I will talk to them about what is going on. If they really don like it, I will simply stop it for the following reasons, say stop it for the following reasons, and they generally will. If I feel that they feel it is an infringement on their rights, they would argue back the point and then we would come to terms on it. There is very little that I would say this far and no further you may go.

-WHAT DO YOU MEAN, THEY WOULD ARGUE BACK THE POINT?

If they disagreed with me, they would say look, we would like to explain our point of view and sometimes they have a point of view which I had never taken into consideration and then I would also argue what I expect or say I have listened to you and it doesn't seem to affect me very much, I still want you to do such and such. Ifind it very important, when a child is beginning to say something, not to interrupt them, and I have learned that they will say to me, but listen mommy, even if I know what the are saying, it is important for them to get the words out.

WHY?

Because I think then they feel thatthey have control over their environment, if they have said to me, if they have set out their sentence, then I have heard what they wanted to say, from their point of view and they have been able to let me hear them. If I have cut them off in the beginning and said yes, I know you are going to say such and such, but it doesn't matter, I have found that that offends them very much.

WHY IS A CHILD"S FEELINGS OF BEING ABLE TO HAVE SOME CONTROL OVER HIS ENVIRONMENT, IMPORTANT?

Well, I think it is the essence of the whole sense of democracy that we have, and tha an individual has a right to direct his life and he has a right to think the thoughts that he wants to think and it - in a larger sense people will feel very frustrated and helpless in a democracy if they cannot control their environment and I think that ha to translate itself on the smaller, family level, that they are part of a family which means that they are not subordinate, they are equals of different degrees and they have a right to affect the tone of the family's style, and they have to - and I thin it gives them a feeling of control, that they can manage their lives for themselves, they may stumble and they may fall, but I think that it must do very important things to their ego too, to make them feel strong inside, which they can amanage, that they a not the helpless victims of circumstances.

That it is beyond their control, and if circumstances are beyond their control, that at least they can say, I can go this far, but I can go no further, and they can differentiate, it is not that the world is too much, for me.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL CHILDREN NEED MOST FROM THEIR PARENTS?

I will say love and you will say to me, what do you mean by love, and I will say I think it is an acceptance, unqualified for what that person is in time. I may not love my child at a particular stage, but the feeling that that childis loved regardless of anything else, just for what he is, or she is, is what I am here for, to give, and when I say I, I really mean we, we are talking one to one, M. and I give as best we can the feeling that that child is loved regardless, it has nothing to do with grades or cleanliness, I would like her to be clean and tidy, but it has nothing to do with love. I will be very angry, but it has nothing to do with love and the feeling that someplace in his world you are loved for what you are, by the people who know you best and the people who can see inside as much as anybody will ever see you inside, and nevertheless love you. I think that is something that will help the child begin to love itself.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN, BEGIN TO LOVE ITSELF?

Well, I think that people can be so harsh on themselves and so cruel to themselves, their expectations are often so unecasonably, and I hear it in terms of people's voacabulary, oh I'm dumb, oh, I'm stupid, I am just a pig at this, very derogatory words, which tear down instead of build up and I think one way to achieve a kind of serenity about the way you are and the way you see the world, even if life is difficult, is to give yourself every possible chance. The world has very rough spots, but if you an be gentle with your errors and with your failures and see them as part of a process, then I think you have a kind of stability and mental health that is a legacy from parents who will love you unqualified.

YOU TALK ABOUT PART OF A PROCESS, WHAT DO YOU MEAN BY THAT?

I think that people are always, in every stage, in the process of becoming something else, they are never finished and they are never there, tit would be very comfortable to feel that we are here and could just stay put for a little while, but we never are and we are always responding to new situations and new stresses and new happinesses and new successes and new worries and whatever we are up to to point, we bring to cope with the next and there is never a time in life when things are steady. You are either up or down. It reminds me somewhat of standing on a balance beam, you are always shifting the weight very slightly, you never are at rest and that is what I think I mean by becoming, you are always going someplace else, not frantically, but it's a kind of inner growth, the way I think a snake keeps shedding its skin time after time as it grows, it gets smaller and you get richer inside and more experience and then you go on becauseof what youare, youare not static and you grow.

WHAT DO YOU FEEL IS THE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

I think for me the goal is raising a child to be successful in the terms that the child sets for himself. If it is very impotant for a child to play Little League baseball, and the child has reasonable capacities for it and that is what the child wants, then the child has to know that it takes discipline and it takes work and it takes some skill and he can achieve it if he wants to. If a child's goal is to have lots of friends, then the child has to begin to understand why he needs lots of friends, is it really what it wants, or is it substituting for something else. I think it is kind of a inner eye that you are looking at yourself through. I am getting mixed up. But I do think that the childhas to develop a kind of happiness about himself and if I can give

nat child as much as I can - it isnt coming out right - ask the question again.

WHAT ISWTHE MOST IMPORTANT GOAL OF RAISING A CHILD?

Goal means end for me and I think that is why I am struggling with it.

YOU DONT HAVE TO MEAN IT AS END.

Againzal, the consciousness of process, giving the child the feeling that he can fulfill himself if he has a way of looking at his goals and his wants that are consistent with his abilities. I would like my child to later accept himself or herself at whateverstage he is in and to know what the next phase is too, so that he could reach a little bit. I think I would like my child to be stretched a little, so they know the feeling that comes from hard work at something. I dont think of goals as getting through college or riding a bike, but the child may see that as small goals along the way, to self fulfilment, I would like my children to be reasonably happy, because I think it is very necessary to ave happiness in order to accept yourself and to accept other people and to do it for the right reasons, to accept other people for the right reasons

WHAT ARE THE RIGHT REASONS

out

Well, I have found that there are many people who are terribly kind, but kind/of a weak ness, because they are afraid not to be kind. They are not kind or tolerant or liberal in a self-regarding way, they are doing it because they are afraid and I think that's what I would like my children not to be afraid of. I am not talking about the legitimate fears of driving too fast or ruining your body because of excessive smoking but I would like them -

THE QUESTION AS DOING THINGS FOR THE RIGHT REASONS?

Yes, if you are going to be accepting of someone else, then you do it not because you -are afraid not to be, if you believe in something it is because of a positive value rather than a negative one. That's what I mean by the right reasons.

WHAT DO YOU MEAN WHAT YOU MEAN BY THE RIGHT REASONS? WHAT IS THE BASIS FOR PEOPLE'S KINDNESS TO OTHER PEOPLE?

The basis is a respect for the humanness, for the suffering, for the quality that makes another person human. And that capacity is very difficult. It is a very difficult capacity to have, becauseone has to protect onesself too. If I can give my child the capacity tounderstand another human being, and to understand the vulnerability of another human being, I would do it for the other human being, rather than for - I hate to say the word neurotic - but it is a catch word for me - for the neurotic reasons of not - being kind for neurotic reasons, but being kind for human reasons. That's what I want.

WHAT SHOULD PARENTS BE ABLE TO EXPECT FROM THEIR CHILDREN DO YOU THINK?

Expect from their children? It depends on the stage at which the children are, obviously I am assuming that you are not asking about the physical development, but I think it has been important to have that whole body of knowledge of physical development, because the one can translate it into emotional development. . . I expect from my childrenthe realization that parents have rights and that they have rights and that the family has rights vis a vis the society and other people have rights vis a vis the family, and that translates into good manners, into thoughtfulness, into anticipating people's wants sometimes before they are asked, into understanding themselves. I expect at this stage a kind of realization that they dont have to be told what the right way is for this particular family, because they already know, according to their age, that there are things that we expect from them, to make the family living smoother, and to make the

aily and society smoother and to make them as individuals smoother within the family.

HOW HAVEYOU LEARNED TO BE A PARENT?

I have learned some from reading, a great deal from my husband, a great deal from internalizing and from writing out the kind of painful experiences that I have had growing up, trying to understand what is going on inside of me in terms of my own growth and from watching the children. It is as though I have become finished being a child. I have finished my own childhood by watching the children and reliving in my own way, the children's expereinces, as a result, I have become a child, a parent, and then I can become an adult, when I am finished the process and the cycle again, of the children. I have a feeling that the adult doesnt come until the children themselves reach adulthood.

EXPLAIN THAT A LITTLE MORE?

When the children become adults, then we are all adults in this family, with different ages, but the adultness is steady and I can only become an adult, I think as my childre become adults. Now you ant toknow why. Because I have lived my childhood up to the point of their adulthood. I have lived through their preschool years and I have sort of filled in the gaps of my own Achildhood by watching myself as a parent beginning to understand what my parents did for me, seeing what I did as a child, in relation to them and I have filled in little gaps, then I have done the same thing between 6 and 12 I hope to be able to do the same thing in adomsescence, which is much more difficult, because I remember that as being a very critical time for me. I have learned over the years. that R. is not me. Thatthe symptoms of the behavior may be the same, but they come from different backgrounds, because I am different fromwhat she is, and my parents and my mother from her environment, so while the pattern of behavior may be the same, the moodiness stems from a different post and it is neither as severe as mine was, or exactly like mine was, or as light as mine was, it is different. When you get through the whole process of going through a phase, then I have sort of settled my own childhood in myself through parenting.

YOU HAVE BEEN ABLE TO PERCEIVE YOUR CHILDHOOD IN A NEW WAY?

Yes, from a parent's point of view, and I have understood my parents in a way, and my childhood and it has somehow all become fused together and it is only then that I can get on with being an adult, which is funny, it is interesting I have thought that as soon as a baby is born, you suddenly take on the role of parent, as though we are suddenly parents, we know everything, and we dont, we are still children and we have children and then we have to live through again, a childhood and that is what I find very fulfilling because it has enabled me to settle unfinshed business, it will be interesting to watch what happens when they get to be adults. I think I will be much lighter and much freer because I will have taken care of so many years of great puzzlement to me and I think that one of the essences of childhood is that the world is so big and so crushing and I remember when I got to be in my early 20's that suddenlever thing came together, the houses were not so big and my feet reached the floor, nothing was bigger than I was really. I had come up to size and I have a feeling that that will float as my kids grow older and things will shift into gear and I will see more clearly.

WHAT DO YOU THINK IS THE MOST IMPORTANT INFLUENCE ONTHE WAY THAT CHILDREN TURN OUT AS ADULTS?

I dont know, I would tend to say family, because that has been the way that I have done it, they bring a great deal to themselves and I dont think that we really know how much they get from the outside world, their fears or their problems or their reactions to teachers or friends and how much living goes on because it is the learning that they first of all, cannot express and we cannot see because we are not there.

And I remember thatthere was a child once that R. played withand I really did not like I wished that she wouldnt be friends with her and I didnt do very much about it except to keep it as separate as I felt wise without separating them and this was a child who was very arrogant and very rude to her parents and R. was somewhat shy and withdrawn and very good and the goodness troubled me at that time, she was too good I thought. But this child was very rude and that bothered me too and one day R. said to me, I have learned so much from her, I have learned that when you talk back to your parents the world does not collapse, it is not a that I would have expected and I was so greatful for that other child and for my child to be able to take what she needed, she didnt need to take what I thought she was taking, she took what she needed and I realize thatthe friendships that children have fill their needs, they may not be what I think their needs are, but what their needs are and if I leave them alone, enough they will work out alright.

HOW DOES SOMEONE KNOW IF THEY ARE A GOOD PARENT?

I dont think that you ever know if you are a good parent. I think the needle test is a m I enjoying what I am doing, if I am enjoying it, then I am assuing that the results will be satisfactory to me, if I am not enjoying it, parenting, then I dont enjoy the job. But I dont know what a good parent is I suppose, is what I am really saying, because one doesnt know at any point whether this will be forever, so say you value honesty and your child is honest, you say ahaha, I am a good parent beca my child is honest, I dont thinkthat youcan do that. First of all, it takes on enormous responsibility to yourself and what if you are a good parent and your child turns out to be not honest, you annot really live through the children, you can do just the best that you can in transmitting what your values are, but then some of it is up to the child, it is his ballgame too and if he carries what you have given, fine, and if he doesnt, it doesnt make you less of a parent, you have done your parenting but maybe the child's capacity is not to be a good human being and there is very little that you an do about it. But I do think that you must enjoy what you are doing and that must communicate itself to the child, not at every minute, but that fundamentally this makes you happy.

WHAT IS THAT IMPORTANT TO COMMUNICATE TO THE CHILD? WHY IS IT IMPORTANT FOR THE CHILD TO KNOW THATYOU FIND BEING HIS PARENT IS PLEASURABLE.

I would think that it would make them feel very good about themselves, it is another way of feeling a self regard and a self worth that people like your company and like being with you, and like what they have undertaken to do and I think it is more fun to be with someone who likes you and whom you like in return, i dont think it is a one way street, I dont think thatyou can like your child very much unless it is reciprocal, it is like going on a date, it is not that one person has a good time, either both have a lousy time or both have a good time. I think it is another feeling that I have too, if I am sad I expect to tell them or to have them communicate it, and if I am enjoying them, I expect to communicate that, too, it is another process of honesty that goes on.

IT FLOWS?

Yes, and you cannot really control it because children perceive things that you are not aware that you are sending, they receive messages that you are not aware of sending about - of having sent and so it really isnt something that filters through the mind, it has to be and thechldren will get the message and if you say you are enjoying them and you are not, they will get that message too and then they will begin to distrust perhaps their instincts about what they are capable of receiving and I think it is very important for children to believe in themselves and if they are perceiving one thand their parents tell them something else, then they begin to distrust themselves.

At first. Later they may distrust their parents, but much - while their parents are much of the space in their life, they would tend to distrust themselves and I think that is harmful to keir own ego development, but if the parent is saying yes, I am angry and the child perceives that the parent is angrym and the child perceives that the parent is angry, then there is a harmony between what the child sees and what the child heart , but if the parent says I am having a wonderful time with you, the child knows. There are preverbal levels of communication and beyond verbalness and you must be very honest with yourself before you can start being honest with other people, especially children, because I think they are more in tuned with the instinct. Than adults are, I think adults have too manywords. If I take the children to the zoo I go generally because I want to go, not because I am doing them any big favors. There are times I will say I dont want to go but I am going because I am doing you a favor and that's alright, too, they are getting an accurate message.

WHY IS THAT ACCURATE MESSAGE SO IMPORTANT?

Well, I think that honesty is the most important thing that you can have inside of yourself and what I am trying to do is train the children to look inside themselves to be honest with themselves even when it hurts very badly, even when they have to face things that they dont like, or they wished that they didnt know, but if you can face something and give it a name, in whatever terms you choose to name it, then you can cope with it, then you know what it is, it is not a bogey man, beyond, you may not know the limits or the boundaries, but you can say yes, it's this and that is why going back even to the Bible, it is very significant that God named the animals, that he gave them a name, not a monster or a four legged this, the myth is that he named them, because of the importance of being able to face things, face it with a kind of security that it would more or less be the same the next time you come across it. That's why, IT IS important to be accurate and honest.

DILEMMA - JIMMY FOX

WHAT SHOULD MR. FOX DO?

Do about what?

JIMMY, THE DIARY?

First of all, one thing at a time, he should not look in the diary, because he has no permission to look in the diary. Secondly, I think that he should go off alone with Jimmy, withor without his wife, I dont know, and talk with him about that happened. And talk with him about the facts. I think he should probably ask him directly, did you do this. It is perfectly possible that J. was so intimidated by the police and so threatened by the way they handled the situation, that his first instinct was to lie and one lies when one is uncomfortable and scared. If he had a good relationship with his father, he might be able to talk about it. If Mr. Fox was very threatened by the lecture and threatened by his parenting, then he might approach J. in a different way than if he had a good relationship with J. Whether J. stole or didnt steal is not the central issue, it is how do you deal with the threat and can you cope with it or cant it and then you get on to why you stole, if he did steal, but first of all, can a parent and a child communicate, can the child go tothe parent, can the parent go to the child and will anything real come out of it, or is it just another standoff.

WHY DO YOU FEEL MATTHE PRIVACY OF THE DIARY IS IMPORTANT?

Because there are parts of each human being that they choose not to share with another human being and it is as true of a baby as it is true of an old person and even though a parent in a family may think that it is unimportant, he has no right

to tresspass on feelings, on emotions, on secret drawers, on experiences that the child does not choose to tell. If the child says I dont want to talk about it, then the parent has to listen to that, then they can come at it another way if it is very important, but they cannot trespass beyond what the child is willing to let go of. Everybody is very much alone inside and has to preserves his own territory first and then you can you can begin to the difference between sharing because you have boundaries that are yours. It is also the difference between sharing because you have to and sharing because you choose to, it makes a difference between resenting what you do and resenting what you did and giving it generously and if you are allowed space around yourself, then I think you are freer to give space to other people and you dont have to clutter all over their lives. And youcan give to people if you have privacy and privacy is a way of giving to yourself.

SUPPOSE MR. F. READ THE DIARY, SHOULD HE TELL J. HE READ THE DIARY?

He might very well say look what I found in your diary, I dont think he read it, but assuming he did, he should. (WHY?) Because I would assume that the assumption between them, the unwritten contract between the two is that the diary has not been read, that is why J. is leaving it in an unlocked drawer, he knows that it is not going to be read His father has broken the contract between them, I think it is his responsibility then to let the child know that he has unilaterally done something wrong, it is not a position for a parent to be envied in.

BUT IF HE DID NOT TELL J. THEN J. WOULD NOT KNOW HE HAD UNILATERIALLY DONE SOMETHING WRONG.

It would come out eventually, if not in the matter of the diary, then it would come out that J. in some way or other could no longer trust his father, because once the father does that, he will trespass in other areas. You dont just do it once and then never do it again, but it becomes an attitude of your relationship to the other person. J. may never know whether the diary has been read, but the father will again later on do something else.

WHY IS TRUST SO IMPORTANT?

I remember when I had talked with the kids, sometimes we have talked about whether they would choose to tell me whether they have done something wrong or not and they said well, you may find out, and it is very likely that I wouldnt find out, but eventually something happens between the two people, so that if I eventually find thatthey have been doing something wrong, I assume that it is not the first time, or thatthere has been some kind of history of, there has been something going on before that, things are not isolated in themselves, they are mosaics, events are mosaics.

I THINK WHAT YOUARE GETTING AT IS YOU LOSE TRUST AND THAT UNTRUSTING THING BECOME A POSSIBILITY IN A RELATIONSHIP AND THAT IS HARMFUL TO THE RELATIONSHIP AND I AM EXTENDING WHAT YOU ARE SAYING AND ASKING WHY THAT TRUST IS SO IMPORTANT?

I never thought about it, but it seems to me that you have to be able to depend on people in a society, whether it is the small society of the family, or the larger society. And if people say that they will do something, then you have to go to on the assumption that they will do it, and then you can get on with other business. You can be creative if the baseline is taken care of and if people are constantly unor nondependable in your life you cant count on them for things and you have to go back and keep checking and then you cant get on with other forms of the relationship. I never thought about it. It is so elemental, it is saying why do you breathe, you have to trust, you just ave to and you have to be able to count on certain people, sometimes they let you down and you have to understand that in a larger context, perhaps it was

cause they were fragile that particular day, but fundamentally the line has to be teady. It is almost like a rope, somtimes a strang can break, but the rope has to be strong. It doesn't matter if a strand breaks, or if it is one time that a child does not trust you, if fundamentally they do trust you.

YOU MENTIONED THAT SOMETIMES YOU DO THINGS WRONG AND THE PART OF THE RELATIONSHIP YOU BREACH CAN WITHSTAND THAT.

I would think if the ground is firm, then the ground can tolerate little and deviations from it, but there has to be some very good soil and this soil has to be laid from the very beginning, when this child is extremely young, born, and then it wont matter if there is a small deviation along the way that is not very great, and of course one doesnt know which will be the great and which wont be the great. You have to assume that your child will be generous to you, too, if you stumble and fall, it is not just a case of parents being generous in forgiving the child and you can do that if you have put together a trustworthy foundation.

SUPPOSE HE DIDNT READ DIARY... CONTINUE.... YES DAD, I DID.....WHY DID J. TELL HIS FATHER HE DID IT, WOULDNT IT HAVE BEEN EASIER TO CONTINUE TO LIE?

Sure it would have been easier in the short run to lie, but J. then probably would have then had to deal with an uncomfortable conscience, and he is uncomfortable anyway, I think lying is an easy way out but it is not a safe way, it just makes the bookkeeping so much harder in spite of you because you cant remember what it is you have done and what it is that you havent and whom you have told what to, so that it makes you freer to tell the truth because then you know where you stand with yourself and I think it is just something for J's relationship with his father that on a one to one basis, even though J. is uncomfortable, he could trust his father enough to know thathe may have to pay the price of having stolen, but he can still count on his father, to liste Unless he did it in great terror, I dont know, sometimes the chiddcan be so afraid of the father that he would say yes, but I would tend to think not, I would tend to think that in that case, he would have just lied.

WHICH IS MORE IMPORTANT, THAT J. DID THE STEALING OR THAT HE TOLD THE TRUTH LATER?

That he told the truth about it. I think that all through our lives we falland we stumble and we deviate from our pattern of expectations, how we deal with that is what is important, not the fact that we do it.

POLICE OFFICER SAID MR. F. WAS TO BLAME. . . . HOW DO YOU FEEL?

He may have been, I dont know. The responsibility is ultimately J's, but maybe the father in some way contributed to it and it depends on the family circumstance and the relationship.

KIDS J. RUNS WITH ARE TOUGHT... MR. F. INTERFERE, DOES J. HAVE RIGHT TO CHOOSE OWN FRIENDS?

I think J.has a right to choose his own friends and the father has a right to protect his son's interests as he sees them, but the question is the balance between them. He might discourage them, he might let J. know that he disapproves but nevertheless let J. go around with them, and I think it is very important for children to know wher their parents stand, even as a kind of wall, even if they choose to ram aginast the wall, it is something definite and they know a limit or they know where the firmness is and their rebellion takes a specific form, it is not just amorphous, so they are rebelling against the father's choice of a friend, okay, but at least the father cares enough to say, this is how I feel.

JILEAMMA- WORKING MOTHER

WHAT DO YOU THINK A GOOD MOTHER WOULD DO?

There isnt an easy answer. First of all, I would discount the argument that Susan makes about all the other children come home to a mother, I wouldnt discount it, but I would minimize it, that doesn't hold much water here about what all the other parents are doing. I dont use it and I dont want it to be used. I wouldn't do that, Obviously S. is unhappy and I would assume that her school day ends at 2, so dont tell me that the mother cant adjust her schedule. I think that S. needs to hear why the mother needs to work, just to see it, not in terms of a rejection, because what seems to be going on is S. is saying, I want only you there. Now why does she want only the mother, she has the mother the other two days and she's got the mother the weekend, why is it that so important that at that particular time the mother has to be there between 2 and 5 on those 3 days a week. IS it that S. is asking for a proof that the mother will give up everything for S. Even the job, she only has the mother and S. goes off to play with her friends I imagine for at least 3 hours at a time, so that it isnt really that the mother wants the child there every day when she comes home from school, but she is asking for something else. How the something else gets resolved depends again on how much themother understands of her own feelings and her own needs for working, how guilty she is feeling. IF it were me, I would not give up working. But I would try to understand what it was, I might have S. come to my office between 2 and 5 if that were possible. I Might arrange to spend specifically on the other two days, full time with S. and do no housework and no errands, but it is very rare that any mother of any 10 year old is spending 3 unqualified hours with her children at any one time playing or doing what the child wants to do. It is really a question of touching base and the child goes off and the child knows where the mother ought to be, or the child thinks the mother ought to be. The child doesnt have the only right to determine where the mother ought to be. The mother has to decide her own life. It needs to be very clear as to be message she is getting across and she must see very clearly what S's needs are.

WHAT DOYOU THINK S. MIGHT BE ASKING?

For proof of love, she might be saying tell me I am more important than your job, she might be saying let me feel that I can control you, she might be saying I love you more than you love me and I want to be loved as much, she might be saying on a scale, she might be saying, from you working 3 days does it suddenly mean you are going to be working 5 days next year, just a little and then more later. She might be saying I want to control my environment. If they dont need the money, that I think is more threatening to a child than if they do, becausethen the child can see that the money goes for tangible reasons, tangible purchases, then it is manageable, they like to be concrete about things. Mother is working to satisfy some inner needs of hers, it is much more difficult for the child to understand.

SO YOU FEEL THAT THE MOTHER SHOULD TALK TO HER?

Yes, and it is obviously not anything that can be settled with one talk, it has to be a continuum. I think she should go on with the job until the resolution has been reached, whatever the resolution is. I don't think that she should give it up in the meantime.

THE PROCESS AND THE TALKS, WHAT WOULD YOU HOPE TO ACCOMPLISH BY THE TALKS?

Communication, I would want my child to understand more of why it was important for me to work. I think before you go to work you say to your family, I need to work, then when you actually get thejob and it makes specific demands on you and you change

because of it, then you have to again discuss with them what is going on, because they see one thing and you from your vantage see another and you must tell them what it is that you see.

DILEMMA- NEW BABY

WHAT DO YOU THINK SAM'S MOTHER SHOULD DO?

Well, she's obviously got some talking to do and she's got some hugging to do. Loving, physical loving, I think it is very important, but especially for thelittle ones, to have a lot of physical contact with the mother and the father, with the parents. And she has to discuss the ambivalent feelings thatthe child is having. And that they are perfectly reasonable feelings and the thing that I stress over and over again is that any feeling is legitimate, not any actions, the the more horrible is necessary, the more legitimate, because it is more scarry and yet it is part of what makes you a human being, they arenot all that bad, unless they are translated into actions where they can hurt either you or someone else, but you have to make a differentiation between what you think and what you do.

HOW WOULD YOU EXPLAIN SAM KISSING BABY ONE MINUTE AND HITTING THE NEXT?

I think they are both valid and I dont think that one is a pretense, I think at times he feels love and at times he feels anger and he cannot feel just one emotion to any human being and because he is obviously only 3 years old, he cant talk about it, he wou have to express it directly, so he is expressing what a 7 year old might express in words.

CONTINUE STORY.... COULD SAM BE TELLING THE TRUTH?

Yes. You can love and you can want to hurt and you can not be aware that you want to hurt because it is so frightening a thought, that you had that kind of anger. It means that S. has not accepted it yet, that his mother will help him understand that it is a legitimate feeling, it is not a legitimate action, where his kissing is a legitimate action, but that's the mother's the parent's role, I'll care.

WHAT SHOULD SAME'S MOTHER BE ABLE TO EXPECT OF SAM DO YOU THINK?

Some self control, not great self control, but some self control and some aware ness of what is going on, but only after he helped him. If he can deal with his anger with words or with substitute actions, she can help him do that and depending on how mature he is, then she has a right to expect certain kinds of behavior from him afterwards.

WHAT CAN SAM EXPECT OF HIS MOTHER?

Being there, supporting him even when he is angry and not saying you should love your baby brother, and tellinghim how he should feel, but helping him understand what it is in fact, that he does feel, whenever you feel you should feel something, then you have to be suspicious and check it out. But if you an say this is how I do feel, then you can go from there. Legislate - you cannot legislate how you feel.

PARENTAL AWARENESS SCORING SHEET

Subject Mumber:

SES:

Race:

No. of Children: Age of Oldest Child:

<u>Issue</u>		Individual Issue Concept Scores	Issue Score
I.	Influences	4,4,4	4
II.	Subjectivity	4,4, 3?(4), 3,4	4(3)
III.	Personality	4,4,4,4,4,4,3?(4),4	4
IV.	Communication and Trust	4,4,4,4,4?(3),4,4	4
٧.	Resolving Conflict	4,4	
VI.	Discipline and Authority	4,4,4,4	4
VII.	Meeting Needs	4,4	4.
VIII.	Parental Role	4,4,4,4	<u>4</u>
	•		
	•	1	
Summar	y data		

Global Score

Range

Highest Reliable Score

Average Issue Score

3,96

References

- Ahammer, I. M. Social-learning theory as a framework for the study of adult personality development. In P. B. Baltes & K. W. Schaie (Eds.), Life-span developmental psychology. New York: Academic Press, 1973.
- Baldwin, A. L. Changes in parent behavior during pregnancy. <u>Child</u>
 Development, 1947, 18, 29-39.
- Baldwin, A. L. Differences in parent behavior toward three and nine year old children. Journal of Personality, 1946, 15, 143-165.
- Baldwin, A. L., Kalhorn, J., & Breese, F. Patterns of parent behavior.

 Psychological Monographs, 1945, 58(3), 1-75.
- Baumrind, D. Effects of authoritative parental control on child behavior. Child Development, 1966, 37, 887-907.
- Becker, W. C., & Krug, R. S. The parent attitude research instrument--A research review. Child Development, 1965, 36, 329-365.
- Beckwith, L. Relationships between infants' social behaviour and their mothers' behaviour. Child Development, 1972, 43, 397-411.
- Bell, R. Q. Retrospective attitude studies of parent-child relations.

 Child Development, 1958, 29(3), 323-338.
- Benedek, T. Parenthood during the life cycle. In E. Anthony & T. Benedek (Eds.), Parenthood: Its psychology and psychopathology. Boston:

 Little, Brown & Co., 1970.
- Bigelow, B. J. Children's friendship expectations: A cognitive-developmental study. Child Development, 1977, 48, 246-253.
- Blank, M. The mother's role in infant development: A review. <u>Journal</u> of the American Academy of Child Psychiatry, 1963, 3, 89-105.

- Brim, O. G., Jr. The parent-child relation as a social system: 1. parent and child roles. Child Development, 1957, 28, 343-364.
- Champney, H. The measurement of parent behavior. Child Development, 1941, 12(2), 131-167.
- Damon, W. Some thoughts on the nature of children's social development.

 In J. Meyer (Ed.), <u>Reflections on values education</u>. Waterloo, Canada:

 Laurier Press, 1976.
- Duvall, E. M. Conceptions of parenthood. <u>American Journal of Sociology</u>, 1946, 52, 193-203.
- Emmerich, W. The parental role: A functional-cognitive approach.

 Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 1969,

 34(8, Serial No. 132).
- Erikson, E. H. Childhood and society. New York: Norton, 1963.
 - Feffer, M. A developmental analysis of interpersonal behavior.

 Psychological Review, 1970, 77(3), 197-214.
 - Flavell, J. The development of role-taking and communication skills in children. New York: John Wiley, 1968.
 - Freud, A. Normality and pathology in childhood; assessments of development.

 New York: International Universities Press, 1965.
 - Freund, J. E. <u>Modern elementary statistics</u> (3rd ed.). New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, 1967.
 - Furth, H. G. Young children's understanding of society. In H. McGurk (Ed.), Social development. Amsterdam: N. Holland Publishing Co., 1977.
 - Gleuck, S., & Gleuck, E. T. One thousand juvenile delinquents.

 Cambridge, MA.: Harvard University Press, 1934.

- Havighurst, R. J. History of developmental psychology: Socialization and personality development through the life span. In P. B. Baltes & K. W. Schaie (Eds.), <u>Life-span developmental psychology</u>. New York: Academic Press, 1973.
- Healy, W. The individual delinquent: A text-book of diagnosis and prognosis for all concerned in understanding offenders. Boston: Little Brown & Co., 1915.
- Healy, W., & Bronner, A. <u>New light on delinquency and its treatment</u>. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1936.
- Hollingshead, A. <u>2-factor index of social position</u>. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1965.
- Jaquette, D. Developmental stages in peer group organization: A cognitive-developmental analysis of peer group concepts in childhood and adolescence. Unpublished qualifying paper submitted to the Harvard Graduate School of Education, 1976.
- Kohlberg, L. Relationships between the development of moral judgment and moral conduct. Paper presented at the Meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development. Minneapolis, Minnesota, March 26, 1965.
- Kohlberg, L. Stage and sequence: A cognitive-developmental approach to socialization. In D. A. Goslin (Ed.), <u>Handbook of socialization theory and research</u>. New York: Rand McNally, 1969.
- Kohlberg, L. Continuities in childhood and adult moral development revisited.

 In P. B. Baltes & K. W. Schaie (Eds.), <u>Life-span developmental psychology</u>.

 New York: Academic Press, 1973.

- Kohlberg, L., Scharf, P., & Hickey, J. The justice structure of the prison--a theory and an intervention. <u>The Prison Journal</u>, 1971, L1(2).
- Lasko, J. K. Parent behavior toward first and second children. <u>Genetic</u>

 <u>Psychology Monographs</u>, 1954, 49(1), 97-137.
- LeMasters, E. E. Parenthood as crisis. <u>Marriage and Family Living</u>, 1957, 19, 352-355.
- Leton, D. A. A study of the validity of parent attitude measurement.

 Child Development, 1958, 29(4), 517-520.
- Lidz, Theodore. The person: His or her development through the life cycle. New York: Basic Books, Inc., 1976.
- Loevinger, J. Measuring personality patterns of women, <u>Genetic</u>

 <u>Psychology Monographs</u>, 1962, 65, 53-136.
- Loevinger, J. The meaning and measurement of ego development. <u>American</u>

 Psychologist, 1966, 21, 195-206.
- Loevinger, J. <u>Ego development: Conceptions and theories</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1976.
- Lytton, H. Observation studies of parent-child interaction: A methodological review. Child Development, 1971, 42(3), 651-684.
- Martin, B. Parent-child relations. In F. D. Horowitz (Ed.), <u>Review of child development research</u> (Vol. 4). Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1975.
- McCord, W., McCord, J., & Howard, A. Familial correlates of aggression in male children. <u>Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology</u>, 1961, 62, 79-93.

- Mead, G. H. Mind, self and society. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1934.
- Medinnus, G. R. Research implications of several parent-child concepts.

 <u>Marriage and Family Living</u>, 1959, 21(4), 329-333.
- Milgram, S. Behavioral study of obedience. <u>Journal of Abnormal Social</u>
 <u>Psychology</u>, 1963, 67(4), 371-378.
- Milton, G. A. A factor analytic study of child-rearing behaviors. <u>Child</u>
 Development, 1958, 29(3), 381-392.
- Mischel, T. Piaget: Cognitive conflict and the motivation of thought.

 In T. Mischel (Ed.), <u>Cognitive development and epistemology</u>. New York:

 Academic Press, 1971, 323-326.
- Newberger, E. H., Reed, R. B., Daniel, J. H., Hyde, J. N., & Kotelchuck,
 M. Pediatric social illness: Toward an etiologic classification.

 Pediatrics, 1977, in press.
- Nowlis, V. The search for significant concepts in a study of parent-child relationships. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 1952, 22, 286-299.
- Nye, I. Adolescent-parent adjustment: Age, sex, sibling number, broken homes and employed mothers as variables. <u>Marriage and Family Living</u>, 1952, 14, 327-332.
- Piaget, J. The moral judgement of the child. New York: Harcourt Brace, 1950 (originally published, 1932).
- Piaget, J. The origins of intelligence in children. New York: W. W. Norton & Co., Inc., 1963 (first published, 1952).
- Piaget, J. <u>Structuralism</u>. New York: Harper Torchbooks, Harper & Row, 1970.

- Rheingold, H. L. The measurement of material care. Child Development, 1960, 31, 565-575.
- Roe, A., & Siegelman, M. A parent-child relations questionnaire. <u>Child</u>
 <u>Development</u>, 1963, 34, 355-369.
- Rolf, M. A factorial study of the Fels parent behavior scales. <u>Child</u>
 <u>Development</u>, 1949, 20, 29-45.
- Rossi, A. Transition to parenthood. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 1968, 30, 26-39.
- Saunders, E. B. Children's conceptions of parents and the parent-child relationship. Unpublished qualifying paper submitted to the Harvard Graduate School of Education, 1976.
- Schaefer, E. S., & Bell, R. Q. Development of a parental attitude research instrument. Child Development, 1958, 29(3), 339-361.
- Scott, P. M., Burton, R. V., & Yarrow, M. R. Social reinforcement under natural conditions. Child Development, 1967, 38(1), 53-63.
- Sears, R. R., Maccoby, E. E., & Levin, H. <u>Patterns of child rearing</u>.

 New York: Row, Peterson & Co., 1957.
- Selman, R. L. The relation of role-taking ability to the development of moral judgment in children. <u>Child Development</u>, 1971a, 42, 79-91.
- Selman, R. L. Taking another's perspective: Role-taking development in early childhood. <u>Child Development</u>, 1971b, 42, 1721-1734.
- Selman, R. Social-cognitive understanding: A guide to educational and clinical practice. In T. Lickona (Ed.), Moral development and behavior.

 New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1976.

- Selman, R. L., Byrne, D., & Kohlberg, L. <u>Relationships and values.</u> New York: Guidance Associates, Division of Harcourt, Brace, Jovanovich, Inc., 1976.
- Selman, R., & Jaquette, D. The development of interpersonal awareness:

 A working draft manual. Unpublished scoring manual. Harvard-Judge
 Baker Social Reasoning Project, 1977a.
- Selman, R., & Jaquette, D. Stability and oscillation in interpersonal awareness: A clinical-developmental analysis. In C. B. Keasey (Ed.), Nebraska Symposium on Motivation (Vol. XXV), in press, 1977b.
- Selman, R. L., Jaquette, D., & Lavin, D. R. Interpersonal awareness in children: Toward an integration of developmental and clinical child psychology. <u>American Journal of Orthopsychiatry</u>, 1977, 47(2), 264-274.
- Selman, R. L., Newberger, C. M., & Jaquette, D. Observing interpersonal reasoning in a clinic/educational setting: Toward the integration of developmental and clinical-child psychology, II. Paper presented at the Biennial Convention of the Society for Research in Child Development, New Orleans, Louisiana, April, 1977.
- Shoben, J. E., Jr. The assessment of parental attitudes in relation to child adjustment. <u>Genetic Psychology Monographs</u>, 1949, <u>39</u>, 101-148.
- Shure, M. B., & Spivack, G. Interpersonal problem solving intervention for mother and child. Paper presented at the Biennial Convention of the Society for Research in Child Development, New Orleans, Louisiana, April, 1977.
- Siegel, S. <u>Nonparametric methods for the behaviorial sciences</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1956.

- Spivack, G., & Shure, M. B. <u>Social adjustment of young children</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1974.
- Stendler, C. B. Sixty years of child training practices. <u>Journal of Pediatrics</u>, 1950, <u>36</u>, 122-136.
- Symonds, P. M. <u>The psychology of parent-child relationships</u>. New York Appleton-Century-Crofts, Inc., 1939.
- Turiel, E. An experimental test of the sequentiality of developmental stages in the child's moral judgments. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, 1966, <u>3</u>, 611-618.
- Turiel, E., & Rothman, G. The influence of reasoning on behavioral choices at different stages of moral development. Unpublished manuscript, 1974.
- Winer, B. J. <u>Statistical principles in experimental design</u> (2nd Ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill, 1971, 44-48.
- Yarrow, M. R., Campbell, J. D., & Burton, R. V. <u>Child rearing; an inquiry into research and methods</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1968.